
 

 

1 

PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 

 

Date: Wednesday, 30 October 2024   
Time 10.30 am  
Place: Council Chamber, Woodhatch Place, 11 Cockshot Hill, Reigate, Surrey, 

RH2 8EF 
 

 

Contact: Joss Butler,   
   
Email: 
Phone: 

joss.butler@surreycc.gov.uk 
07929745197 
 

 

[For queries on the content of the agenda and requests for copies of related documents] 
 

 

 
APPOINTED MEMBERS [11] 

Ernest Mallett MBE West Molesey; 
Jeffrey Gray Caterham Valley; 
Victor Lewanski Reigate; 
Scott Lewis Woodham and New Haw; 
Catherine Powell Farnham North; 
Jeremy Webster Caterham Hill; 
Edward Hawkins (Chairman) Heatherside and Parkside; 
John Robini Haslemere; 
Richard Tear (Vice-Chairman) Bagshot, Windlesham and Chobham; 
Jonathan Hulley Foxhills, Thorpe & Virginia Water; 
Chris Farr Godstone; 

 
EX OFFICIO MEMBERS (NON-VOTING)  [4] 

Saj Hussain Chair of the Council Knaphill and Goldsworth West; 
Tim Oliver Leader of the Council Weybridge; 
Tim Hall Vice-Chair of the Council  Leatherhead and Fetcham East; 
Denise Turner-
Stewart 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Customer and 
Communities 

Staines South and Ashford West; 

 
APPOINTED SUBSTITUTES [09] 

Stephen Cooksey Dorking South and the Holmwoods; 
Nick Darby The Dittons; 
Amanda Boote The Byfleets; 
David Harmer Waverley Western Villages; 
Trefor Hogg Camberley East; 
Riasat Khan Woking North; 
Mark Sugden Hinchley Wood, Claygate and Oxshott; 
Buddhi Weerasinghe Lower Sunbury and Halliford; 
Fiona White Guildford West; 
Keith Witham Worplesdon; 
Luke Bennett Banstead, Woodmansterne & Chipstead; 
Harry Boparai Sunbury Common & Ashford Common; 

 
 

 
Register of planning applications: http://planning.surreycc.gov.uk/ 



 

 
2 



 

 
3 

AGENDA 
 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 
 
To receive any apologies for absence and notices of substitutions 
under Standing Order 41. 
 

 

2  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 
 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2024.  
 

(Pages 1 - 6) 

3  PETITIONS 
 
To receive any petitions from members of the public in accordance 
with Standing Order 84 (please see note 5 below). 
 

 

4  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 
To answer any questions received from local government electors 
within Surrey in accordance with Standing Order 85 (please see 
note 6 below). 
 

 

5  MEMBERS' QUESTION TIME 
 
To answer any questions received from Members of the Council in 
accordance with Standing Order 68. 
 

 

6  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 
 
All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the 
meeting or as soon as possible thereafter  

(i) Any disclosable pecuniary interests and / or  
(ii) Other interests arising under the Code of Conduct in 

respect of any item(s) of business being considered at 
this meeting 

NOTES: 

• Members are reminded that they must not participate in any 
item where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest 

• As well as an interest of the Member, this includes any 
interest, of which the Member is aware, that relates to the 
Member’s spouse or civil partner (or any person with whom 
the Member is living as a spouse or civil partner) 

• Members with a significant personal interest may participate 
in the discussion and vote on that matter unless that 
interest could be reasonably regarded as prejudicial. 

 

 

7  SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL PROPOSAL GU24/CON/00010 - 
LAND AT ST PAUL'S C OF E INFANT SCHOOL, THE 
CARDINALS, TONGHAM, SURREY GU10 1EF 
 
Construction and use of double-height extension to rear of school 
hall, enlarged car park and two new multi-use games areas; and 
reinstatement of grass playing field. 
 
 
 

(Pages 7 - 56) 



 

 
4 

8  SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL PROPOSAL RE24/00028/CON - 
SITE OF FORMER COLEBROOK AND SPECTRUM NOKE DAY 
CENTRES, NOKE DRIVE, REDHILL, SURREY RH1 1PT 
 
Outline application for the erection of part 1, 4, 5 and 6 storey 
building for extra care accommodation, comprising self-contained 
apartments, staff and communal facilities, and associated parking 
with access from St Annes Drive and Noke Drive.  Appearance and 
landscaping reserved. 
 

(Pages 57 - 
132) 

9  DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The next meeting of the Planning & Regulatory Committee will be 
on 27 November 2024.  
 

 

 
 

Terence Herbert 
Chief Executive 
22 October 2024  

 
 
 

MOBILE TECHNOLOGY AND FILMING – ACCEPTABLE USE 

 
Those attending for the purpose of reporting on the meeting may use social media or mobile 
devices in silent mode to send electronic messages about the progress of the public parts of 
the meeting.  To support this, County Hall has wifi available for visitors – please ask at 
reception for details. 
 
Anyone is permitted to film, record or take photographs at council meetings.  Please liaise with 
the council officer listed in the agenda prior to the start of the meeting so that those attending 
the meeting can be made aware of any filming taking place.   
 
Use of mobile devices, including for the purpose of recording or filming a meeting, is subject to 
no interruptions, distractions or interference being caused to the PA or Induction Loop systems, 
or any general disturbance to proceedings. The Chairman may ask for mobile devices to be 
switched off in these circumstances. 
 
It is requested that if you are not using your mobile device for any of the activities outlined 
above, it be switched off or placed in silent mode during the meeting to prevent interruptions 
and interference with PA and Induction Loop systems. 
 

Thank you for your co-operation 

 

Note:  This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council's internet 
site - at the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
filmed.  The images and sound recording may be used for training purposes within the Council. 
 
Generally the public seating areas are not filmed.  However by entering the meeting room and 
using the public seating area, you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of 
those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.   
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the representative of Legal and 
Democratic Services at the meeting 

 



 

 
5 

 

NOTES: 
 
1. Members are requested to let the Democratic Services Officer have the wording of any 

motions and amendments not later than one hour before the start of the meeting. 

2. Substitutions must be notified to the Democratic Services Officer by the absent Member 
or group representative at least half an hour in advance of the meeting. 

3. Planning officers will introduce their report and be able to provide information or advice to 
Members during the meeting. They can also be contacted before the meeting if you 
require information or advice on any matter. Members are strongly encouraged to 
contact the relevant case officer in advance of the meeting if you are looking to amend or 
add conditions or are likely to be proposing a reason for refusal. It is helpful if officers are 
aware of these matters in advance so that they can better advise Members both before 
and during the meeting. 

4. Members of the public can speak at the Committee meeting on any planning application 
that is being reported to the Committee for decision, provided they have made written 
representations on the application at least 14 days in advance of the meeting, and 
provided they have registered their wish to do so with the Democratic Services Officer no 
later than midday on the working day before the meeting.  The number of public 
speakers is restricted to three objectors and three supporters in respect of each 
application. 

5. Petitions from members of the public may be presented to the Committee provided that 
they contain 100 or more signatures and relate to a matter within the Committee’s terms 
of reference. The presentation of petitions on the following matters is not allowed: (a) 
matters which are “confidential” or “exempt” under the Local Government Access to 
Information Act 1985; and (b) planning applications. Notice must be given in writing at 
least 14 days before the meeting. Please contact the Democratic Services Officer for 
further advice. 

6. Notice of public questions must be given in writing at least 7 days before the meeting. 
Members of the public may ask one question relating to a matter within the Committee’s 
terms of reference. Questions on “confidential” or “exempt” matters and planning 
applications are not allowed. Questions should relate to general policy and not detail. 
Please contact the Democratic Services Officer for further advice. 

7. On 10 December 2013, the Council agreed amendments to the Scheme of Delegation so 
that: 

• All details pursuant (applications relating to a previously granted permission) and 
non-material amendments (minor issues that do not change the principles of an 
existing permission) will be delegated to officers (irrespective of the number of 
objections). 

• Any full application with fewer than 5 objections, which is in accordance with the 
development plan and national polices will be delegated to officers. 

• Any full application with fewer than 5 objections that is not in accordance with the 
development plan (i.e. waste development in Green Belt) and national policies will be 
delegated to officers in liaison with either the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the 
Planning & Regulatory Committee. 

• Any application can come before committee if requested by the local member or a 
member of the Planning & Regulatory Committee. 
 

The revised Scheme of Delegation came into effect as of the date of the Council 
decision. 

 
 



 

 
6 

 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 – guidance on the determination of 
planning applications  

This guidance forms part of and should be read in conjunction with the Planning Considerations 
section in the report.  

Surrey County Council as County Planning Authority (also known as Mineral or Waste Planning 
Authority in relation to matters relating to mineral or waste development) is required under 
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) (1990 Act) when 
determining planning applications to 'have regard to (a) the provisions of the development plan, 
so far as material to the application, (b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to 
the application, and (c) any other material considerations'. This section of the 1990 Act must be 
read together with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (2004 Act), 
which provides that: 'If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in 
accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.' 

Development plan 
In Surrey the adopted development plan consists of the: 

• Surrey Minerals Local Plan 2011 (comprised of the Core Strategy and Primary 
Aggregates Development Plan Documents (DPD)) 

• Surrey Waste Local Plan 2020 (for the period 2019-2033 and comprised of the Surrey 
Waste Local Plan Part 1 Policies and Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 2 Sites)  

• Aggregates Recycling Joint Development Plan (DPD) for the Minerals and Waste Plans 
2013 (Aggregates Recycling DPD 2013) 

• Any saved local plan policies and the adopted Local Development Documents 
(development plan documents and supplementary planning documents) prepared by the 
eleven Surrey district/borough councils in Surrey 

• South East Plan 2009 Policy NRM6 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (apart 
from Policy NRM6 and a policy relating to the former Upper Heyford Air Base in 
Oxfordshire the rest of the plan was revoked on 25 March 2013) 

• Any neighbourhood plans (where they have been approved by the local community at 
referendum) 

Set out in each report are the development plan documents and policies which provide the 
development plan framework relevant to the application under consideration.  

Material considerations 
Material considerations will vary from planning application to planning application and can 
include: relevant European policy; the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2023 and 
subsequent updates; the March 2014 national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) and 
subsequent updates; National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) October 2014; Waste 
Management Plan for England 2021; extant planning policy statements; Government Circulars 
and letters to Chief Planning Officers; emerging local development documents (being produced 
by Surrey County Council, the district/borough council or neighbourhood forum in whose area 
the application site lies).  

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance  
The National Planning Policy Framework  (NPPF) was revised on 19 December 2023. The 
revised NPPF replaces the previous NPPF published in March 2012 and revised in July 2018, 
February 2019, July 2021 and September 2023. It continues to provide consolidated guidance 
for local planning authorities and decision takers in relation to decision-taking (determining 
planning applications) and in preparing plans (plan making). 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


 

 
7 

The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected 
to be applied and the associated March 2014 Planning Practice Guidance(PPG), as amended, 
provides related guidance. The NPPF should be read alongside other national planning policies 
for waste; traveller sites; planning for schools development; sustainable drainage systems; 
parking and Starter Homes.  

At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraphs 10 
and 11). The NPPF makes clear that the planning system has three overarching objectives in 
order to achieve sustainable development, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in 
mutually supportive ways in order to take opportunities to secure net gains across each of the 
different objectives. These objectives are economic, social and environmental. 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development in the NPPF does not change the 
statutory principle that determination of planning applications must be made in accordance with 
the adopted development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is 
one of those material considerations. In determining planning applications the NPPF (paragraph 
11) states that development proposals that accord with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 
which are most important in determining an application are out of date, permission should be 
granted unless the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed or any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF as a whole. 

The NPPF aims to strengthen local decision making and reinforce the importance of up to date 
plans. Annex 1 paragraph 224 states that, except for applications involving housing where policy 
in paragraph 76 of the NPPF applies, the policies in the NPPF are material considerations to be 
taken into account when dealing with applications from the date of publication. The policy in 
paragraph 76 applies to applications made on, or after, 19 December 2023. Annex 1 paragraph 
225 states that in determining planning applications, local planning authorities should give due 
weight to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the 
NPPF (the closer the policies are to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight they 
may be given). 

 

Human Rights Act 1998 
Guidance For Interpretation 
The Human Rights Act 1998 does not incorporate the European Convention on Human Rights 
into English law.  It does, however, impose an obligation on public authorities not to act 
incompatibly with those Convention rights specified in Schedule 1 of that Act.  As such, those 
persons directly affected by the adverse effects of decisions of public authorities may be able to 
claim a breach of their human rights.  Decision makers are required to weigh the adverse impact 
of the development against the benefits to the public at large. 

The most commonly relied upon articles of the European Convention are Articles 6, 8 and Article 
1 of Protocol 1.  These are specified in Schedule 1 of the Act. 

Article 6 provides the right to a fair and public hearing.  Officers must be satisfied that the 
application has been subject to proper public consultation and that the public have had an 
opportunity to make representations in the normal way and that any representations received 
have been properly covered in the report. 

Article 8 covers the right to respect for a private and family life.  This has been interpreted as the 
right to live one’s personal life without unjustified interference.  Officers must judge whether the 
development proposed would constitute such an interference and thus engage Article 8. 

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-for-waste
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-for-schools-development-statement
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-vote-office/December%202014/18%20December/6.%20DCLG-sustainable-drainage-systems.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-03-25/HCWS488/
https://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-03-02/HCWS324


 

 
8 

Article 1 of Protocol 1 provides that a person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his 
possessions and that no-one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the public interest.  
Possessions will include material possessions, such as property, and also planning permissions 
and possibly other rights.  Officers will wish to consider whether the impact of the proposed 
development will affect the peaceful enjoyment of such possessions. 

These are qualified rights, which means that interference with them may be justified if deemed 
necessary in the interests of national security, public safety or the economic well-being of the 
country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the 
protection of the rights and freedoms of others. 

Any interference with a Convention right must be proportionate to the intended objective.  This 
means that such an interference should be carefully designed to meet the objective in question 
and not be arbitrary, unfair or overly severe. 

European case law suggests that interference with the human rights described above will only 
be considered to engage those Articles and thereby cause a breach of human rights where that 
interference is significant. Officers will therefore consider the impacts of all applications for 
planning permission and will express a view as to whether an Article of the Convention may be 
engaged. 

 



 

1 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the PLANNING AND REGULATORY 
COMMITTEE held at 10.30 am on 25 September 2024 at Council Chamber, 
Woodhatch Place, 11 Cockshot Hill, Reigate, Surrey, RH2 8EF. 
 
These minutes are subject to confirmation by the Committee at its next 
meeting. 
 
Members: 
 
 Ernest Mallett MBE 

Jeffrey Gray 
Victor Lewanski 
Scott Lewis 
Catherine Powell 
Jeremy Webster 
Edward Hawkins (Chairman) 
Richard Tear (Vice-Chairman) 
Chris Farr 

 John Robini 
Jonathan Hulley 
 

 
 
   

 
 

40/24 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  [Item 1] 
 
Apologies for absence were received from John Robini and Jonathan Hulley.   
 

41/24 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  [Item 2] 
 
The Minutes were APPROVED as an accurate record of the previous 
meeting. 
 

42/24 PETITIONS  [Item 3] 
 
There were none. 
 

43/24 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  [Item 4] 
 
There were none. 
 

44/24 MEMBERS' QUESTION TIME  [Item 5] 
 
Two Member questions were submitted by Cllr Catherine Powell. The 
questions and responses were published within a supplementary agenda on 
24 September 2024.  
 
In regard to her first question, Cllr Powell thanked the Chairman and officers 
for the response and asked for clarification on which statutory agency was 
responsible for identifying and mitigating groundwater flood risk, as well as 
evaluating surface water flood risks, particularly in areas with hills and valleys. 
Officers explained that surface water flooding would fall under the 
responsibility of the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), which would act as a 

Page 1

2

Item 2



 

2 
 

consultee on matters related to surface water, drainage, or the mitigation of 
surface water flooding issues. Regarding groundwater flooding, officers noted 
that this would likely fall under the remit of the Environment Agency, the LLFA, 
and specialist consultees. 
 
In regard to her second question, Cllr Powell acknowledged the comment in 
the responses about the importance of a system being subject to a robust 
maintenance regime, as opposed to one that is not maintainable, and 
requested if this could be discussed offline. 
 

45/24 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  [Item 6] 
 
There were none. 
 

46/24 SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL PROPOSAL RE24/00028/CON - SITE OF 
FORMER COLEBROOK AND SPECTRUM NOKE DAY CENTRES, NOKE 
DRIVE, REDHILL, SURREY RH1 1PT  [Item 7] 
 
This item was withdrawn.   
 

47/24 SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL PROPOSAL RU.24/0071 - FORMER 
BIRCHLANDS CARE HOME, BARLEY MOW ROAD, ENGLEFIELD 
GREEN, EGHAM, TW20 0NP  [Item 8] 
 
Officers:  
Dawn Horton-Baker, Planning Development Team Manager  
James Lehane, Principal Transport Development Planning Officer 
 
Officer introduction:  
 

1. The Planning Officer introduced the report and update sheet, providing 
Members with a brief overview. Members noted that the outline 
application was for the erection of a part single-storey, part three-
storey building (with an additional basement) for extra care 
accommodation, comprising self-contained apartments, staff and 
communal facilities, and associated parking, including a new vehicle 
access from Barley Mow Road. Appearance and landscaping were 
reserved matters. Full details were outlined within the published report. 
Officers highlighted an error within the update sheet, which referred to 
Condition 47 but should have stated Condition 17.  

 
Speakers:  
 
Carol Bell spoke on behalf of the applicant and made the following points:  
 

1. That the site was one of the programmes for extra care housing 
projects which the council was delivering to address the critical gaps in 
provision of affordable housing for older people in need for care and 
support.  

2. That the programme offered a higher level of care than traditional, 
sheltered housing because it included personal care, meals, other 
daily living activities but allowed residents to maintain a high level of 
independence.  

3. That the site was specifically selected for this use because it meets 
key sustainability criteria.  

Page 2

2



 

3 
 

4. That the site was close to the village centre, had good transport links 
via buses, and could be supported by the local health infrastructure.  

5. That the location reduced reliability on cars for both residents and staff 
and encouraged people using the facility to socialise and exercise 
locally.  

6. That the proposal was designed with sustainability in mind.  
7. That vehicle charging would be installed throughout for both cars and 

mobility scooters.  
8. That the development contributed to the council’s ambitious targets for 

delivering 725 new affordable homes by 2030. It also aimed to deliver 
against the net-zero targets and supported the community vision for 
Surrey to ensure everyone has the health and social care support and 
information they need, at the right time, and that everyone has a place 
they can call home with appropriate housing for all.  

 
Members noted that the drainage ditch immediately outside would be 
maintained. Officers added that details related to access, including drainage, 
were due to be submitted subject to a full technical approvals process.  
 
In relation to the elevations and external treatment, the Chairman suggested 
that it would be beneficial to be informed about the materials proposed for 
use. Officers clarified that, given the site's proximity to the conservation area, 
planning officers would consult with the council’s heritage team to ensure the 
materials selected were suitable and in keeping with the surrounding area. 
The speaker added that they were fully aware of the Runnymede design code 
and the proximity of the heritage area,  
 
The Local Member, Cllr Marisa Health, was registered to speak but was 
unable to attend due to an emergency.  
 
Key points raised during the discussion:  
 

1. A Member stated that the situation on the site was positive and that he 
did not consider it to be controversial.  

2. A Member proposed that the committee take responsibility for the 
reserve matters which was agreed.  

3. A Member noted that the local school required access through the site 
to maintain its playing field and inquired whether it would be 
appropriate to include a condition to facilitate this. Officers confirmed 
that it would be possible to add such a condition but recommended 
that the final wording be approved by the Chairman and Vice-
Chairman outside the meeting. 

4. A Member agreed that the reserved matters should be considered by 
the committee and emphasised the importance of ensuring that the 
highways and drainage matters on site were appropriately addressed 
and compatible. 

5. A Member expressed concerns raised by local residents regarding the 
potential loss of privacy, particularly on St Jude’s Road, and asked 
officers for clarification on this matter. Officers explained that there 
was significant existing tree screening, some of which was located in 
neighbouring gardens, and that the council would seek to ensure the 
retention of all trees along the boundary. Additionally, an informative 
had been included to recommend that consideration be given to the 
placement of windows and balconies during the reserved matters 
stage. 

Page 3

2



 

4 
 

6. Members were presented with photographs and plans of the site as 
included within the published agenda.  

7. Members noted that, following discussion at the meeting, the 
resolution would be amended to state that the reserved matters 
application should be brought back to the committee for review. 
Additionally, a condition would be included to ensure that access for 
the school is maintained. The final wording of the condition would be 
approved by the Chairman and Vice-Chairman outside the meeting.  

8. The Chairman moved the amended recommendation which received 
unanimous support.  

 
Actions / further information to be provided:  
 
None.  
 
Resolved:  
 
Pursuant to Regulation 3 of The Town and Country Planning General 
Regulations 1992, the Committee resolves to grant outline planning 
permission for application ref: RU.24/0071, subject to the planning conditions 
outlined in the report and update sheet, with the following amendments: 
 
The reserved matters application shall be brought back to the committee for 
further review. 
 
An additional condition shall be included to ensure that access for the local 
school to maintain its playing field is preserved. The final wording of this 
condition shall be approved by the Chairman and Vice-Chairman outside the 
meeting. 
 

48/24 MINERALS/WASTE APPLICATION RE18/02667/CON - REPORT ON 
OUTCOME OF THE CONSIDERATION OF THIS MATTER BY THE 
SUPREME COURT (HORSE HILL WELL SITE, HORSE HILL, 
HOOKWOOD, HORLEY, SURREY RH6 0HN)  [Item 9] 
 
Officers:  
Caroline Smith, Planning Group Manager 
 
Key points raised during the discussion:  
 

1. The officer introduced the item and provided a brief summary. 
Members noted that, on 11 September 2019, the Planning and 
Regulatory Committee approved a planning application for the 
retention and extension of the Horse Hill well site to allow drilling, 
hydrocarbon production, and related infrastructure. Following this, a 
judicial review was initiated by a Surrey resident, challenging the 
County Council's decision not to consider downstream carbon 
emissions from the oil produced. Both the High Court and Court of 
Appeal upheld the Council's actions as lawful. However, the officer 
explained that in June 2024, the Supreme Court ruled, by a majority of 
three to two, that the Council acted unlawfully by not accounting for 
the indirect emissions from burning the oil. The officer then provided 
details of the Supreme Court’s decision and its implications for the 
Council. Full details were outlined within the published report and 
update sheet.  

Page 4

2



 

5 
 

2. A Member expressed that he believed the Council had acted in a 
satisfactory and straightforward manner in accordance with the law 
and voiced concerns about the outcome of the Supreme Court ruling. 

3. Officers clarified that the ruling applied solely to the environmental 
impact assessment. They further explained that, in response to the 
National Planning Policy Framework consultation, officers had 
requested additional guidance from the Government, as there 
remained uncertainty on how to proceed. 

4. Members emphasised the need to schedule a development session 
for further discussion once additional information and guidance 
become available, to ensure a clear understanding of the implications 
of the Supreme Court ruling 

 
Actions / further information to be provided:  
 
None.  
 
Resolved:  
 
The Committee noted the outcome of the claim for judicial review and that the 
planning permission granted in September 2019 has now been quashed. The 
application will return to Planning and Regulatory Committee for 
determination in due course. 
 

49/24 DATE OF NEXT MEETING  [Item 10] 
 
The date of the next meeting was noted. 
 
 
 
 
Meeting closed at 11.30 am 
 _________________________ 
 Chairman 

Page 5

2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

To: Planning and Regulatory Committee Date: 30 October 2024 

By: Planning Development Manager 

District(s) Guildford  Electoral Division(s): 

  Shalford 

  Matt Furniss 

  Case Officer: 

  James Nolan 

Purpose: For Decision Grid Ref: 489133 149262 

 

Title: Surrey County Council Proposal GU24/CON/00010 

 

Summary Report 

 

Land at St Paul's C of E Infant School, The Cardinals, Tongham, Surrey GU10 1EF 

 

Construction and use of double-height extension to rear of school hall, enlarged car 

park and two new multi-use games areas; and reinstatement of grass playing field. 

 

St Paul’s C of E Infant School is located within the urban area of Tongham in western Surrey 

and is understood to have originally been constructed in the 1950s. The school currently 

caters for children aged 4 to 7 on a site which comprises the existing single-storey school 

buildings, a staff and visitor car park, external play areas, a large unused grass field, and 

established vegetation along the northern, north-eastern and southern boundaries. The site 

is surrounded on all sides by residential development and a majority of the site, aside from 

the existing buildings, is designated as Urban Open Space. 

 

The proposal the subject of this application is for an extension at the rear of the existing 

school buildings, as well as an extension to the existing staff and visitor car park, 

replacement external play areas, and reinstatement of the large grass field, all in order to 

increase the capacity of the school to that of a one-form entry primary school, to 

accommodate children aged 4 to 11. 

 

Representations from a total of 6 members of the public have been received by the County 

Planning Authority (CPA) in relation to this planning application. No technical objections have 

been received from the relevant consultants, subject to the application of suitably worded 

Conditions, and Sport England supports the proposal insofar as the establishment of a new 

larger playing field would help address established pitch deficiencies. 

 

Officers consider that the Applicant has demonstrated a clear need for the proposal in 

meeting both current and future educational needs which can be given great weight in the 

planning balance.  The loss of Urban Open Space is limited to the minimum necessary to 

meet this demonstrated need, and the proposal would not result in any other significant or 

unacceptable harm subject to appropriate planning conditions. 

 

It is recommended that pursuant to Regulation 3 of The Town and Country Planning General 

Regulations 1992, the Committee grants outline planning permission for application ref: 

GU24/CON/00010, subject to the recommended planning conditions. 

Page 7

7

Item 7



 

Application details 

 

Applicant 

 

SCC Property   

 

Date application valid 

 

8 February 2024 

 

Period for Determination 

 

9 May 2024 – extended to 13 November 2024 on agreement with Agent. 

 

Amending Documents 

 

• Email from Agent dated 23 April 2024 containing the Anderson Acoustics Ltd document 
titled Air Quality and Dust Management Plan dated April 2024. 

• Email from Agent dated 14 June 2024 containing the TSA Ecology document titled 
Phase 2 Survey Report REPTILES dated June 2024. 

• Email from Agent dated 24 July 2024 containing the TSA Ecology document titled 
Badger Survey Report dated July 2024. 

• Email from Agent dated 19 September 2024 containing the TSA Ecology document titled 
Reptile Mitigation Strategy Version 1 dated September 2024, the Land Trust letter to 
Surrey County Council dated 9 September 2024, the Blackwater Valley Countryside 
Partnership document titled Ash Green Meadows Reptile Survey 2022 dated November 
2022, the Blackwater Valley Countryside Partnership document titled Ash Green 
Meadows Reptile Survey Unfinished Progress Report 2024, and the undated document 
titled Habitat Management. 

• Email from Agent dated 30 September 2024 clarifying the off-site highway works. 
 

Summary of Planning Issues 

 

This section identifies and summarises the main planning issues in the report. The full text 

should be considered before the meeting. 

 

 Is this aspect of the  Paragraphs in the report 

 proposal in accordance  where this has been  

 with the development plan? discussed 

 

Principle and Need 

 

Yes 

 

32-44 

Urban Open Space Yes 45-59 

Design and Visual Amenity Yes 60-90 

Impact on Residential 

Amenity 

Yes 91-130 

Highways, Traffic and 

Access 

Yes 131-161 

Landscaping and Trees Yes 162-184 

Ecology and Biodiversity Yes 185-196 

Flood Risk and Drainage Yes 197-206 

Page 8

7



Heritage Yes 207-215 

Waste Management Issues Yes 216-221 

 

Illustrative material 

 

Aerial Photographs 

 

Aerial Photograph 1 

Aerial Photograph 2 

 

Photos 

 

1 - Entrance to school from West Ring 

2 - Rear view of school building 

3 – Wider view of school buildings from the rear 

4 – Existing play areas 

 

Site Plans 

 

Plan 1 – Drawing No. HBS-00-00-DR-A-1101 rev P03 Proposed Block Plan dated 7 

February 2024 showing extent of existing school buildings, proposed extension, extended 

staff and visitor car parking area, and external play areas. 

 

Background 

 

Site Description 

 
1. St Paul’s Church of England Infant School, hereon in to be referred to as St Paul’s, is 

located in western Surrey, within the urban area of Tongham and south of the urban 
area of Ash. It is approximately 645 metres (m) east of the A331 Blackwater Valley 
Road and roughly 1 kilometre (km) north of the A31 Hog’s Back at its closest points. 

 
2. The 1.27-hectare (ha) application site is bounded by West Ring to the west and East 

Ring to the north, from which pedestrian and vehicular access are gained, while Public 
Footpath No. 346 runs along both the western and part of the southern boundaries of 
the site and Public Footpath No. 349 along its eastern boundary. The entirety of the 
application site lies within Flood Zone 1, designated by the Environment Agency (EA) 
as having the lowest risk of flooding, and is surrounded on all sides by residential 
properties. 

 

3. The application site currently comprises the existing cluster of single-storey school 
buildings and the adjacent vehicle parking and external play areas, which are located 
within the south-western half of the application site, as well as a large grass field within 
the north-eastern half, which was previously used as a playing field but is currently 
unused and overgrown. There are mature trees and deciduous woodland along most of 
the perimeter of the site, except in the south-western corner, and a majority of the site 
except for the existing cluster of school buildings is designated as Urban Open Space. 

 
4. The application site does not lie within any national or local statutory designated 

conservation areas. However, Cardinals Fields Site of Nature Conservation Interest 
(SNCI) is roughly 50m to the north, the Surrey Hills Area of Great Landscape Value 
(AGLV) is some 120m to the south, Poyle Park Wood SNCI is approximately 530m to 
the south-east, Ash Lodge Meadows SNCI is roughly 590m to the north, Tongham Park 

Page 9

7



and Tices Meadow SNCI is some 665m to the west, the Surrey Hills National 
Landscape (previously known as the Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB)) is approximately 670m to the south, and Seale Chalk Pit Site of Special 
Scientific Interest is roughly 1.2km to the south-east, all at their closest points.  The site 
also lies within the 400m – 5km distance of the Special Protection Area. 

 

Planning History 

 

5. It is understood that the main school buildings were originally constructed in the 1950s 
and form a single-storey backwards L-shape, with red-facing and buff coloured brick 
walls, pitched roofs over classrooms and the main hall, and flat roofs over the 
circulation service and ancillary spaces. 

 
6. Relevant planning permissions which have been granted more recently by the CPA for 

development at the application site are detailed below: 
 

• GU01/0070 for construction of an equipped playground with fencing for school and 
community use. 

• GU04/1295 for erection of demountable single-storey building approximately 12m x 
6m for pre-school education and childcare use. 

• GU06/1564 for single storey extension to facilitate creation of Children’s Centre. 
Granted 22 September 2006. 

• GU07/2642 for construction of two single storey extensions to provide ancillary office 
and toilet facilities. Granted 4 March 2008. 

• GU10/0618 for construction of single storey extension to provide additional storage 
space for children’s centre. Granted 21 July 2010. 

• GU10/1369 for construction of hard surface play area. Granted 27 August 2010. 

• GU14/P/00358 for single storey extension to provide additional daycare facilities, and 
replacement hard play area. Granted 23 April 2014. 

 

The Proposal 

 

7. This application is submitted seeking planning permission for the construction and use 
of a single-storey extension to the rear of the existing school buildings, with a double-
height school hall, as well as an enlarged car parking area, two new multi-use games 
areas, and the reinstatement of the currently unused grass area as a full-sized playing 
pitch. 

 

8. The proposed extension would comprise 649 square metres (sqm) of additional 
teaching space, offices, storage and a new school hall, in order to comply with Building 
Bulletin (BB) 103 recommendations for St Paul’s to increase its current capacity by 
more than double and enable children to stay on until the age of 11 as a one-form entry 
primary school. 

 
9. The proposed extension would be built with a light buff grey brick façade and 

aluminium window surrounds, with a part flat and part pitched roof. As it would be built 
on two of the existing external play areas, replacement multi-use games areas are also 
proposed as part of this application – one hard and one soft. The existing vehicle 
parking area would also be enlarged in order to provide an additional five car parking 
spaces. 

 
10. This application also includes fencing, lighting, electric vehicle charging facilities and 

landscaping and wildlife enhancements. Existing informal social spaces around the 
current school buildings would be retained, and the school would continue to be 

Page 10

7



accessed via the existing pedestrian and vehicular accesses from West Ring and East 
Ring. 

 

Consultations and publicity 

 

Guildford Borough Council 

 

11. Planning Control – Raised concern that full consideration should be given to the impact 
on residents in terms of the visual impact of the proposed development, parking issues 
and noise and disturbance. 

 

Consultees (Statutory and Non-Statutory) 

 

12. County air quality consultant – No objection. 
 

13. County Arboriculturalist – No objection, subject to the application of a Condition 
requiring the submission of an updated Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Method 
Statement. 

 
14. County Archaeological Officer – No objection, subject to the application of a Condition 

requiring the submission of a Written Scheme of Investigation and the subsequent 
implementation of a programme of archaeological work. 

 
15. County Ecologist – No objection, subject to the application of Conditions requiring 

adherence to reptile and badger mitigation measures. 
 

16. County Landscape Officer – No objection, subject to the application of Conditions 
requiring the implementation of the proposed landscaping in the first available planting 
season, the replacement of any planting in the event of failure within the first five years, 
and the submission of a five-year landscape management and maintenance plan. 

 
17. County lighting consultant – No objection. 

 
18. County noise consultant – No objection, subject to Conditions detailing the construction 

hours and operational noise limits, and requiring the submission of a Construction 
Noise Management Plan and Operational Noise Assessment. 

 
19. Lead Local Flood Authority – No objection, subject to Conditions requiring the 

submission of details of the design of a surface water drainage scheme prior to 
commencement and the submission of a drainage verification report prior to the first 
occupation of the new extension. 

 
20. Sport England – Supports the proposed development, subject to Conditions requiring a 

grounds condition assessment for the playing fields; and that the playing fields and 
pitches be constructed in accordance with the submitted plans and Sport England 
Guidance and made available before the first use of the double-height school 
extension. 

 
21. Surrey Wildlife Trust – No response received. 

 
22. Transport Development Planning – No objection, subject to Conditions requiring the 

implementation of off-site highway works prior to the first occupation of the new 
extension, the marking out of vehicle parking spaces prior to the first occupation of the 
new extension, the submission and implementation of a scheme for the provision of 

Page 11

7



cycle and scooter parking and e-bike charging facilities prior to the first occupation of 
the new extension, the submission and implementation of a scheme for the provision of 
electric vehicle charging points and cabling prior to the first use of the vehicle parking 
spaces, the implementation of the Park and Stride initiative prior to the first intake of 
additional pupils, the submission of an updated school travel plan prior to the first 
intake of additional pupils, and the submission of a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan (CTMP) prior to the commencement of development. 

 

Parish/Town Council and Amenity Groups 

 

23. Tongham Parish Council – No response received. 
 

Summary of publicity undertaken and key issues raised by public 

 

24. The application was publicised by the posting of two site notices and an advert was 
placed in the Surrey Advertiser newspaper on 8 March 2024. A total of 145 of 
owner/occupiers of neighbouring properties were directly notified by letter. 

 
25. Six letters of representation have been received by the CPA in relation to planning 

application ref: GU24/CON/00010, raising the following matters: 
 

• Proximity of proposed new, southern-most multi-use games area and associated 
fencing to residential properties and resulting visual and noise impacts on residential 
amenity, which the proposed 3m high weld mesh fence and tree planting are 
insufficient to address. 

• Lack of clarity with regards to out-of-hours use of proposed new multi-use games 
areas. 

• Increased level of noise during construction. 

• Added parking stress during construction and operation. 

• Careless and inconsiderate parking in school hours…with the addition of this 
planning it will cause more traffic and more parking issues for residents. In addition 
this planning will create more traffic in terms of additional services required to the 
school. 

• Unable to park outside own house due to staff or parents parked. 

• Extending the playing field beyond what was already there before…will benefit no 
one as it will give the field an irregular shape and no one will probably even use that 
part of it but it will destroy the trees and the habitat for local wildlife. 

• The car park is going to be extended by five places for staff. Not much for a school 
doubling in size. 

 

Planning considerations 

 

26. The guidance on the determination of planning applications, found at the end of this 
report, is expressly incorporated into this report and must be read in conjunction with 
the following paragraphs. 

 
27. In this case the statutory development plan for consideration of the application consists 

of the Guildford Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 (GBSS) and the 
Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 (GBDMP) as 
well as the Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Policies and Part 2 – Sites, which 
together form the Surrey Waste Local Plan 2019-2033 (SWLP). 

 
 

Page 12

7



28. The GBSS sets out the vision, objectives and approaches to development of Guildford 
Borough Council (GBC) and the location of key development sites within the borough, 
while the GBDMP provides further and more detailed planning policies to use in 
determining planning applications. Spatial policies contained within the GBSS and 
GBDMP are displayed on GBC’s Policies Map, including the extent of the Urban Open 
Space designation which covers a majority of the application site. 

 
29. The SWLP sets out how and where different types of waste will be managed within 

Surrey in the future, sets out the planning policy framework for the development of 
waste management facilities, and is used in determining all planning applications. 

 
30. There are no neighbourhood plans which cover the area within which the application 

site is located. 
 

31. In considering this application the acceptability of the proposed development will be 
assessed against relevant development plan policies and material considerations. In 
this case the main planning considerations are principle and need; Urban Open Space; 
design and visual amenity; impact on residential amenity; highways, traffic and access; 
landscaping and trees; ecology and biodiversity; flood risk and drainage; and waste 
management issues. 

 

PRINCIPLE AND NEED 

 

32. National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 (NPPF) paragraph 99 states the 
importance that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of 
existing and new communities. Planning authorities should take a proactive, positive 
and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that will 
widen choice in education. They should give great weight to the need to create, expand 
or alter schools. 

 
33. NPPF paragraph 123 states that planning decisions should promote an effective use of 

land in meeting the need for other uses, while safeguarding and improving the 
environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. 

 
34. NPPF paragraph 127 states that planning authorities should also take a positive 

approach to applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but 
not allocated for a specific purpose in plans, where this would help to meet identified 
development needs. In particular, they should support proposals to make more 
effective use of sites that provide community services such as schools, provided this 
maintains or improves the quality of service provision and access to open space. 

 
35. NPPF paragraph 128 states that planning decisions should support development that 

makes efficient use of land, taking into account, inter alia: 
 

a) The identified need for other forms of development, and the availability of land 
suitable for accommodating it. 

c) The availability and capacity of infrastructure and services – both existing and 
proposed – as well as their potential for further improvement. 

 

36. St Paul’s is currently a one-form entry infant school that caters for 90 pupils aged 4 to 7 
years, and the Applicant has stated it is the only infant school in the Ash and Tongham 
area that does not have a linked junior school within the same planning area. 

 

Page 13

7



37. After completing their education at St Paul’s, pupils typically transfer to either Walsh 
Junior School in Ash, some 750m to the north at its closest point, or Waverley Abbey 
Junior School in Tilford, some 4.9km to the south at its closest point. St Paul’s currently 
subsidises minibuses to aid travel to these junior schools at a cost of circa £38,000 per 
year, which the Applicant has stated could be used more effectively to benefit pupils at 
St Paul’s. 

 
38. These junior schools also have other feeder schools which have higher priority than St 

Paul’s, and therefore limited places to accommodate additional pupils. This may 
therefore result in pupils transferring from St Paul’s not being able to attend a 
convenient junior school and/or being separated from family and friends. 

 
39. Further, extensive new residential development has recently taken place, is currently 

taking place, or is approved to take place within the Ash and Tongham area. This 
includes 10 dwellings on land to the north of Springfield Cottages in the south of 
Tongham, 35 dwellings directly to the east of St Paul’s within the Kingston Close/Poplar 
Close development, 50 dwellings in each of the Blackburne Way and Tichborne 
Way/Lennox Close developments on either side of Grange Road, and up to 254 
dwellings in the large Admiral Park development in the south of Tongham. 

 
40. The Applicant, SCC acting as Education Authority, has a statutory duty to ensure that 

there are sufficient school places in Surrey. Despite a falling birth rate across the 
county since 2012, demand for school places has continued to increase in Ash and 
Tongham. This increase stems from inward migration and new housing coming forward 
as set out above. 

 
41. There is therefore a need to expand St Paul’s from an infant school to a junior school, 

which would enable a capacity of 210 pupils, including SEN provision, and would 
absorb the anticipated increase that would arise as a result of the above-mentioned 
developments while also meeting the needs of existing residents and parents.  
Department of Education Guidance for Schools (Building Bulletin 103) recommends 
that for such a junior school seven classrooms would be required, whereas the existing 
school building only accommodates four.  The proposal also includes various other 
developments including an extended staff vehicle parking area, replacement external 
hard play areas, and fencing. 

 
 

42. The extended vehicle parking area is needed to accommodate the increased teaching 
staff at the expanded school, while the replacement external hard play areas and 
associated fencing are needed due to the existing ones being built on as part of this 
proposal. The proposed southern replacement external hard play area would be 
surrounded by weld mesh ball-stop fencing, due to its proximity to the residential 
properties to the south of the application site and the nature of its use. 

 
43. In response to a consultation request with regards to this application, GBC raised no 

objection to the principle of the proposal. 
 

44. Taking all of the above into account, Officers consider that the Applicant has 
demonstrated a clear educational need for the proposed expansion to meet both 
current and anticipated future needs of the local community, and this can be given 
great weight in the planning balance in accordance with NPPF guidance.  The 
proposed expansion would be an effective use of the existing school grounds which lies 
within the urban area and is sited close to the population it serves. 

 

URBAN OPEN SPACE 

Page 14

7



 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015-2034 

Policy ID4 – Green and blue infrastructure 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 

Policy ID5 – Protecting Open Space 

 

45. NPPF paragraph 103 states that existing open space, sports and recreational buildings 
and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless: 

 

a) An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

b) The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 

c) The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of 
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

 

46. Further, Annex 2 of the NPPF defines Open Space as all open space of public value 
which offer important opportunities for sport and recreation and can act as a visual 
amenity. 

 

47. GBSS Policy ID4 states that open space (encompassing all open space within urban 
areas, land designated as Open Space on the Policies Map and all land and water that 
provides opportunities for recreation and sport as identified in the most recent Open 
Space, Sport and Recreation Assessment) will be protected from development in 
accordance with the NPPF. 

 
48. GBDMP Policy ID5 states that development proposals for ancillary uses that support 

the open space’s role and function may be supported. 
 

49. As stated previously, a majority of the application site, except for the existing cluster of 
school buildings in the south-western corner, is designated as Urban Open Space. This 
includes the existing staff car parking area, four external play areas (two soft play 
areas, one hard play area and an informal soft play space), a small pond, and the large 
unused grass field. 

 
50. The proposal the subject of this application would be entirely within the Urban Open 

Space designation, and would include the school extension, the extended staff car 
parking area, two new external hard play areas on the existing larger soft play area, 
and a new soft play area on the large unused grass field. The informal soft play space 
and existing pond would remain in place and would be largely unaffected by this 
proposal. 

 
51. The Applicant has recognised that the proposed development would encroach into the 

Urban Open Space designation but has stated that the school extension would be well 
related to the existing cluster of school buildings, would be undertaken partly on an 
area which currently comprises a hard play area, does not comprise superfluous space, 
and that the extension is justified by the educational need for the expansion of the 
school. Further, the Applicant has stated that the new and reinstated external play 
areas would improve sporting provision at the school while retaining the open character 
and recreational value of Urban Open Space. 

 
52. Officers recognise that the proposed development would involve the construction and 

use of development on land which is designated as Urban Open Space. However this 
is land which forms part of the school curtilage and is currently in use by the school. 

Page 15

7



 
53. Officers also recognise that as the entirety of the application site outside of the existing 

school buildings is covered by the Urban Open Space designation, it is therefore not 
possible for St Paul’s to expand without encroaching into it. As officers have already 
concluded that the Applicant has demonstrated a clear educational need for the 
proposed expansion and that great weight can be given to this, it is considered that in 
this case the need for the school places outweighs the loss of land with an Urban Open 
Space designation. 

 
54. Officers consider that the encroachment of the school extension into the Urban Open 

Space designation is the minimum necessary to meet the educational need 
demonstrated, and that the development of the proposed external play areas would 
result in improved provision of recreational spaces within the application site. 

 
55. In response to a consultation request with regards to this application, Sport England 

stated that they support the proposal insofar as it would create a new larger area of 
playing field that could help address established playing pitch deficiencies. 

 
56. Meanwhile, GBC have raised no objection to the proposed development in relation to 

Urban Open Space. 
 

57. Taking all of the above into account, Officers recognise that the proposed development 
would result in a loss of Urban Open Space but consider that the Applicant has 
demonstrated a clear educational need for such and that it would be limited to the 
minimum loss necessary to fulfil this need. 

 
58. Further, Officers consider that a majority of the remaining Urban Open Space would 

retain an open character, and its recreational value would be improved. 
 

59. Therefore, Officers consider the proposal fulfils development plan policy requirements 
in relation to Urban Open Space. 

 

DESIGN AND VISUAL AMENITY 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015-2034 

Policy D1 – Place shaping 

Policy D2 – Climate Change, sustainable design, construction and energy 

Policy P1 – Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Area of Great Landscape 

Value 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 

Policy D4 – Achieving High Quality Design and Respecting Local Distinctiveness 

Policy D6 – External Servicing Features and Stores 

Policy D14 – Sustainable and Low Impact Development 

Policy D15 – Climate Change Adaptation 

Policy ID6 – Open Space in New Developments 

 

60. NPPF paragraph 128 states that planning decisions should support development that 
makes efficient use of land, taking into account, inter alia: 

 

d) The desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing character and setting (including 
residential gardens), or of promoting regeneration and change; and 

Page 16

7



e) The importance of securing well-designed and beautiful, attractive and healthy 
places. 

 

61. NPPF paragraph 135 states that planning decisions should ensure that developments: 
 

a) Will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development. 

b) Are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping. 

c) Are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change (such as increased densities). 

d) Establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of spaces, 
building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to 
live, work and visit; and 

f) Create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where 
crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or 
community cohesion and resilience. 

 
62. NPPF paragraph 139 states that development that is not well designed should be 

refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government 
guidance on design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary 
planning documents such as design guides and codes.  

 
63. GBSS Policy D1 requires that new developments will be required to achieve high 

quality design that responds to distinctive local character (including landscape 
character) of the area in which it is set, and is of high quality and inclusive design, 
seeking also to make efficient use of natural resources including passive solar gain to 
maximise the use of the sun’s energy for heating and cooling. In order to avoid 
piecemeal development and to protect and enhance the existing character of Tongham, 
proposals within the area will have particular regard to, inter alia: 

a) The relationship and connectivity with the existing urban area. 
c) The existing character of Tongham. 

 
64. GBSS Policy D2 requires that applications for development, including extensions to 

existing buildings should include information setting out how sustainable design and 
construction practice will be incorporated, and that all developments should be fit for 
purpose and remain so into the future 

 

65. GBDMP Policy D4 states that development proposals are required to demonstrate how 
they will achieve the ten characteristics of well-designed places as set out in the 
National Design Guide (Context, Identity, built form, Movement, Nature, Homes and 
buildings, Resources, Lifespan) and incorporate high quality design which should 
contribute to local distinctiveness by demonstrating a clear understanding of the place. 
Development proposals should respond positively to; Significant views (to and from); 
Surrounding context; Built and natural features of interest; Prevailing character; 
Landscape; and; Topography. Innovative design is supported as appropriate to the site 
and local character. Development proposals are expected to demonstrate high quality 
design at the earliest stages of the design process, and then through the evolution of 
the scheme, including in relation to: layout, form and scale, appearance, landscape, 
materials and detailing.  

 
 

Page 17

7



66. GBDMP Policy D6 states that development proposals are required to demonstrate that: 
 

a) Bin storage, cycle parking and electric vehicle charging points, whilst being designed 
to meet practical needs, are integrated into the built form and do not detract from the 
overall design of the scheme or the surrounding area; and 

b) External servicing features are designed as an integrated part of the overall design or 
are positioned to minimise their visual impact. 
 

 

67. GBDMP Policy D14 seeks to encourage development which is sustainably constructed 
and has low impact in terms of carbon emissions. 

 
68. GBDMP Policy D15 requires that development proposals demonstrate how new 

buildings will be designed and constructed to provide for the comfort, health, and 
wellbeing of current and future occupiers over the lifetime of the development, covering 
the full range of expected climate impacts.  

 

69. The existing school buildings are predominantly single-storey with pitched, tiled roofs 
over classrooms and the main hall and built-up, bitumen felt flat roofs over corridors, 
service and ancillary spaces. External walls typically comprise red- and buff-facing 
brickwork and external windows and doors are typically double-glazed white uPVC, 
while the hall and classrooms have large, full-height openings that provide natural light 
and ventilation. 

 
70. The remainder of the application site externally includes both hardstanding and 

grassed areas, 1.8m high weld mesh fencing separating some internal areas, both 
1.8m high weld mesh fencing and established trees along the boundaries, and metal 
access gates. 

 

71. The proposed extension would provide 649sqm of new floorspace and would be 
predominantly single storey at just over 3m in height, with a part flat and part pitched 
roof, except for the new school hall and its requirements for a higher ceiling, which 
would reach a maximum of 7.8m in height – slightly taller than the current highest point 
of the existing school buildings. The Applicant intends to use complimentary materials 
for the extension, including light buff grey-coloured facing brickwork and dark brown-
bronze metal cladding. 

 
72. The Applicant has stated that the design and massing of the proposed extension has 

been carefully considered to ensure it would provide continuity to the existing school 
buildings and would be in harmony with its surroundings, while aligning with 
educational requirements and without having a monolithic appearance or an adverse 
visual impact. 

 
73. The Applicant has stated that 10kW worth of solar photovoltaic panels would be fitted 

to the roof of the southern-most part of the proposed extension, with electricity 
generated being utilised on-site by the school. The proposed extension would also 
incorporate air source heat pumps, LED lighting with occupancy switching, and heat 
recovery ventilation systems. 

 
74. Meanwhile, the proposed replacement external hard play areas would comprise porous 

tarmac, with the area closest to the residential properties to the south of the application 
site being surrounded by a 3m high weld mesh ball-stop fence. New, realigned 1.8m 
weld mesh fencing would be provided internally to replace existing internal fencing, 

Page 18

7



while the existing site boundary fencing, metal access gates and trees would all be 
retained. 

 
75. The Applicant has concluded that given the location of the proposed development 

within the overall school site, immediately adjacent to the existing built form, as well as 
the distance to neighbouring residential properties and the screening provided by 
existing buildings and trees, the proposed extension would not have a detrimental 
visual impact on neighbouring residential properties. 

 
76. In response to a consultation request with regards to this application, the County 

Landscape Officer (CLO) raised no objection, stating that the modest scale and built 
form of the proposed extension would ensure that it would not harm the visual amenity 
of footpath users or have any adverse impact on the AGLV or National Landscape, 
which are respectively 120m and 670m to the south. 

 

77. The CLO recommended that three Conditions should be applied to any planning 
permission that is granted, including implementation of the proposed landscaping 
scheme in the first available planting season, submission of a five-year landscape 
management and maintenance plan, and replacement of any planting which fails within 
the first five years. 

 
78. Meanwhile, GBC noted the importance of full consideration being given to the impact 

on residents in the area around the school in terms of the visual impact of the proposed 
development, and as stated previously, Sport England support the proposal. 

 

Officer Assessment 

 

79. Officers recognise that the proposed school extension would comprise elements that 
are taller than the existing school buildings, while the extension as a whole would more 
than double the footprint of the existing built form. Further, Officers recognise that the 
location of the proposed southern replacement external hard play area, along with its 
associated ball-stop fencing, is closer to the residential properties to the south of the 
application site than the current situation. 

 

80. However, Officers also recognise that the scale, massing and layout of the proposed 
extension are dictated to a certain extent by both the constraints of the current site and 
educational requirements, and are important to the efficient functioning of the expanded 
school. 

 
81. Further, Officers note that while there is a small number of one-storey bungalows in the 

vicinity of the application site, a majority of residential properties on all sides are two-
storey, and therefore consider that the taller element of the proposed extension would 
be broadly reflective of this. Two-storey properties also appear to be the norm within 
the wider Tongham area, for both older and newer buildings. Furthermore, as a school 
the site has its own distinctive character due to its form and function, which the 
proposed extension would reflect.   

 
82. In any case, Officers note the close proximity of the proposed extension to the existing 

school buildings, and consider that this, alongside the proposed choice of 
complimentary materials and the retention of the existing boundary vegetation, would 
aid in limiting its visual impact on the immediately surrounding area. 

 

83. Officers recognise that the inclusion of solar panels and other energy efficiency 
measures would ensure a lower reliance on fossil fuels and better use of natural 

Page 19

7



resources, and consider that their positioning is appropriate and would not present any 
visual amenity issues. 

 
84. Finally, Officers consider that the extended vehicle parking, replacement external hard 

play areas, reinstated grass pitch, and associated fencing are all appropriately 
designed for their intended purposes and would not have a significantly adverse visual 
impact compared with the existing school and wider school site. 

 
85. Officers agree that the Conditions recommended by the CLO should be applied to any 

permission granted, in order to ensure that the proposed landscaping scheme is both 
implemented in full and effectively maintained throughout the lifetime of the proposed 
development. 

 
86. Further, Officers consider a Condition should also be applied to ensure that the 

proposed complimentary materials on the school extension are indeed used. 
 

87. Taking all of the above into account, Officers consider that the proposed development 
would be of an acceptable design, with a massing, layout and appearance that would 
not significantly adversely affect the existing prevailing character of the immediate, 
local and wider surrounding area. 

 
88. Further, Officers consider the proposed development would make efficient use of 

natural resources through the building orientation, solar powered electricity generation, 
and heat recovery ventilation systems. 

 
89. Subject to the aforementioned Conditions requiring the implementation and 

maintenance of landscaping, and approval of materials visual impacts of the proposed 
development would be further mitigated. 

 
90. Therefore, Officers consider the proposal fulfils development plan policy requirements 

in relation to design and visual amenity. 
 

IMPACT ON RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 

Policy D5 – Protection of Amenity and Provision of Amenity Space 

Policy D11 – Noise Impacts 

Policy D12 – Light Impacts and Dark Skies 

Policy P9 – Air Quality and Air Quality Management Areas 

 

91. NPPF paragraph 180 states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by preventing new and existing development from 
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development 
should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air 
quality. 

 

92. GBDMP Policy D5 states that development proposals are required to avoid having an 
unacceptable impact on the living environment of existing residential properties or 
resulting in unacceptable living conditions for new residential properties, in terms of: 

 

a) Privacy and overlooking. 
b) Visual dominance and overbearing effects of a development. 
c) Access to sunlight and daylight. 

Page 20

7



d) Artificial lighting. 
e) Noise and vibration. 
f) Odour, fumes and dust. 

 

93. GBDMP Policy D11 requires that noise impacts of development are taken into account, 
and mitigated as required. Where there is an unacceptable adverse effect on sensitive 
receptors which cannot be prevented, avoided or mitigated, an application should be 
refused. 

 
94. GBDMP Policy D12 requires that the impact of light pollution is taken into account, and 

states that were there will be an unacceptable adverse impact on sensitive receptors 
which cannot be avoided and/or adequately mitigated, the planning application will be 
refused. 

 
95. GBDMP Policy P9 sets out a number of criteria relating to air quality, including the 

requirement that proposals must not result in significant adverse impacts on sensitive 
receptors, including human health, sensitive habitats and any sites designated for their 
nature conservation value, from any sources of emissions to air. It states that where 
there will be significant adverse impacts that cannot be effectively mitigated, the 
planning application will be refused. 

 

Overlooking/loss of outlook/overshadowing 

 
 

96. Impact on dwellings to the south in Poyle Road – the rear gardens of these 
dwellings abut the southeast boundary of the application site and have rear gardens 
extending to between 20m and 28m with the proposed new single storey rear extension 
to the school being some 15m to 20m further in from the boundary.  Given these 
distances there would be no loss of outlook, overlooking or overshadowing arising.   
 

97. Impact on dwellings to north west in East Side – these dwellings face the 
application site but lie some 35m from the proposed extension with a road intervening.  
Again the proposal will not give rise to any loss of outlook, overlooking or 
overshadowing having regard to these distances. 

 

Air Quality 

 

98. Paragraphs 005, 006, 007 and 008 of the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) titled Air 
quality respectively state the relevance of air quality to a planning decision, 
considerations in determining planning applications, the contents of proportionate air 
quality assessments, and proportionate mitigation options. 

 

99. The application site does not lie within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), with 
the closest such AQMA being located a considerable 4.75km to the west at its closest 
point in Farnham town centre. 

 
100. In response to a consultation request with regards to this application, the County air 

quality consultant (CAQC) requested the Applicant to undertake and provide a 
construction dust risk assessment, due to the close proximity of the proposed 
development to the existing school buildings, in order to inform the level of risk and 
mitigation required to bring the impacts down to a level that is not significant. 

 

Page 21

7



101. The Applicant therefore submitted the document titled Air Quality and Dust 
Management Plan dated April 2024 which presents the findings of a dust risk 
assessment carried out at the application site and proposed mitigation measures. 

 
102. In response, the CAQC agreed with the reported dust emission magnitudes and 

identification of sensitive receptors, and that the application site is low risk overall. The 
CAQC considers the proposed routine mitigation measures to be appropriate and 
proportionate. 

 
103. Officers consider that due to the nature of the proposal and the location of the school 

site, the proposed development would not give rise to any significant adverse air quality 
impacts once operational. 

 
104. Officers recognise that dust may arise during the construction process of the proposed 

development, which would have the potential to result in adverse air quality impacts on 
neighbouring and surrounding amenity, but that such a risk is low and that appropriate 
mitigation measures have been identified by the Applicant. 

 
105. Officers consider that a Condition should be applied to any permission granted to 

ensure that the mitigation measures contained within the submitted Air Quality and 
Dust Management Plan dated April 2024 are implemented and adhered to. 

 
106. Subject to such a Condition, Officers consider that harmful concentrations of air 

pollutants, or any other unacceptable air quality impacts, would not arise as a result of 
the proposed development. 

 

Lighting 

 

107. Paragraphs 001, 003, 004, 005 and 006 of the PPG titled Light pollution respectively 
state the importance of considering artificial lighting, how to avoid light spill, how to 
minimise light pollution, how to assess lighting needs and reduce glare, and how to 
reduce lighting impacts on wildlife. 

 

108. No information has been provided by the Applicant with regards to the current lighting 
situation at the existing school. However, Officers are aware that there is a limited 
number of small wall-mounted lights attached to the front of the school building facing 
West Ring, which illuminate the adjacent external hard play area, and two large wall-
mounted lights attached to the rear of the school building which illuminate the existing 
vehicle parking area. 

 
109. The Applicant has stated that minimal provision of external lighting would be made as 

part of the proposed development, predominantly for wayfinding around the building, 
safe car park use, and for emergencies. Such provision would comprise LED sources, 
with wall lights and bollards being cowled and shielded to reduce upward glare, and 
would be automatically controlled. No floodlighting is proposed for the external play 
areas and no illumination is expected to fall outside the application site boundary. 

 
110. In response to a consultation request with regards to this application, the County 

lighting consultant stated that they considered the submitted lux contours to be 
acceptable and the luminaires to conform to ecological requirements, and that the 
proposed lighting scheme would therefore be acceptable. 

 
111. As with the above-mentioned dust and air quality mitigation measures, Officers 

consider that a Condition should be applied to any permission granted to ensure that 

Page 22

7



lighting associated with the proposed development is appropriately directed and 
shielded. 

 
112. Subject to such a Condition, Officers consider that no significantly adverse lighting 

impacts would arise as a result of the proposed development. 
 

Noise 

 

113. Paragraphs 003, 004 and 006 of the PPG titled Noise respectively state the importance 
of considering the acoustic environment, detail the observed noise effect levels, and 
detail factors to consider when assessing noise impacts. 

 

114. Officers recognise that noise currently associated with the existing infant school likely 
includes use of the external play areas, as well as the arrival and departure of pupils 
and teachers and the start and end of the school day. Officers note that as the external 
grassed field is not currently in use, there is currently no noise associated within this 
half of the application site. 

 
115. However, the application site is surrounded by residential properties and therefore the 

construction of the proposed development has the potential to give rise to significant 
adverse noise impacts upon these properties. 

 
116. An acoustic feasibility assessment has been submitted with the application. This 

assesses both the likely noise impact of the development at the nearest residential 
properties, and the likely levels of break-in noise to the school. It also outlines advice 
on any necessary noise mitigation measures to meet current standards for internal 
noise levels within the new school rooms.  

 
117. It is stated that although construction activities would be temporary, and the level of 

noise generated would vary considerably throughout the duration of the works, 
construction noise has the potential to give rise to significant adverse effects. 
Therefore, best practicable means will be adopted to mitigate such noise, alongside the 
following measures: 

 

• Ensuring that deliveries only arrive during the day, are routed so as to minimise 
disturbance, and are prohibited from waiting with engines running. 

• Properly maintaining plant and machinery in accordance with the manufacturer's 
specifications. 

• Fitting pneumatic tools with silencers or mufflers. 

• Erecting local hoarding, screens or barriers as necessary to shield particularly noisy 
activities. 

• Instructing operatives on the safe handling of scaffolding to avoid impacts from 
banging steel. 

 

118. The Applicant has continued that the increase in pupil numbers associated with the 
proposed development would correspond to an increase in traffic noise levels at school 
pick-up and drop-off times of less than 1dB(A) and a change in the overall daytime 
LAeq,16hrs noise level attributable to the use of the external play areas of less than 
2dB(A), both of which are commonly accepted to not be perceptible under normal 
conditions. 

 
119. Further, the Applicant has stated that they do not anticipate provision for the reinstated 

grass playing field to be made available out of school hours, with noise therefore only 
being generated during normal school hours. 

Page 23

7



 
120. The Applicant has therefore concluded that there would be no significant noise impact 

to residents from the additional pupil drop-off and collection or additional pupils playing 
outside, and that subject to the above-mentioned mitigation measures the potential 
impact of construction noise presents no constraint to the proposed development. 

 
121. In response to a consultation request with regards to this application, the County noise 

consultant (CNC) stated that the Applicant had made an appropriate assessment of the 
construction and operational noise associated with the proposed development, and that 
they therefore held no major concerns relating to the proposed development in terms of 
noise. 

 
122. However, the CNC did recommend a number of Conditions be applied to any 

permission granted to protect the amenity of existing noise sensitive receptors, 
including detailing the permitted construction hours and operational noise limits, and 
requiring the submission of a Construction Noise Management Plan and an Operational 
Noise Assessment. 

 
123. Meanwhile, GBC noted the importance of full consideration being given to the impact 

on residents in the area around the school in terms of noise and disturbance. 
 

124. Officers agree that the above-mentioned Conditions should be applied, in order to 
ensure that no significantly adverse noise impacts would arise throughout the 
construction and operation of the proposed development. 

 

Traffic Disturbance 

 
125. Representations have been received from local residents in respect of the increased 

impact arising from the proposal in respect of disturbance and traffic at peak school 
drop off and pick up times.  As with most schools officers recognise there will be a 
degree of impact arising from the proposal in this regard, but also that this impact is 
confined to two very short periods of the day.   
 

126. To manage the impact of the increase in the number of vehicles at drop of and pick up 
the applicant has provided a Car Park Management Plan and Travel Plan.  The Car 
Park Management Plan seeks to communicate a strategy for drop-off/pick-up for 
parent/guardians and carers, as well as staff to manage school peak congestion within 
the immediate area of the school at drop-off and pick-up times  It promotes and 
encourages Park and Stride for all parents/carers to the school, identifying the two 
sites close to the close which parents can use to drop off their children within a short 
walk. These are Tongham Community Association on Poyle Road (40 car parking 
spaces: 300m / 4-minute walk) and St Paul’s Church on Poyle Road (25-30 car parking 
spaces: 500m / 6-minute walk).  Use of these car parks during drop-off and collection 
reduces the pressure for on-street parking in proximity to the school, helps make 
pedestrian access/visibility access to the school safer and helps respect the local 
neighbours. 

 
127. The Travel Plan contains planned initiatives to encourage journeys to school on foot or 

bicycle/scooters like training and providing parking facilities, as well as publishing 
newsletters promoting active travel and considerate parking.   

 
128. Officers consider that there would be a moderate degree of additional impact on 

neighbouring dwellings arising from an increase in vehicle movements at peak drop off 

Page 24

7



and pick up times as with most schools.  However this is outweighed by the need for 
the additional school places to serve the local community. 

 

Conclusion 

 

129. Taking all of the above into account, Officers consider that the Applicant has 
demonstrated that the proposed development would not result in any significant or 
unacceptable air, light or noise impacts to existing residential amenity within the 
surrounding area. 

 
130. Therefore, Officers consider that subject to the application of the aforementioned 

Conditions, the proposal fulfils development plan policy requirements in relation to 
impact on residential amenity. 

 

HIGHWAYS, TRAFFIC AND ACCESS 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015-2034 

Policy D1 – Place shaping 

Policy D2 – Climate Change, sustainable design, construction and energy 

Policy ID3 – Sustainable transport for new developments 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 

Policy ID10 – Parking Standards for New Development 

 

131. NPPF paragraph 108 states that transport issues should be considered from the 
earliest stages of development proposals, so that, inter alia, the potential impacts of 
development on transport networks can be addressed, opportunities to promote 
walking, cycling and public transport use are identified and pursued, and the 
environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure can be identified. 
 

132. NPPF paragraph 114 states that in assessing specific applications for development, it 
should be ensured that, inter alia, opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes 
can be explored, and any significant impacts from the development on the transport 
network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost 
effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

 

133. NPPF paragraphs 115 and 116 state that development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  

 

134. NPPF paragraph 117 states that all developments that will generate significant 
amounts of movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the application 
should be supported by a transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely 
impacts of the proposal can be assessed. 

 

135. NPPF paragraph 128 states that planning decisions should support development that 
makes efficient use of land, taking into account the scope to promote sustainable travel 
modes that limit future car use. 

 
136. GBSS Policy D1 requires all new development, inter alia, to meet the needs of users 

and maximise opportunities for pedestrians and cyclists. 
 

Page 25

7



137. GBSS Policy D2 states that applications for development, including extensions to 
existing buildings should include information setting out how sustainable design and 
construction practice will be incorporated including (where applicable) measures that 
enable sustainable lifestyles for the occupants of the buildings, including electric car 
charging points. 

 
138. GBSS Policy ID3 requires new development to, inter alia, fund the provision of suitable 

access and transport infrastructure and services that are necessary to make it 
acceptable and applications for such should be supported by a Transport Assessment 
and Travel Plan. 

 

139. GBDMP Policy ID10 requires car and cycle parking to be provided to adopted 
standards. 

 

140. The Applicant has stated that current pupils are generally from the local area, with the 
primary modes of transport to and from St Paul’s being private vehicles, walking and 
cycling. Local roads typically have a 30 miles per hour (mph) limit and there are two 
pelican crossings within 500m of the school. There are also currently 10 pupil cycle 
parking spaces and 5 pupil scooter parking spaces within the school site. 

 
141. Private vehicles involved in pupil drop-off and pick-up park on local roads surrounding 

St Paul’s, where there are no parking restrictions. The school also already has an 
agreement in place within the local Tongham Community Association and St Paul’s 
Church for use of their associated car parks, which are respectively four and six 
minutes walk away. 

 
142. The Applicant has recognised that, as with most schools in residential areas, pupil 

drop-off and pick-up times are particularly busy periods and are aware of the 
implications these can have on neighbours. However, the Applicant has stated that the 
school liaises with neighbours and addresses any concerns as they arise as far as 
practicable. 

 
143. It is understood that the existing staff parking area provides space for the parking of 16 

vehicles, including provision of two visitor bays, one accessible bay and one with 
electric charging infrastructure. 

 
144. The proposed development includes enlarging this existing vehicle area to provide an 

additional five car parking spaces, including a further accessible bay and increased 
electric vehicle charging provision. The Applicant has stated that this increase has 
been calculated based on current staff mode share demand, and that the amount of 
accessible parking and electric vehicle charging would comply with relevant guidance 
and policies. 

 
145. The existing pedestrian and vehicular accesses would be retained as part of the 

proposed development, such that access would continue to be gained from West Ring 
and East Ring, and current drop-off and pick-up arrangements, including the 
agreements with Tongham Community Association and St Paul’s Church, would also 
continue. 

 
146. It is understood the Applicant has also agreed a number of improvements with the 

County Transport Development Planning (TDP) team to be undertaken alongside the 
proposed development, including the implementation of a one-way system on East 
Ring, a speed limit reduction to 20mph on roads surrounding the school, zebra 
crossings on both West Ring and Poyle Road, and dropped kerbs and tactile paving. 

 

Page 26

7



147. Increased cycle and scooter parking would also be provided within the school site in 
the form of a covered ‘Apollo’ shelter with ‘Sheffield’ stands that could accommodate 14 
cycles and 18 scooters, adjacent to the existing school entrance from West Ring. 

 
148. The Applicant has stated that during the construction phase of the proposed 

development, the existing staff and visitor car parking area would be used as a 
construction compound, with the existing access being temporarily widened to 
accommodate the larger vehicles required. Staff and visitors would need to park on 
local roads during this time, but this is only expected to have a minimal impact due to 
the lack of restrictions, the limited number of vehicles involved, and the temporary 
nature. 

 
149. Construction-related vehicles would be routed to arrive from and depart towards the 

east of St Paul’s, using the A31, White Lane, Poyle Road, and The Cardinals, thereby 
avoiding the centre of Tongham. A delivery schedule would be implemented to ensure 
too many vehicles do not arrive or leave at the same time, and a Traffic Marshall and 
jet wheel wash would also be on-site. 

 
150. Construction hours are proposed to be between 8am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays, 

and between 8am and 1pm on Saturdays where required. No movements would take 
place during school drop-off and pick-up times, and prior approval would be sought for 
any abnormal loads that may be required. 

 
151. The Applicant has concluded that additional vehicle movements generated by the 

proposed development would be accommodated within the existing road network and 
expanded staff and visitor car parking area, and that in any case the agreed highway 
measures would facilitate an improvement for pedestrians and cycle and scooter users. 
Therefore, there would be no significant highway or transport impacts as a result of the 
proposed development. 

 
152. In response to a consultation request with regards to this application, the TDP team 

raised no objection to the proposal, subject to the application of seven Conditions on 
any planning permission which may be granted. 

 
153. These Conditions include requirements to implement the proposed off-site highway 

improvements prior to the first occupation of the new school extension, to mark out 
space for vehicles to park and turn prior to the first occupation of the new school 
extension, to submit and implement a scheme for the provision of cycle and scooter 
parking spaces and e-bike charging facilities prior to the first occupation of the new 
school extension, to submit and implement a scheme for the provision of electric 
vehicle charging points and cabling prior to the first use of the vehicle parking spaces, 
to promote the Park and Stride initiative using car parks at Tongham Community 
Association and St Paul’s Church, to submit an updated school travel plan prior to the 
first intake of additional pupils, and to submit a CTMP prior to the commencement of 
development. 

 

Officer Assessment 

 

154. Officers consider that the Applicant has demonstrated a clear need for the expanded 
staff and visitor car parking area, in accommodating the increased staff numbers that 
would be generated by the expanded school, and consider that the scale of the 
proposed expansion is both sufficient and acceptable. 

 

Page 27

7



155. Further, Officers recognise that local roads surrounding St Paul’s have capacity to 
accommodate a potential increase in traffic and parking associated with increased pupil 
drop-off and pick-up numbers, that any increase would be limited to the start and end of 
each school day, and that there are no parking restrictions. 

 
156. Officers agree that the Condition recommended by the TDP team which would require 

the submission of a CTMP should be applied to any permission granted as full 
construction traffic details have not been provided by the Applicant as part of this 
application. Officers recognise that a schedule would be implemented to control the 
arrival and departure of construction vehicles, but consider that the submission of full 
construction details would ensure that all matters are covered. 

 
157. Officers also agree that the remaining Conditions recommended by the TDP team 

should also be applied in order to ensure the provision at the earliest opportunity of 
safe and sustainable travel choices. A Condition should also be applied to control 
construction hours, with a specific restriction on movements during the peak morning 
drop-off and afternoon pick-up hours. 

 
158. Taking all of the above into account, Officers consider the Applicant has appropriately 

considered the potential impacts of the proposed development on the existing transport 
network and that safe and suitable access to the school site would continue to be 
available. 

 
159. Further, opportunities to promote walking, cycling and scooting have been identified 

and would be implemented at the earliest opportunity. 
 

160. Subject to the application of the aforementioned Conditions, it will be ensured that the 
proposed development would not result in any significant or unacceptable impacts on 
the local road network during either the construction or operational phase of the 
expanded school. 

 
161. Therefore, Officers consider that subject to the application of these Conditions, the 

proposal fulfils development plan policy requirements in relation to highways, traffic and 
access. 

 

LANDSCAPING AND TREES 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015-2034 

Policy D1 – Place shaping 

Policy D2 – Climate Change, sustainable design, construction and energy 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 

Policy P7 – Biodiversity in New Developments 

 

162. NPPF paragraph 135 states that planning decisions should ensure that developments 
are visually attractive as a result of appropriate and effective landscaping. 

 
163. NPPF paragraph 136 states that trees make an important contribution to the character 

and quality of urban environments and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate 
change. Planning decisions should ensure that that opportunities are taken to 
incorporate trees elsewhere in developments, that appropriate measures are in place to 
secure the long-term maintenance of newly-planted trees, and that existing trees are 
retained wherever possible. Applicants and planning authorities should work with 
highways officers and tree officers to ensure that the right trees are planted in the right 

Page 28

7



places, and solutions are found that are compatible with highways standards and the 
needs of different users. 

 
164. NPPF paragraph 180 states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance 

the natural and local environment by recognising the wider benefits from natural capital 
and ecosystem services – including the economic and other benefits of trees and 
woodland. 

 
165. GBSS Policy D1 states that all new development will be designed to include high 

quality landscaping that reflects the local distinctive character. 
 

166. GBSS Policy D2 states that applications for development, including extensions to 
existing buildings should include information setting out how sustainable design and 
construction practice will be incorporated including (where applicable) the use of 
landscaping to reduce energy consumption. 

 
167. GBDMP Policy P7 states that: 
 

i. Tree canopies are expected to be retained and new tree planting is expected to focus 
on the creation of new connected tree canopies and/or the extension of existing 
canopies, unless doing so would adversely impact on sensitive species or habitats. 
Tree planting schemes are expected to provide resilience in terms of climate, disease 
and ageing, incorporating large species with long lifespans where opportunities arise. 

ii. Planting schemes are expected to use UK sourced, native species, unless imported 
strains of native species would offer greater resilience and are free from disease. 

 

168. The Surrey Landscape Character Assessment: Guildford Borough dated April 2015 
identifies that the remainder of the application site outside of the cluster of existing 
school buildings lies within Landscape Character Area (LCA) LR1 (Wanborough 
Wooded Rolling Claylands). 

 
169. This LCA covers a large rural area of western Surrey between Tongham, Ash, and 

western Guildford, and is described as generally comprising gently rolling lowland and 
a mix of farmland, woodland and parkland. However, it is recognised that the LCA also 
comprises substantial areas of largely 20th century dwellings and modern ribbon 
development, mainly along railway lines and rural roads. 

 

170. The Applicant has stated that both the northern and southern boundaries of the 
application site currently comprise lines of predominantly semi-mature, native trees, 
which provide screening and are significant in terms of their quality and importance to 
local character and the surrounding streetscape. 

 
171. One, category C tree would require removal as part of the proposed development, as it 

would fall within the footprint of the school extension, and minor facilitation pruning of 
the canopies of the trees to the immediate east of the existing car parking area 
entrance would also be required. 

 
172. The Applicant has acknowledged that incursions into the root protection areas (RPAs) 

of some of the retained trees may be necessary, but has stated that such would be 
minor, no long-term damage would occur, and that all works would be undertaken in 
accordance with their submitted Tree Protection Plan and relevant British Standard 
Guidance. 

 

Page 29

7



173. The remainder of the existing trees and scrub along both the northern and southern 
boundaries would be retained and protected, with additional native planting being 
undertaken between the new southern external hard play area and residential 
properties to the south in order to provide further screening. The existing tree and 
shrub area in the north-eastern corner of the school site would also be retained and 
enhanced with additional planting. 

 
174. The Applicant has therefore concluded that there are otherwise few arboricultural 

constraints to the proposed development and the overall arboricultural impact would be 
negligible. 

 
175. In response to a consultation request with regards to this application, the County 

Arboriculturalist noted that the tree to be removed to facilitate the proposed 
development is low quality, with limited remaining contribution, and considers that its 
loss would be adequately mitigated by the proposed replacement planting. Further, the 
County Arboriculturalist considers the protective fencing to be installed around retained 
trees during the construction phase to be both adequate and acceptable. 

 
176. The County Arboriculturalist therefore agrees that the arboricultural impacts of the 

proposed development would be very low. 
 

177. However, the County Arboriculturalist also stated that suitable ground protection 
measures would be required in association with the works that would encroach onto the 
RPAs of retained trees, and that such measures should be submitted within an updated 
Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS). 

 
178. Further, the County Arboriculturalist noted that the final drainage design of the 

reinstated large grass field has not yet be agreed, and stated that the Applicant would 
need to ensure the chosen scheme does not encroach onto the RPAs of surrounding 
trees. Details of the final design would therefore need to be submitted and agreed prior 
to commencement of such reinstatement, and could be included within the 
aforementioned AMS. 

 
179. The County Landscape Officer (CLO) also responded to a consultation request stating 

that as the scale of built form would be modest and the landscaping scheme is 
acceptable, they hold no objection from a landscape and visual perspective. The CLO 
recommends that a Condition be applied to any planning permission granted to ensure 
this proposed landscaping is implemented as soon as possible and is effectively 
managed and maintained in the long term. 

 

Officer Assessment 

 

180. Officers recognise that the application site lies on the very edge of the LCA and is 
entirely within the defined urban area, being surrounded by residential development. 
Indeed, Officers note that the aforementioned Kingston Close/Poplar Close 
development directly to the east of St Paul’s also lies within the same LCA as the 
majority of St Paul’s.  Given these characteristics the impact of the proposal on the 
LCA is negligible in this case. 

 

181. Further, Officers note that the trees and vegetation along the northern and southern 
boundaries of the site, and within the north-eastern corner, would be retained, 
protected and enhanced, and have already concluded that such screening would aid in 
limiting the impact of the proposed development. 

 

Page 30

7



182. Officers consider that the limited tree removal required as part of the proposed 
development is necessary, that the tree and root protection measures are acceptable, 
and that the landscaping scheme is suitable. Officers agree with the County 
Arboriculturalist and CLO that Conditions should be applied to any permission granted 
to ensure that these protection measures and the landscaping scheme are 
implemented as proposed. 

 
183. Taking all of the above into account, Officers recognise that a vast majority of the 

existing trees within the application site would be retained as part of the proposed 
development and would continue to contribute to the character of the area. Subject to 
the application of the aforementioned Conditions, these trees would be protected 
during the construction phase and enhanced by the planting of new trees as part of the 
proposed landscaping scheme. 

 
184. Therefore, Officers consider that subject to the application of these Conditions, the 

proposal fulfils development plan policy requirements in relation to landscaping and 
trees. 

 

ECOLOGY AND BIODIVERSITY 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015-2034 

Policy ID4 – Green and blue infrastructure 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 

Policy P6 – Protecting Important Habitats and Species 

Policy P7 – Biodiversity in New Developments 

 

185. NPPF paragraph 180 states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by: 

 

a) Protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value 
and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in 
the development plan). 

b) Recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider 
benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the economic and 
other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and 
woodland. 

d) Minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future 
pressures. 

 
186.  Paragraph 001 of the PPG titled Biodiversity Net Gain states that Biodiversity Net Gain 

(BNG) is a way of creating and improving biodiversity by requiring development to have 
a positioned impact on biodiversity. Whilst at the present time in England, at least a 
10% increase in biodiversity value is required under a statutory framework introduced 
by Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (inserted by the 
Environment Act 2021), this application was submitted prior to the implementation of 
statutory BNG, and therefore the mandatory requirement to deliver a 10% increase in 
biodiversity value does not apply.  Instead the requirements of the relevant 
development plan policy on BNG cited in the following paragraphs will therefore have to 
be satisfied. 

 
187. GBSS Policy ID4 requires new development to deliver gains in biodiversity and states 

permission will not be granted for proposals that are likely to materially harm the nature 

Page 31

7



conservation interests of local sites unless clear justification is provided that the need 
for development clearly outweighs the impact on biodiversity. 

 

188. GBDMP Policy P6 requires development proposals for sites that contain habitats 
hosting priority species to preserve the relevant ecological features through the 
application of the mitigation hierarchy, and to deliver enhancements to the ecological 
features.  

 
189. GBDMP Policy P7 states, inter alia, that development proposals are required to seek 

maximum biodiversity gain on site balanced with delivering other planning priorities and 
that planting and landscaping schemes and Sustainable Drainage Systems are 
expected to incorporate species, habitats and management regimes that provide best 
biodiversity benefit.  As this application was submitted prior to the introduction of 
Mandatory BNG point 12 of this policy which states ‘Qualifying development proposals 
submitted after the national scheme comes into effect are required to achieve a 
biodiversity net gain of at least 20 per cent, or the advised national minimum amount, 
whichever is greater, measured using the national biodiversity net gain calculation 
methodology’ does not apply and the more general requirement for maximum 
biodiversity gain only needs to be met in this case.  The definition of maximum 
biodiversity gain is provided in the document and means that opportunities for 
enhancing and supporting biodiversity on site have been fully explored and 
implemented, balanced with the delivery of other planning priorities. In practice, this 
means that biodiversity should be considered from the outset of design work. 

 

SPECIES PROTECTION 

 
190. The applicant submitted a Preliminary Ecological appraisal with this application which 

concluded the following: 
 

• Overall the study site is of low nature conservation value. The western half of 
the site comprises chiefly buildings and hardstanding of negligible conservation 
value. The pond is of low conservation value. The unmanaged grassland in the 
eastern half of the site is floristically poor, but there is scrub and native-species 
hedgerow present, and the site appears to be used by foraging badger and has 
the potential to support slow-worm which would raise the conservation value of 
the site. The individual onsite trees and hedges along the site boundaries might 
provide foraging / commuting opportunities for bats and afford limited nesting 
opportunities for common bird species. 

• There are desk study records for amphibians within the study area 2012-2022, 
with the closest great crested newt record recorded 370 m to the north. It is 
considered that the habitats between this water body and the site, comprising 
housing and road infrastructure, will provide a barrier to newt dispersal to the 
proposed development.  In addition, the onsite pond is considered sub-optimal 
for great crested newt and no great crested newts have been recorded during 
pond dipping activities. However, either palmate and / or smooth newt has been 
reported from this pond (the closest desk study record for either species is 440 
m distant), and best practice measures should be employed to ensure that this 
population is not impacted.  Both grass snake and slow-worm have been 
recorded from the adjacent site which was developed for housing in 2020/2021. 
Whilst the habitats in the western part of the site (amenity grassland and 
buildings / hardstanding) are largely considered sub-optimal for reptiles, the 
undisturbed, unmanaged grassland habitat in the eastern half of the site does 
provide potentially suitable habitat for reptiles, and also lies in proximity to the 
area developed for housing to the north east.  In addition, the majority of school 

Page 32

7



site lies within a green Impact Risk Zone for great crested newts (Guildford 
Borough Council – Naturespace Partnership) which means that there is 
moderate habitat suitability for great crested newts, and that great crested 
newts may be present. A small area at the eastern end of the site falls within the 
amber Impact Risk Zone for great crested newts, suggesting that this habitat is 
suitable for great crested newts and suggesting that great crested newts are 
likely to be present. 

• The site appears suitable for foraging and commuting bats with a variety of 
habitats suitable for bats. 

• The wider site is considered suitable for nesting birds. 

• There is the potential for badger to establish a sett within the site, particularly 
within the secluded unmanaged semi-improved neutral grassland area. 

• There is suitable habitat across the site for hedgehog, chiefly within the eastern 
half where there is unmanaged grassland and boundary edging of hedgerows 
with trees. 

 

Following comments from the County Ecologist on the information submitted by the 

applicant further survey information was requested and provided by the applicant in 

respect of the following: 

 

Slow worms – a Phase 2 Survey Report on Reptiles (TSA Ecology, June 2024) 

identified a population of slow worm on the site which required mitigation.  The 

applicant is proposing to translocate this population to a receptor site at Ash Green 

Meadows Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space (SANG) and a mitigation strategy 

(TSA Ecology, September 2024) has been submitted which is considered acceptable 

by the County Ecologist.   The mitigation strategy contains the detail on how the 

reptiles will be protected throughout the proposed phasing of the scheme, and how the 

translocation will be undertaken. Ash Green Meadows has already had several reptile 

enhancement features created, and a single hibernaculum was considered to be 

sufficient to demonstrate enhancement for reptiles for this scheme. Implementation of 

the mitigation strategy would be secured by condition. The County Ecologist has 

advised that this is particularly important with reference to the phasing scheme for 

delivery of the sports pitch. As suggested by the applicant in email correspondence 

(dated 19th September 2024) no development to the sports pitch should be permitted 

until evidence is provided that the reptile population has been appropriately 

translocated in-line with the agreed methods outlined in the mitigation strategy. 

 

Badgers - The applicant’s badger survey report (TSA Ecology, July 2024a) indicated 

that the proposed development works would not impact any badger setts or 

significantly hinder commuting badger, however in the absence of mitigation there was 

potential to impact foraging badger. Mitigation measures to minimise this were 

proposed and could be controlled by conditions.  A pre-commencement badger 

walkover is also to be secured under condition as sett creation could occur due to 

badger activity on site. The walkover should be undertaken by a suitably qualified 

ecologist and completed within one month of works commencing. 

Great Crested Newts – detailed survey work on the site has determined that the 
presence of GCN is very unlikely therefore no specific further survey was needed. The 
applicant will be carrying out a very meticulous search and clearance of the site for 
reptiles in accordance with the submitted strategy, and in the unlikely event that a GCN 
is present they would also be detected at that stage and works would need to stop. 
This requirement would be controlled by planning condition. 

Page 33

7



 
BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN 

 
191. The proposals would result in the extension of the school encroaching into land 

currently used in association with the school’s sports provision and reinstatement of the 
school playing pitch on land to the east in an area which has more recently become 
overgrown through non-use. As already stated, the educational need for the expansion 
of the school in this way can be given great weight in the planning balance.   
 

192. A Biodiversity Metric calculation has been submitted with the application which 
indicates that following the development a biodiversity net gain of 11% would be 
achieved through the provision of new vegetation and trees around the periphery of the 
site and retention of the wildlife area at the far eastern end of the site. Wildlife 
enhancements are also proposed, including creation of new scrub habitats and species 
rich grass and wildflower areas, enhancement of existing habitats, and installation of 
bird and bat boxes and hedgehog houses.   

 
193. The County Ecologist has commented that the calculations within the submitted metric 

do not entirely concur with the proposed landscaping shown on the submitted 
drawings, but they are satisfied that even taking this into account an overall a 
biodiversity gain would be achieved as opposed to any loss.   

 
194. Officers consider that the applicants have comprehensively explored opportunities for 

enhancing and supporting biodiversity on site as part of the proposal such that 
maximum net gain is achieved, and the proposal accords with development plan 
requirements in that regard. 
 

CONCLUSION ON ECOLOGY 

 

195. The application site does not lie within any national or local statutory designated 
conservation areas, with the closest such being Cardinals Field SNCI some 50m to the 
north of St Pauls.  The Applicant has carried out an appropriate assessment of existing 
ecological and biodiversity features within the application site, and has identified 
appropriate mitigation and enhancement measures in accordance with development 
plan policy and national legislative requirements. 

 

196. The County Ecologist is satisfied with the application subject to appropriate conditions.  
Officers consider that subject to the application of these Conditions, the proposal fulfils 
development plan policy requirements in relation to ecology and biodiversity. 

 

FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015-2034 

Policy P4 – Flooding, flood risk and groundwater protection zones 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 

Policy P11 – Sustainable Surface Water Management 

 

197. NPPF paragraph 173 states that when determining any planning applications, planning 
authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, 
applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment. 

 

Page 34

7



198. NPPF paragraph 175 states that major developments should incorporate sustainable 
drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The 
systems used should: 

 

a) Take account of advice from the Lead Local Flood Authority. 
b) Have appropriate proposed minimum operational standards. 
c) Have maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable standard of 

operation for the lifetime of the development; and 
d) Where possible, provide multifunctional benefits. 

 

199. NPPF paragraph 180 states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by preventing new and existing development from 
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of water pollution. Development should, wherever possible, help to 
improve local environmental conditions such as water quality. 

 
200. GBSS Policy P4 states that all development proposals are required to demonstrate that 

land drainage will be adequate and that they will not result in an increase in surface 
water run-off. Proposals should have regard to appropriate mitigation measures 
identified in the Guildford Surface Water Management Plan or Ash Surface Water 
Study. Priority will be given to incorporating SuDS (Sustainable Drainage Systems) to 
manage surface water. 

 
201. GBDMP Policy P11 requires, inter alia, that drainage schemes intercept as much 

rainwater and runoff as possible and development proposals follow the discharge 
hierarchy and prioritise the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) for all surface 
water that is not captured for later use. Alternative drainage systems may be used only 
if there is clear evidence that SuDS would be inappropriate. 

 

202. As stated previously, the entirety of the school site lies within Flood Zone 1, designated 
by the EA as having the lowest probability of flooding.  The nearest watercourse to the 
application site is the Blackwater River, which is some 735m to the north-west at its 
closest point, on the opposite side of the A331 Blackwater Valley Road.  The school is 
therefore at very low risk of fluvial flooding. 

 
203. In respect of surface water drainage details of a sustainable drainage system have 

been submitted with the application which includes the use of porous tarmacadam on 
the proposed new hard surfaces play areas. Surface water from these areas, as well as 
the extended staff and visitor car park, would be collected on site via a series of 
attenuation blanks and an attenuation tank. 

 
204. Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has raised no objection to the proposal subject to 

the application of suitably worded Conditions to ensure that the details of final SuDS 
scheme is submitted prior to the commencement of development.  A further condition 
would require the submission of a verification report prior to the first occupation of the 
development, in order to demonstrate that the surface water drainage system has been 
constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail any minor variations), provide the 
details of any management company and state the national grid reference of any key 
drainage elements, and confirm any defects have been rectified. 

 

Officer Assessment 

 

205. Taking all of the above into account, Officers consider that the Applicant has carried out 
an appropriate and proportionate assessment of flood and surface water risk at the 

Page 35

7



application site and has demonstrated that the proposed development would not 
increase flood risk to the school site or surrounding area. 

 

206. Therefore, Officers consider that subject to the application of appropriate Conditions, 
the proposal fulfils development plan policy requirements in relation to flood risk and 
drainage. 

 

HERITAGE 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015-2034 

Policy D3 – Historic environment 

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 

Policy D23 – Non-designated Heritage Assets 

 
207. NPPF paragraph 209 states that the effect of an application on the significance of a 

non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the 
application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated 
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of 
any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 

 
208. GBSS Policy D3 states that the historic environment will be conserved and enhanced in 

a manner appropriate to its significance. 
 

209. GBDMP Policy D23 requires an archaeological desk-based assessment on 
development sites exceeding 0.4ha. and where archaeological remains of significance 
are found to exist, applicants are expected to demonstrate that the particular 
archaeological interest of the site can be justifiably preserved in situ.  

 

210. The application site is not designated as either a County Site of Archaeological 
Importance or an Area of High Archaeological Potential, with the closest such sites 
being respectively located at Ash Manor Medieval Moated Site, roughly 1.3km to the 
north-east, and Tongham Historic Core, some 260m to the south-west, at their closest 
points. However as the application site covers an area of 1.27ha, in accordance with 
GBDMP Policy D23 an archaeological desk-based assessment was required and has 
been submitted. 

 
211. The submitted Archaeological Assessment identifies a number of Mesolithic, Neolithic, 

Late Bronze Age, Roman, Iron Age, 1st Century, and 14th Century finds in the local 
area. However it concludes that this archaeological potential is unlikely to translate to 
the application site owing to the differences in distances and geological zones involved, 
and that the archaeological potential is therefore low to moderate.  However given 
evidence of medieval pottery production in the vicinity, the report recommends further 
archaeological investigation is recommended, with the preferred method of fieldwork 
being a trial trench evaluation of the site of the new building and new hard surfaced 
play areas. 

 
212. In response to a consultation request with regards to this application, the County 

Archaeological Officer states that they agree with the Applicant’s conclusion insofar as 
the further investigation will enable the identification of any buried remains that may be 
present and allow suitable mitigation measures to be devised if necessary. 

 
213. The County Archaeological Officer therefore recommends a Condition should be 

attached to any permission granted, requiring the implementation of a programme of 

Page 36

7



archaeological work in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation which has 
been submitted to and approved by the CPA. 

 
214. Officers agree that such a Condition should be applied in order to ensure no harm 

would be caused to potential archaeological remains within the application site and that 
such could be recorded and conserved appropriately. 

 
215. Officers consider that subject to the application of this Condition, the proposal fulfils 

development plan policy requirements in relation to heritage. 
 

WASTE MANAGEMENT ISSUES 

 

Surrey Waste Local Plan 2019-2033 

Policy 4 – Sustainable Construction and Waste Management in New Development 

 

216. SWLP Policy 4 states that planning permission for any development will be granted 
where it has been demonstrated that: 

 

i. The waste generated during the construction, demolition and excavation phase of 
development is limited to the minimum quantity necessary. 

ii. Opportunities for re-use and for the recycling of construction, demolition and 
excavation residues and waste on site are maximised. 

iii. On-site facilities to manage the waste arising during the operation of the 
development of an appropriate type and scale have been considered as part of the 
development. 

iv. Integrated storage to facilitate reuse and recycling of waste is incorporated in the 
development. 

 

217. The Applicant has stated that there are expected to be no requirements for basement 
excavation or piling as part of the proposed development, although the construction of 
foundations for the proposed extension would be included. The Applicant has also 
stated that although they considered the re-use of material on-site, this was not likely to 
be possible due to the scale of the proposed development. 

 
218. Officers note that waste generated during the construction of the proposed 

development would likely be limited to the removal of tarmacadam and concrete from 
the existing external play areas and circulation spaces. 

 
219. However, as stated previously, full construction details have not been submitted by the 

Applicant as part of this application, and Officers have already considered that a 
Condition should be applied to any permission granted to ensure that such details are 
provided. 

 
220. Officers consider that such a submission should include details of how waste generated 

during the construction of the proposed development would be limited and managed. 
 

221. Subject to the application of such a Condition, and the subsequent submission and 
implementation of waste management measures, Officers consider that the proposal 
would fulfil development plan policy requirements in relation to waste management 
issues. 

 

Human Rights Implications 

 

Page 37

7



222. The Human Rights Act Guidance for Interpretation, contained in the Preamble to the 
Agenda is expressly incorporated into this report and must be read in conjunction with 
the following paragraph. 

 
223. In this case, it is the Officers view that the scale of any impacts is not considered 

sufficient to engage Article 6 or Article 1 of Protocol 1 and, taking into account the 
representations made in relation to the impact of the proposed development on 
residential amenity,  impacts can be mitigated by Condition. As such, this proposal is 
not considered to interfere with any Convention right. 

 
224. The CPA is required by section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to the 

need to eliminate conduct prohibited by the Act, advance equality of opportunity, and 
foster good relations between people with protected characteristics and people who do 
not. The level of ‘due regard’ considered sufficient in any particular context depends on 
the facts. 

 
225. In this case, the CPA has considered its duty under the Equality Act 2010 and 

concludes that this application does not give rise to any considerations on equality. 
 

Conclusion 

  

226. This application is submitted seeking planning permission for the construction and use 
of a double-height extension to the rear of the existing school buildings, an enlarged 
car parking area and two new multi-use games areas, as well as the reinstatement of 
the currently unused grass area as a full-sized playing pitch. 

 
227. This would allow St Pauls to increase its capacity by more than double and enable 

children to stay on until the age of 11 as a one-form entry primary school. 
 

228. Officers are satisfied that there is an identified need for the proposed expansion, that it 
would result in benefits to the Urban Open Space designation, that it would be 
appropriately designed, and that it would make efficient use of natural resources. 

 

229. Officers are also satisfied that subject to Conditions the proposed development would 
be appropriately landscaped, that such landscaping would be appropriately maintained, 
that retained trees would be appropriately protected, that sustainable travel modes 
would be promoted, and that ecology and biodiversity features would be protected and 
enhanced. 

 
230. Further, no significantly adverse air quality, lighting, noise, transport, surface water or 

archaeological impacts would arise. 
 

231. Therefore, Officers conclude that the application fulfils development plan policy 
requirements, and that planning permission should be granted subject to the imposition 
of Conditions. 

 

Recommendation 

 

It is recommended that pursuant to Regulation 3 of The Town and Country Planning General 

Regulations 1992, the Committee grants outline planning permission for application ref: 

GU24/CON/00010, subject to the recommended planning conditions. 

 

 

Page 38

7



Conditions: 

 IMPORTANT - CONDITION NOS. 4, 7, 11, 15, 23 AND 24 MUST BE DISCHARGED 
PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE DEVELOPMENT. 

 

 Approved Plans 

 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in all respects in accordance 
with the following plans/drawings: 

  

 Drawing No. HBS-00-00-DR-A-1100 Rev P02 Site Location Plan dated 7 February 
2024 

 Drawing No. HBS-00-00-DR-A-1101 Rev P03 Proposed Block Plan dated 7 February 
2024 

 Drawing No. HBS-00-00-DR-A-1106 Rev P02 Proposed Area Requirements dated 26 
January 2024 

 Drawing No. HBS-00-01-DR-A-1113 Rev P03 Proposed Roof Plan dated 26 January 
2024 

 Drawing No. HBS-00-SI-DR-E-6100 Rev P02 Electrical Services Proposed External 
Lighting Principles of design, for planning dated 26 January 2024 

 Drawing No. HBS-00-XX-DR-A-1121 Rev P03 Proposed Elevations dated 26 January 
2024 

 Drawing No. SWN-ZZ-00-D-L-800 Rev P3 Proposed Landscape Plan dated 29 
January 2024 

 Commencement 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this permission. The Applicant shall notify the 
County Planning Authority in writing of the date of commencement within seven 
working days of such commencement. 

 Construction Hours 

3. All operations and activities related to the construction of the development hereby 
permitted shall only be carried out between the hours of 0800 and 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays and 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays. 

 Notwithstanding the above, there shall be no HGV movements to or from the 
application site related to the construction of the development hereby permitted 
between the hours of 0830 and 0915 and 1445 and 1600 Mondays to Fridays. 

Page 39

7



 No operations and activities related to the construction of the development hereby 
permitted shall be carried out at any time on Sundays or any Public, Bank, or 
National Holiday. 

 Drainage 

4. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, details of the 
design of a surface water drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the County Planning Authority. The design must satisfy the SuDS Hierarchy 
and be compliant with the national Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS, 
NPPF and Ministerial Statement on SuDS.  

 The required drainage details shall include: 

 a) Evidence that the proposed final solution will effectively manage the 1 in 30 (+35% 
allowance for climate change) and 1 in 100 (+45% allowance for climate change) 
storm events, during all stages of the development. The final solution should follow 
the principles set out in the approved drainage strategy. Associated discharge rates 
and storage volumes shall be provided using a maximum discharge rate of 1.2 l/s for 
the 1 in 1 year rainfall event and 3.5 l/s for the 1 in 100 year rainfall event (plus 
climate change allowance). 

 b) Detailed drainage design drawings and calculations to include: a finalised drainage 
layout detailing the location of drainage elements, pipe diameters, levels, and long 
and cross sections of each element including details of any flow restrictions and 
maintenance/risk reducing features (silt traps, inspection chambers etc.). 

 c) Confirmation of the remedial works to the existing drainage system. 

 d) A plan showing exceedance flows (i.e. during rainfall greater than design events or 
during blockage) and how property on and off site will be protected from increased 
flood risk. 

 e) Details of drainage management responsibilities and maintenance regimes for the 
drainage system. 

 f) Details of how the drainage system will be protected during construction and how 
runoff (including any pollutants) from the development site will be managed before 
the drainage system is operational. 

5. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a verification report 
carried out by a qualified drainage engineer must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the County Planning Authority. This must demonstrate that the surface 
water drainage system has been constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail 
any minor variations), provide the details of any management company and state the 
national grid reference of any key drainage elements (surface water attenuation 
devices/areas, flow restriction devices and outfalls), and confirm any defects have 
been rectified. 

 Dust 

 

Page 40

7



6. The construction of the development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with sections 3 and 5 of the Air Quality and Dust Management Plan 
Version 1.0 dated 22 April 2024 submitted as part of the application. 

 Arboriculture 

7. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, an updated 
Arboricultural Method Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
County Planning Authority. 

 Such a Statement shall include: 

 a) Details of the types of ground protection measures to be implemented in relation to 
the hard surfacing within root protection areas of trees to be retained. 

 b) Details of measures to prevent potential damage to tree canopies in relation to 
facilitation pruning works. 

 c) Confirmation of the final drainage layout and design for the football pitch. 

 d) An updated Tree Protection Plan if the final drainage layout and design for the 
football pitch requires incursions into the root protection areas of trees to be retained. 

 The updated Statement shall thereafter be implemented and complied with at all 
times during the construction of the development hereby permitted. 

 Landscaping 

8. The landscaping of the development hereby permitted, as shown on Drawing No. 
SWN-ZZ-00-D-L-800 Rev P3 Proposed Landscape Plan dated 29 January 2024 
approved as part of the application, shall be implemented in full within the first 
available planting season following the commencement of construction of the 
development hereby permitted and retained thereafter as such. 

9. Within 6 months of the commencement of implementation of the landscaping of the 
development hereby permitted, a 5 year landscape management and maintenance 
plan shall be submitted to the County Planning Authority for approval in writing. 

 Such a Plan shall include: 

 a) Drawing(s), where appropriate, and a written report, including long-term design 
objectives. 

 b) Timetable for annual works, including annual mulching and watering through the 
summer months with industry standard watering bags being provided to all new trees. 

 c) Management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas. 

 The landscape management and maintenance plan shall be implemented as 
approved in accordance with the timetable and all other details contained. 

10. In the event of the failure of any soft landscape planting within the first five years of 
planting, such planting shall be replaced with an equivalent number of live specimens 
of the same species and size by not later than the end of the first available planting 
season following the failure, damage or removal of that planting. 

Page 41

7



 

 Archaeology 

11. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, the Applicant shall 
secure the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a Written Scheme of Investigation which has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the County Planning Authority. 

 Pitch Layout 

12. The playing field and pitches hereby permitted shall be constructed and laid out in 
accordance with Drawing No. SWN-ZZ-00-D-L-800 Rev P3 Proposed Landscape 
Plan dated 29 January 2024 approved as part of the application and the standards 
and methodologies set out in the Sport England Guidance Note Natural Turf for Sport 
Revision 002 dated May 2011, and shall be made available for use before the first 
occupation of the development hereby permitted. 

13. Development of the sports pitch should not commence until evidence is provided that 
the reptile population has been appropriately translocated in-line with the agreed 
methods outlined in the reptile mitigation strategy (TSA Ecology, September 2024).  

 Lighting 

14. The installation and operation of lighting in association with the development hereby 
permitted shall be carried out in accordance with section 7.11 of the Supporting 
Planning Statement dated February 2024, sections 7.11 and 7.19 of the Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal dated February 2024, and section 4.7 of the Design and Access 
Statement Rev P02 dated January 2024, all submitted as part of the application. 

 Noise 

15. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Construction 
Noise Management Plan (CNMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the County Planning Authority. 

 Such a CNMP shall include, but not be limited to: 

 a) Noise limits at noise sensitive receptors. 

 b) Noise impact assessment. 

 c) Mitigation measures. 

 The approved CNMP shall thereafter be implemented and complied with at all times 
during the construction of the development hereby permitted. 

16. The Rating Level, LAr,Tr, of the noise emitted from all plant, equipment and 
machinery (including any kitchen extract etc) associated with the application site shall 
not exceed the existing representative LA90 background sound level at any time by 
more than +5 dB(A) at the nearest noise sensitive receptors (residential or noise 
sensitive building). The assessment shall be conducted in accordance with the 
current version of British Standard (BS) 4142:2014+A1:2019 Methods for rating and 
assessing industrial and commercial sound. 

Page 42

7



The existing representative LA90 background sound level shall be determined by 
measurement that shall be sufficient to characterise the environment. The 
representative level should be justified following guidance contained within the 
current version of BS 4142:2014:A1+2019 and agreed with the County Planning 
Authority. 

 Highways, Traffic and Access 

17. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, the off-site highway 
works as detailed in sections 5.9.3 and 7.4.3, Figures 5-2 and 5-3, and Appendices E 
and I of the Transport Assessment Version 0.3 dated February 2024; Appendix 1 of 
the Supporting Planning Statement dated February 2024; and the email from Agent 
dated 30 September 2024, all submitted as part of the application, shall be 
constructed and implemented in general accordance with the details therein. 

18. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, space shall be laid 
out in accordance with Drawings Nos. HBS-00-00-DR-A-1101 Rev P03 Proposed 
Block Plan dated 7 February 2024, HBS-00-00-DR-A-1106 Rev P02 Proposed Area 
Requirements dated 26 January 2024, HBS-00-00-DR-A-1112 Rev P03 Proposed 
Ground Floor Plan dated 26 January 2024, HBS-00-01-DR-A-1113 Rev P03 
Proposed Roof Plan dated 26 January 2024, HBS-00-SI-DR-E-6100 Rev P02 
Electrical Services Proposed External Lighting Principles of design, for planning 
dated 26 January 2024, and SWN-ZZ-00-D-L-800 Rev P3 Proposed Landscape Plan 
dated 29 January 2024 submitted as part of the application for vehicles to be parked 
and to turn so that they may enter and leave the site in forward gear. The parking and 
turning area shall thereafter be retained and maintained for its designated purpose. 

19. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, facilities for the 
secure, lit and covered parking of 14 No. bicycles and 20 No. scooter spaces and a 
charging point with timer for e-bikes shall be provided within the site in accordance 
with a scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 
Authority. The approved facilities and charging point shall thereafter be retained and 
maintained for use in connection with the development hereby permitted. 

20. Prior to the first use of the extended vehicle parking area hereby permitted, at least 
50% of the new parking spaces shall be provided with a fast-charge electric vehicle 
charging point (current minimum requirements - 7kW Mode 3 with Type 2 connector - 
230v AC 32 Amp single phase dedicated supply) and a further 50% shall be provided 
with cabling for the future provision of charging points, all in accordance with a 
scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. 
The approved charging points and cabling shall thereafter be retained and 
maintained for use in connection with the development hereby permitted. 

21. The Park and Stride initiative which forms part of the development hereby permitted 
shall be operated as detailed within the Car Park Management Plan dated January 
2024 and section 5.8 of the Transport Assessment version 0.3 dated February 2024 
and promoted for the use of parents, carers and visitors. 

22. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, an updated school 
Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 
Authority. The submitted Plan shall include details of measures to promote 
sustainable modes of transport and provisions for the maintenance, monitoring and 
review of the impact of the Plan and its further development. The development 
hereby permitted shall thereafter be carried out in all respects in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Page 43

7



23. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Construction 
Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) in general accordance with the Outline 
Construction Traffic Management Plan Version 0.2 dated February 2024 submitted as 
part of the application shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County 
Planning Authority. The CTMP shall include details of: 

 a) Parking of vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors. 

 b) Loading and unloading of plant and materials. 

 c) Storage of plant and materials. 

 d) Programme of works (including measures for traffic management). 

 e) HGV deliveries and hours of operation. 

 f) On-site turning for construction vehicles. 

 g) Temporary parking suspensions on West Ring and East Ring. 

 The approved CTMP shall thereafter be implemented and complied with at all times 
during the construction of the development hereby permitted. 

 Ecology 

24. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with section 5 
of the Badger Survey Report dated July 2024 submitted as part of the application.   
The badger walkover survey required therein should be undertaken by a suitably 
qualified ecologist and the results submitted to the County Planning Authority prior to 
the commencement of the development hereby permitted, including site clearance 
works.   

25. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with sections 5 
and 6 of the Reptile Mitigation Strategy Version 1 dated September 2024 submitted 
as part of the application.  In the event that Great Crested Newts are found to be 
present on the site at any time, works will stop, and the advice of a qualified ecologist 
obtained to determine next steps. 

 Materials 

26. The materials used on the exterior of the development hereby permitted shall be in 
general accordance with the details contained within section 4.5 of the Design and 
Access Statement dated January 2024. 

Reasons: 

1. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

2. To comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by Section 51(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

3. To comply with the terms of the application, enable the County Planning Authority to 
exercise planning control, and to safeguard the environment and local amenity, in 
accordance with National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraphs 
108, 114 and 180; and Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management 
Policies 2023 Policy D5. 

Page 44

7



4. To ensure the design meets the national Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS 
and the final drainage design does not increase flood risk on or off site in accordance 
with National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraphs 173, 175 and 
180; Guildford Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy P4; and 
Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy P11. 

 Compliance with this Condition is required prior to the commencement of the 
development hereby permitted to ensure the effective control and management of 
surface water. 

5. To ensure the drainage system is constructed to the national Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for SuDS in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework 
December 2023 paragraphs 173, 175 and 180; Guildford borough Local Plan: 
strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy P4; and Guildford Borough Local Plan: 
Development Management Policies 2023 Policy P11. 

6. To comply with the terms of the application, enable the County Planning Authority to 
exercise planning control, and to safeguard the environment and local amenity, in 
accordance with National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraph 
180; and Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 
Policies D5 and P9. 

7. To enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning control and to 
safeguard the environment and local amenity in accordance with National Planning 
Policy Framework December 2023 paragraphs 135, 136 and 180; Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy D1; and Guildford Borough Local 
Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy P7. 

 Compliance with this Condition is required prior to the commencement of the 
development hereby permitted to ensure the effective protection of the roots and 
canopies of retained trees throughout the construction phase. 

8. To enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning control and to 
safeguard the environment and local amenity in accordance with National Planning 
Policy Framework December 2023 paragraphs 128, 135, 136 and 180; Guildford 
Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy D1; and Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy D4. 

9. To enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning control and to 
safeguard the environment and local amenity in accordance with National Planning 
Policy Framework December 2023 paragraphs 128, 135, 136 and 180; Guildford 
Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy D1; and Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy D4. 

10. To enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning control and to 
safeguard the environment and local amenity in accordance with National Planning 
Policy Framework December 2023 paragraphs 128, 135, 136 and 180; Guildford 
Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy D1; and Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy D4. 

11. To afford the County Planning Authority a reasonable opportunity to examine any 
remains of archaeological interest which are unearthed and decide upon a course of 
action required for the preservation or recording of such remains in accordance with 
National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraph 209, Guildford 

Page 45

7



Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy D3, and Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy D23. 

 Compliance with this Condition is required prior to the commencement of the 
development hereby permitted to ensure the timely implementation of archaeological 
work and the effective preservation of potential archaeological interest. 

12. To ensure the quality of pitches is satisfactory and that they are available for use prior 
to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted in accordance with 
National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraphs 103, 123, 128 and 
135; and Guildford Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policies ID4 
and ID5. 

13. To comply with the terms of the application in respect of protection of species within 
the site, to enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning control, and 
safeguard the environment and local amenity, in accordance with National Planning 
Policy Framework December 2023 paragraph 180, Guildford Borough Local Plan: 
strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy ID4, and Guildford Borough Local Plan: 
Development Management Policies 2023 Policies P6 and P7. 

14. To comply with the terms of the application, enable the County Planning Authority to 
exercise planning control, and to safeguard the environment and local amenity, in 
accordance with National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraph 180 
and Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policies 
D5 and D12. 

15. To enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning control and to 
safeguard the environment, local amenity and other noise sensitive receptors during 
the construction phase of the development hereby permitted in accordance with 
National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraph 180, Guildford 
Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy D5, and Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy D11. 

 Compliance with this Condition is required prior to the commencement of the 
development hereby permitted to ensure effective noise control throughout the 
construction phase. 

16. To enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning control and to 
safeguard the environment, local amenity and other noise sensitive receptors during 
the operational phase of the development hereby permitted in accordance with 
National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraph 180, Guildford 
Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy D5, and Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy D11. 

17. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework December 2023 paragraphs 108, 114, 115, 116, 128 and 135; and 
Guildford Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policies D1 and ID3. 

18. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework December 2023 paragraphs 108, 114, 115, 116 and 135; and Guildford 
Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy ID3 

Page 46

7



19. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework December 2023 paragraphs 108, 114, 116 and 128; Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policies D1 and ID3; and Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy D6. 

20. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework December 2023 paragraphs 108, 114, 116 and 128; Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policies D1, D2 and ID3; and Guildford 
Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policies D6 and ID10. 

21. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework December 2023 paragraph 108, 114, 116, 128 and 135; Guildford 
Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy ID3; and Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy ID10. 

22. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework December 2023 paragraphs 108, 114, 116, 117, 128 and 135; and 
Guildford Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy ID3.  

23. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework December 2023 paragraphs 108, 114 and 116; and Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy ID3.  

 Compliance with this Condition is required prior to the commencement of the 
development hereby permitted to ensure the public highway can continue to be used 
safely and without any unnecessary inconvenience during the construction phase of 
the development. 

24. To comply with the terms of the application, enable the County Planning Authority to 
exercise planning control, and safeguard the environment and local amenity, in 
accordance with National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraph 
180, Guildford Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy ID4, and 
Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policies P6 
and P7. 

 Compliance with this Condition is required prior to the commencement of the 
development hereby permitted to ensure the protection of badgers prior to the 
commencement of the works. 

25. For the avoidance of doubt and to protect species on the site to comply with the 
terms of the application, enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning 
control, and safeguard the environment and local amenity, in accordance with 
National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraph 180, Guildford 
Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy ID4, and Guildford Borough 
Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policies P6 and P7. 

26. To comply with the terms of the application, enable the County Planning Authority to 
exercise planning control, and to safeguard local amenity, in accordance with 
National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 paragraphs 128 and 135, 

Page 47

7



Guildford Borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 Policy D1, and Guildford 
Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 Policy D4. 

   

Informatives: 

1. In determining this application the County Planning Authority has worked positively 
and proactively with the Applicant by entering into pre-application discussions, 
scoping of the application, assessing the proposals against relevant Development 
Plan policies and the National Planning Policy Framework including its associated 
planning practice guidance and European Regulations, providing feedback to the 
Applicant where appropriate. Further, the County Planning Authority has identified all 
material considerations, forwarded consultation responses to the Applicant, 
considered representations from interested parties, liaised with consultees and the 
Applicant to resolve identified issues and determined the application within the 
timeframe agreed with the Applicant. Issues of concern have been raised with the 
Applicant including impacts of and on ecology and addressed through negotiation 
and acceptable amendments to the proposals. The Applicant has also been given 
advance sight of the draft planning conditions. This approach has been in 
accordance with the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework December 2023. 

 

2. All of the proposed arboricultural works and mitigation shall be in accordance with 
British Standards 3998:2010 and 5837:2012. 

 

3. Where new trees are to be supplied with a distinct crown, the supply, planting and 
maintenance of such trees shall be in general accordance with British Standard 
8545:2014. 

 

4. Biosecurity is very important to minimise the risks of pests and diseases being 
imported into the UK and introduced into the environment. It is recommended that all 
trees grown abroad, but purchased for transplanting, shall spend at least one full 
growing season on a UK nursery and be subjected to a pest and disease control 
programme. Evidence of this control programme, together with an audit trail of when 
imported trees entered the UK, their origin and the length of time they have been in 
the nursery should be requested before the commencement of any tree planting. If 
this information is not available, alternative trees sources should be used. You are 
advised to consult the relevant UK Government agencies such as the Animal and 
Plant Health Agency (APHA) and the Forestry Commission for current guidance, 
Plant Passport requirements and plant movement restrictions. Quality Assurance 
Schemes followed by nurseries should also be investigated when researching 
suppliers. For larger planting schemes, you may wish to consider engaging a suitably 
qualified professional to oversee tree/plant specification and planting. 

 

5. The developer is reminded that it is an offence to allow materials to be carried from 
the site and deposited on or damage the highway from uncleaned wheels or badly 

Page 48

7



loaded vehicles. The Highway Authority will seek, wherever possible, to recover any 
expenses incurred in clearing, cleaning or repairing highway surfaces and prosecutes 
persistent offenders (Highways Act 1980 Sections 131, 148, 149). 

 

6. The developer is advised that as part of the detailed design of the highway works 
required by Condition 18, the County Highway Authority may require necessary 
accommodation works to street lights, road signs, road markings, highway drainage, 
surface covers, street trees, highway verges, highway surfaces, surface edge 
restraints and any other street furniture/equipment. 

 

7. Section 59 of the Highways Act permits the Highway Authority to charge developers 
for damage caused by excessive weight and movements of vehicles to and from a 
site. The Highway Authority will pass on the cost of any excess repairs compared to 
normal maintenance costs to the applicant/developer/organisation responsible for the 
damage. 

 

8. The developer would be expected to agree a programme of implementation of all 
necessary statutory utility works associated with the development, including liaison 
with Surrey County Council Streetworks Team and the relevant utility companies to 
ensure that where possible the works take the route of least disruption and occurs at 
least disruptivetimes to highway users. 

 

9. It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure that the electricity supply is sufficient 
to meet future demand and that any power balancing technology is in place if 
required. Electric Vehicle charging points shall be provided in accordance with the 
Surrey County Council Vehicular, Cycle and Electric Vehicle Parking Guidance for 
New Development 2023. If an active connection costs on average more than £3600 
to install, the developer must provide cabling (defined as a ‘cabled route’ within the 
2022 Building Regulations) and two formal quotes from the distribution network 
operator showing this. 

 

10. The developer is expected to ensure the safe operation of all construction traffic to 
prevent unnecessary disturbance, obstruction and inconvenience to other highway 
users. Care should be taken to ensure that the waiting, parking, loading and 
unloading of construction vehicles does not hinder the free flow of any carriageway, 
footway, bridleway, footpath, cycle route, right of way or private driveway or entrance. 
The developer is also expected to require their contractors to sign up to the 
"Considerate Constructors Scheme" Code of Practice, (www.ccscheme.org.uk) and 
to follow this throughout the period of construction within the site and adjacent areas 
such as the adjoining public highway and other areas of public realm. 

 

11. It is the responsibility of the developer to provide e-bike charging points with socket 
timers to prevent them constantly drawing a current overnight or for longer than 

Page 49

7



required. Signage should be considered regarding damaged or shock impacted 
batteries, indicating that these should not be used/charged. The design of communal 
bike areas should consider fire spread and there should be detection in areas where 
charging takes place. Guidance on detection can be found in BS 5839-6 for fire 
detection and fire alarm systems; in non-domestic buildings the premises should 
have detection and an official e-bike charger should be used. Guidance on detection 
can be found in BS 5839-1 of the code of practice for designing, installing, 
commissioning, and maintaining fire detection and alarm systems in non-domestic 
buildings. 

 

12. The permission hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to carry out any 
works (including Stats connections/diversions required by the development itself or 
the associated highway works) on the highway or any works that may affect a 
drainage channel/culvert or water course. The applicant is advised that a permit and, 
potentially, a Section 278 agreement must be obtained from the Highway Authority 
before any works are carried out on any footway, footpath, carriageway, verge or 
other land forming part of the highway. All works (including Stats 
connections/diversions required by the development itself or the associated highway 
works) on the highway will require a permit and an application will need to submitted 
to the County Council's Street Works Team up to 3 months in advance of the 
intended start date, depending on the scale of the works proposed and the 
classification of the road. Please see http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-
transport/permits-and-licences/traffic-management-permit-scheme. The applicant is 
also advised that Consent may be required under Section 23 of the Land Drainage 
Act 1991. Please see www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/emergency-
planning-and-community-safety/flooding-advice. 

Contact James Nolan 

Tel. no.  

 

Background papers 

 

The deposited application documents and plans, including those amending or clarifying the 

proposal, and responses to consultations and representations received, as referred to in the 

report and included in the application file. 

 

For this application, the deposited application documents and plans, are available to view on 

our online register. The representations received are publicly available to view on the 

district/borough planning register.  

 

The Guildford Borough Council planning register entry for this application can be found 

under application reference GU24/CON/00010. 

 

Other documents 

Page 50

7

http://planning.surreycc.gov.uk/Planning/Display/


 

The following were also referred to in the preparation of this report: 

 

Government Guidance  

 

National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 

Planning Practice Guidance – Air quality updated November 2019 

Planning Practice Guidance – Biodiversity net gain updated May 2024 

Planning Practice Guidance – Flood risk and coastal change updated August 2022 

Planning Practice Guidance – Light pollution updated November 2019 

Planning Practice Guidance – Noise updated July 2019 

 

The Development Plan  

 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Development Management Policies 2023 

Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015-2034 

Surrey Waste Local Plan 2019 to 2033 

 

Other Documents 

 

Surrey Landscape Character Assessment: Guildford Borough dated April 2015 

Page 51

7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/669a25e9a3c2a28abb50d2b4/NPPF_December_2023.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/air-quality--3
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/biodiversity-net-gain
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/light-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/noise--2
https://guildford.gov.uk/guildfordlocalplan
https://guildford.gov.uk/guildfordlocalplan
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-https:/www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-planplanning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/82269/Surrey-LCA-2015-GUILDFORD-Report.pdf


 

 

Page 52

7



North Side Kin
gs

ton

Close

East R
ing

South Side

North
Side

Spoil Lane To White Lane Bridleway

Spoil
 Lan

e

West Ring

Po
pla

r C
los

e Kingston Close
Application

site

Created: 02/07/2024

Ref No:  SCC_Ref_2024-0023

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 OS AC0000813791. Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions.

Scale: 1:2,340¯ 0 1,600800 Metres

Note: This plan is for guidance only

Proposal

Shalford

Application ref:

Location: Land at St Paul's C of E Infant School, The Cardinals, Tongham, Surrey GU10 1EF

Electoral divisions:
GU

Construction and use of double-height
extension to rear of school hall, enlarged car
park and two new multi-use games areas;
and reinstatement of grass playing field.

Page 53

7



This page is intentionally left blank



2024 Aerial Photos
Application Number : GU24/CON/00010

Aerial 1: Surrounding area

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 55

7



2024 Aerial Photos
Application Number : GU24/CON/00010

Aerial 2: Application site

All boundaries are approximate

Application Site Area

P
age 56

7



 

 

To: Planning & Regulatory Committee Date: 30 October 2024 

By: Planning Development Manager 

District(s) Reigate & Banstead  Electoral Division(s): 

  Redhill East 

  Mr Essex 

  Case Officer: 

  Charlotte Parker 

Purpose: For Decision Grid Ref: 528311 150649 

 

Title: Surrey County Council Proposal RE24/00028/CON  

Summary Report 

Site of Former Colebrook and Spectrum Noke Day Centres, Noke Drive, 

Redhill, Surrey RH1 1PT  

Outline application for the erection of part 1, 4, 5 and 6 storey building for 

extra care accommodation, comprising self-contained apartments, staff and 

communal facilities, and associated parking with access from St Annes Drive 

and Noke Drive.  Appearance and landscaping reserved.  

 

The application site is located close to Redhill town centre and railway station, on 

land owned by Surrey County Council. The site, with frontages to Noke Drive and St 

Annes Drive, has historically been used in connection with a number of community 

uses but the site has now been cleared and is unoccupied. The site is secured by 

boundary hoarding.  

 

This is an outline application seeking self-contained extra care accommodation with 

associated facilities (indicatively 120 units).  The application has been submitted by 

Surrey County Council under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning 

General Regulations (1992). At this outline stage the planning considerations relate 

only to the principle of the development, including the layout, scale and means of 

access. The detailed design (appearance) and site landscaping are reserved matters 

which would be submitted at a later stage.  

 

Page 57

8

Item 8



A total of 9 representations have been received on this application, including some 

which express support for re-use of the site as proposed. Objections relate primarily 

to the scale and height of the proposed building, its impact on neighbour amenity, 

lack of parking and environmental harm.    

  

Reigate and Banstead Borough Council raised no objection, subject to a number of 

matters being addressed, and weight given in the planning balance to the proposal 

being contrary to Local Plan Policy RTC4, the loss of trees and less than substantial 

harm being caused to a designated heritage asset. 

  

Other statutory and technical consultees have provided advice on a range of issues, 

and this has either been reflected in additional information submitted during the 

course of the application or in proposed conditions. 

 

Officers are satisfied that development of this scale and nature could be satisfactorily 

accommodated on the site, subject to details which would be submitted at the 

reserved matters stage or required by condition. It has been concluded that the 

necessary tests have been met in relation to flood risk, and that subject to detailed 

design and the imposition of conditions, the development would be made safe for its 

lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  

 

It is recommended that pursuant to Regulation 3 of The Town and Country Planning 

General Regulations 1992, the Committee grants outline planning permission for 

application ref: RE24/00028/CON, subject to the recommended planning conditions. 

  

Application details 

Applicant 

SCC Property 

Date application valid 

27 December 2023 

Period for Determination 

27 March 2024 extended to 6 November 2024.  

Amending Documents 

Heritage Assessment Rev 4.0 dated 26 February 2024 

BNG Calculation Tool Rev 1.4 dated 8 February 2024 

The Biodiversity Metric 4.0 Technical Annex 1: Condition Assessment Sheets and 

Methodology 

Page 58

8



Updated BNG Letter dated 8 February 2024  

Response to Planning Comment AR Acoustics  

Letter on Response to Environment Agency Comments dated 11 April 2024 

Flood Risk Assessment Rev 1.2 dated 4 April 2024  

Ecology Report dated August 2024  

Biodiversity Metric 4.0 – Calculation Tool dated 19 August 2024  

Archaeological Trial Trench Evaluation dated November 2022 

Email from Agent Re Watermill Query dated 10 April 2024 (redacted) 

Updated application form 

Colebrook Day Centre - Flood Risk Assessment (Rev 1.5) dated 10 October 2024 

Letter from Vail Williams (Supporting Information in relation to Flood Risk) dated 8 
October 2024  

 

Summary of Planning Issues 

This section identifies and summarises the main planning issues in the report. The 

full text should be considered before the meeting. 

 Is this aspect of the  Paragraphs in the report 

 proposal in accordance  where this has been  

 with the development plan? discussed 

Principle and Need       Yes    41-59 

 

Flood Risk, Drainage and  Yes    60-80 

Contamination 

 

Layout, Design 

and Character   Yes    81-101 

 

Residential Amenity     Yes    102-122 

 

Highways, Access         Yes     123-137 

and Parking 

 

Trees and     Yes     138-149 

Landscaping 

Page 59

8



 

Sustainable Design   Yes    150-162 

 

Ecology and  

Biodiversity Net Gain  Yes     163-183 

 

Air Quality     Yes    184-192 

 

Heritage Assets    Yes     193-215 

 

Illustrative material 

Site Plan 

Plan 1 – Site Location and Application Site  

Aerial Photographs 

Aerial 1 – Surrounding Area  

Aerial 2 – Application site  

 

Background 

Site Description 

1. The application site is located close to Redhill town centre, immediately east of 

the railway station and postal sorting office adjoining it. It has frontages to Noke 

Drive and St Annes Drive, beyond which are residential areas of flats and houses 

on rising land to the south and north, with Carrington School (formerly the 

Warwick School) located to its eastern/north-eastern side.  The Redhill Brook 

(which is partially culverted) runs close to the southern site boundary, and part of 

the site is located in Flood Zones 2 and 3 (a) and (b).  

 

2. The application site covers an area of approximately 1.03ha and forms the lower 

section of a larger site (1.47ha) which has a long history of community use, 

including most recently as the Colebrook Day Centre. Some of the buildings 

previously occupying the site have been demolished and the site is enclosed by 

hoarding.  The remaining single and two storey buildings on site are currently 

unoccupied, and the remainder of the site is laid to hardstanding or grass, with 

some trees, hedging and a small pond. There are access points to both Noke 

Drive and St Annes Drive.  

 

Page 60

8



Planning History 

 

3. Historically the site appears to have formed part of the grounds to St Annes, built 

as a school in the 19th century, then used as elderly persons’ accommodation 

until its closure in 1975 and demolition in 1987.  

 

4. From the late 1970s the site has had a series of youth and community uses, with 

various permissions granted accordingly. Most recently the site has been 

occupied by the Colebrook Day Centre (which ceased use in February 2017) 

and the former Spectrum@Noke, which provided facilities for disabled people, 

autistic people, older people and those with other support needs and has since 

relocated to an alternative site (Longmead).  The site also contained the 

Colebrook Garden Centre, which formed part of the community use of the site 

and closed in 2021.  

 

5. Prior approval was given in May 2021 under reference RE/21/0899/CON for the 

demolition of three buildings on site, which have now been demolished.  

 

 

The Proposal 

6. Outline planning permission is sought for the erection of a part single, part four, 

five and six storey building, to provide specialist housing designed for older 

people (Class C2).  The building would contain up to 120 one and two 

bedroomed self-contained apartments, with communal and staff areas.   

 

7. The housing would be for the affordable rental sector. Tenancies would be 

awarded in accordance with a nominations agreement between Reigate and 

Banstead Borough Council (as the local housing authority), Surrey County 

Council (as the local care authority) and a regulated social housing provider as 

the operator. 

 

8. The proposed building would be formed of two main sections, one fronting St 

Annes Drive and the other (longer) section fronting Noke Drive, with a single 

storey link. As this is an outline application the precise design is not for 

consideration at this stage, however the illustrative plans indicate that the tallest 

(six storey) sections would positioned at either end of the building, with it 

stepping down in height to the centre of the site and also at the southern end of 

the western ‘wing’ (close to the St Annes Drive/Noke Drive junction).  Solar 

photovoltaic (PV) panels are indicatively shown on the higher sections of the 

roof, with a roof terrace shown on the single storey element. The main entrance 

to the building would be into the single storey element towards the western end 

Page 61

8



of the Noke Drive frontage. Secondary entrances would be formed to both the 

front and rear of the building.  

 

9. The maximum height of the building would be 24m (six storey section), and it 

would have a footprint of 2838 sq.m and gross internal floorspace of 11761 

sq.m. The building would be flat roofed. Ground floor apartments would have 

small private terraced areas (on supports to accommodate finished floor levels 

and flood risk mitigation), with balconies indicated to serve each of the upper 

floor units. 

 

10. The longest, south facing wing (Noke Drive elevation) would measure 

approximately 95m by 17m. The building would then dog-leg round (at single 

storey height) to a shorter wing (approximately 50m) fronting St Annes Drive.  

 

11. In addition to the self-contained apartments, the building shown illustratively 

would contain an entrance/reception area, kitchen, dining room, communal 

lounge, activity/therapy rooms, staff facilities, refuse and mobility scooter/cycle 

stores (all at ground floor level).  

 

12. The new building would be central to the site, broadly in the location of the 

previous buildings. Some existing trees would be retained. Hard and soft 

landscaping would be provided including seating areas (raised decking). 

Illustrative drawings show a network of paths and grassed areas to the wider 

site. Compensatory flood storage areas would be provided (523 m3) through the 

excavation of higher ground outside the existing flood extent, these being the far 

north-east part of the site and areas to the south of the proposed building.  

 

13. Access would be from St Annes Drive (utilising the existing access point), with 

an exit point onto Noke Drive (again utilising an existing access point). A total of 

38 parking spaces would be provided to the north side of the site (to include 

three disabled spaces and a drop off bay).  

 

14. This application is an Outline Application, seeking permission for means of 

access, layout, and scale. Appearance and landscaping are Reserved Matters 

which would be submitted for approval at a later date, should outline planning 

permission be granted. 

 

 

Page 62

8



Consultations and publicity 

Consultees (Statutory and Non-Statutory) 

District Council 

15. Reigate & Banstead Borough Council – No objection – however considers that 

further consideration needs to be given to the following matters: 

 

• Consideration of what the remainder of the allocation site, which is omitted 

from this application site, will be used for. 

• Further research regarding the possible existence of a historic watermill in 

the vicinity of the site 

• Further consideration regarding the amount of car parking being provided. 

• Address the concerns of the Lead Local Flood Authority 

 

The case officer at Surrey County Council will need to weigh up the fact that the 

proposal is considered to be contrary to allocation Policy RTC4 of the 

Development Management Plan 2019, results in the loss of a number of grade 

'B' trees and causes less than substantial harm to a designated heritage asset 

against the acknowledged benefits of providing 120 affordable extra care units.

   

16. Arboriculturalist – No objection - subject to the imposition of conditions.  

  

17. SCC Archaeological Officer – No objection, no further archaeological work 

required. 

 

18. County Ecologist – No objection subject to the imposition of conditions.  

 

19. Environment Agency – No objection subject to the imposition of condition.  

 

20. SCC Historic/Listed Buildings – Advises that there will be no impact on the 

setting of nearby Grade II listed buildings (Copyhold Cottages). Does not 

however agree with conclusion reached in the Heritage Statement that the 

impact of the scheme on the nearby Cavendish Road Conservation Area will be 

negligible (visualisations rely on tree cover which is considered ‘poor practice’). 

However ultimately advises that as the building will not have a domineering 

affect on the locality, the harm would not be anything more than a low level of 

less than substantial harm under paragraph 208 of the NPPF. Great weight will 

need to be applied to this harm and it will need to be weighed against the public 

benefits form this scheme (which would be significant benefit to the community 

of the proposed use).  

 

Page 63

8



21. RPS Planning & Dev Ltd - Air Quality – No objection subject to the imposition of 

condition.  

 

22. RPS Planning & Dev Ltd – Noise – No objection subject to the imposition of 

conditions.   

 

23. Thames Water – No objection subject to the inclusion of an informative (nearby 

waste water assets) 

  

24. SuDS & Consenting Team (LLFA) - No objection subject to the imposition of 

conditions.  

 

25. Sutton and East Surrey Water – No views received.  

  

26. SCC Transport Development Planning – No objection subject to the imposition of 

conditions.  

  

27. Health and Safety Executive - Fire Safety – No comment made - The proposed 

height of the building appears to be below the threshold (18m). (NB. The HSE 

were consulted due to the outline nature of the application, and the requirement 

for consultation on applications for buildings of over 18m or 7 storeys in height). 

  

28. Active Travel England – Refer to Standing Advice   

Parish/Town Council and Ame Amenity Groups 

29. None consulted.  

Summary of publicity undertaken and key issues raised by public 

30. The application was publicised by the posting of 3 site notices and an advert was 

placed in the local newspaper. A total of 244 owner/occupiers of neighbouring 

properties were directly notified by letter.  

 

31. Nine letters of representation were received; two support the proposals and 

seven raise objections.  

 

32. Objection has been raised on the following grounds: 

 

• Inconvenience during construction 

• Increase in traffic and congestion (St Annes Drive/Nokes Drive is the only 

ingress/egress route for a number of residential roads and also serves the Royal 

Mail sorting office and Carrington School) 

Page 64

8



• Height of the building unacceptable, will result in loss of sunlight to neighbouring 

properties   

• Balconies will result in loss of privacy  

• Insufficient parking resulting in displacement to surrounding roads 

• Too many units, lack of infrastructure for additional older residents in the town  

• No evidence to support the stated need for this amount of development 

• Will result in hazard to highway safety (including to children attending Carrington 

School) 

• Concern over air quality/emissions (caused by proliferation of high-rise buildings 

in the town) 

• Will increase noise disturbance in gardens (Clyde Close) due to ‘amphitheatre 

effect’  

• Will result in overshadowing  

• Loss of/harm to trees 

• Will increase flood risk 

• Drainage/sewerage capacity  

• Harm to wildlife habitat  

. 

33. Support for the scheme has been expressed on the following grounds: 

 

• Benefit to housing need 

• Community/regeneration benefit  

• The site has been empty for years, and it is about time it is redeveloped  

• The previous use generated traffic, and as such traffic generated by the 

development is unlikely to be an issue 

 

Planning considerations 

34. The guidance on the determination of planning applications contained in the 

Preamble/Agenda frontsheet is expressly incorporated into this report and must 

be read in conjunction with the following paragraphs.  

35. In this case the statutory development plan for consideration of the application 

consists of the Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Policies and Part 2 – Sites, 

which together form the Surrey Waste Local Plan 2019-2033 (SWLP), Reigate 

and Banstead Local Plan: Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS) and Reigate and 

Banstead Local Plan: Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP).  

 

36. Work commenced in 2023 on a new Local Plan, but due to the early stage of this 

work no weight can be afforded to any of the evidence gathered in the process of 

plan preparation to date.   

 

Page 65

8



37. In addition, Reigate and Banstead Borough Council has adopted relevant 

Supplementary Planning Guidance as follows; Local Character and 

Distinctiveness Design Guide SPD 2021 (LCDDG); Affordable Housing SPD 

2020 (AH) and Climate Change and Sustainable Construction SPD 2021 

(CCSC).  

 

38. There is no Neighbourhood Plan in place for this area.  

 

39. In considering this application the acceptability of the proposed development will 

be assessed against relevant development plan policies and material 

considerations.  

 

40. In assessing the application against development plan policy it will be necessary 

to determine whether the proposed measures for mitigating any environmental 

impact of the development are satisfactory. In this case the main planning 

considerations are considered to be; the principle of the development, including 

in relation to the use of the land in relation to adopted policy; its impact on 

character of the area with particular reference to height, massing and design; 

impact on residential amenity, highways considerations; and whether flood risk 

has been appropriately mitigated.  

 
PRINCIPLE AND NEED 

 

Surrey Waste Local Plan 2020 

Policy 7 – Safeguarding  

 

Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS)  
Policy CS5 – Valued people and economic development  
Policy CS6 – Allocation of land for development 
Policy CS7 – Town and Local Centres  
Policy CS8 – Area 2a Redhill 
Policy CS10 – Sustainable Development 
Policy CS12 – Infrastructure Delivery  
Policy CS13 – Housing Delivery  
Policy CS14 – Housing Needs of the Community  
Policy CS15 - Affordable Housing   
 
Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) 
Policy DES4 – Housing mix 
Policy DES5 – Delivering High Quality Homes 
Policy DES6 – Affordable Housing  
Policy DES7 – Specialist Accommodation 
Policy RTC4 – Colebrook 
Policy INF1 – Infrastructure 
Policy INF2 – Community Facilities  
 

Page 66

8



Reigate and Banstead Borough Council Affordable Housing SPD 2020  
  
41. Paragraph 60 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) states:  

 

‘To support the government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of 

homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward 

where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements 

are addressed and that land with permission is developed without unnecessary 

delay’. 

 

42. Paragraphs 61 and 62 set out how housing need should be determined, and the 

NPPF goes on to state in Paragraph 63:   

 

‘Within this context of establishing need, the size, type and tenure of housing 

needed for different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in 

planning policies. These groups should include (but are not limited to) those who 

require affordable housing; families with children; older people (including those 

who require retirement housing, housing-with-care and care homes); students; 

people with disabilities; service families; travellers; people who rent their homes 

and people wishing to commission or build their own homes.’ 

 

43. A number of local plan policies are relevant to this application due to the site’s 

location within Redhill town centre, and its established community use. Relevant 

strategic policies as set out in the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 

(RBCS) seek to promote and support continued economic prosperity and 

regeneration in the borough, including through the provision of community 

facilities (Policy CS5), and the allocation of land for a range of uses (Policy CS6). 

Policies CS7 and CS8 set out the hierarchy of town and village centres, and 

identify Redhill as the borough’s primary town centre. Policy CS10 sets out the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development, including the prioritisation for 

development of previously developed land and land in built up areas. Policy 

CS12 sets out the Council’s position in relation to infrastructure delivery, which 

includes resisting the loss of community facilities and encouraging the provision 

of new community facilities and services.  

 

44. RBDMP Policies INF1 and INF2 also deal with infrastructure and community 

facilities respectively. Policy INF1 seeks to secure infrastructure provision where 

necessary and ensure that new development does not impact unacceptably on 

the local utilities network and Policy INF2 resists the loss of/encourages the 

provision of new community facilities.  

 

45. RBCS Policies CS13, CS14 and CS15 set out how the housing needs of the 

borough will be met, including the provision of housing for all sections of the 

Page 67

8



community (including the elderly), and affordable housing. Several Reigate and 

Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) policies also relate to 

the delivery of housing (Policy DES4, DE5, DES6 and DES7), relating to housing 

mix, the delivery of high quality homes, affordable housing and specialist 

accommodation respectively. The proposal, which would deliver affordable 

housing for the elderly, is considered to accord with these policy objectives.  

 

46. RBDMP Policy RTC4 is a site specific policy, which allocates the former 

Colebrook site for a mix of residential and community uses, setting out a number 

of requirements in relation to flood risk, trees, design, the re-location/re-provision 

of community uses and impact on the nearby conservation area. The current 

application comprises only part of the site allocation, which covers an area of 

1.37 ha and extends to the north. The omission of the northern section of the site 

has been highlighted by Reigate and Banstead BC in its comment on the 

application.  

 

47. A small part of the eastern end of the site (nearest to Carrington School) is 

located within the Waste Consultation Area for the Patterson Court landfill site, 

the purpose of which is to ensure that new development is not in conflict with 

that land use in terms of amenity or other impact. Due to the degree of 

separation and intervening uses, it is not considered that the proximity of the 

Patterson Court site would have any material impact on occupiers of the new 

development (residential amenity is addressed in more detail below) (SWLP 

Policy 7).  

 

48. Part of the site is located in Flood Zones 3 (a) and (b) which is identified as being 

land at the highest risk of flooding. The proposed development (for extra care 

housing) is also classed as ‘More Vulnerable’ as set out in Annex 3 of the NPPF 

(Flood risk vulnerability classification). The principle of development on land at 

high risk of flooding needs to address both the Sequential Test and Exception 

Test, in accordance with national guidance as set out in the NPPF. The 

Sequential Test ensures that a sequential, risk-based approach is followed to 

steer new development to areas with the lowest risk of flooding, and for this test 

to be satisfied it must be demonstrated that there are no reasonably available 

areas in low or medium risk areas. If this is passed, the two elements of the 

Exceptions Test must then be satisfied, these being that: 

 

• development that has to be in a flood risk area will provide 

wider sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk; and 

• the development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability 

of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will 

reduce flood risk overall. 

 

Page 68

8

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change#para36


49. It is considered that the applicant has demonstrated that both tests have been 

satisfied, taking into account the ‘More Vulnerable’ nature of the use. This will be 

addressed in detail in paragraphs 60-80 below. 

 

50. Surrey County Council’s (SCC) Cabinet approved an Accommodation with Care 

and Support (AwCS) Strategy on 16 July 2019. Underlying this Strategy is the 

significant strain being experienced by the care and support system, and the 

challenges being faced due to Surrey’s ageing population and the lack of specialist 

accommodation which enables older people to remain and be cared for in their 

communities as their needs increase. 

 

51.‘Extra Care’ is a term applied to housing for older people, often (but not 

exclusively) in the social rented sector, provided in self-contained units with access 

to care, support, domestic, social, community and other services. SCC has identified 

that of the various types of specialist housing, extra care accommodation has the 

greatest shortfall between demand and provision, particularly in terms of affordable 

rented provision. 

 

52. As part of its AwCS Strategy, SCC seeks to achieve a minimum of 25 extra care 

units per 1000 of Surrey’s population of over 75s by 2030. This site has been 

identified along with a number of others in Surrey as being suitable for extra care 

housing. If approved, the delivery of around 120 extra care units as proposed would 

meet an identified future need in Reigate and Banstead and deliver against the 

target set in the Strategy. 

 

53. The County Council has produced “planning guidance for accommodation with 

care for older people” (April 2024). The guidance refers to housing (C2) within 

care settings and states that the following elements should be provide:- 

 

• support for older people with care and other needs; 

• support for independent living ensuring residents remain active; 

• support for residents to avoid admission into care homes as their needs   

increase; 

• provision of facilities for residents such as craft rooms, communal lounge and 

dining room; 

• provision of office space for secure record keeping; 

 • alarm system to call for support in cases of emergencies; 

 • best practice design standards, layout and accessibility in the overall design; 

 • 24/7 on-site support to residents and emergency care response; 

 

54.  As outlined in the Statement of Need accompanying this application (paragraph 

3.07), extra care provision has been made in recent years in Reigate and 

Page 69

8



Banstead, with a number of other schemes in the pipeline having been granted 

planning permission. The tenure of these units is mixed (social rent/shared 

ownership, leasehold and private rental). The Reigate and Banstead planning 

profile for accommodation with care for older people (April 2024) identifies a 

growing need over time for affordable extra care housing, and across Surrey 

there remains a significant demand gap to be filled by SCC and partner 

organisations in the delivery of affordable extra care units.  

 

55.  The proposal would meet an identified need for accommodation which supports 

older people with care needs, enabling residents to live independently within 

their local community. Additional and/or more complex care needs would be 

available to residents should it be required. Communal facilities such as craft 

and therapy rooms, dining, lounge and kitchen areas would be provided, 

encouraging residents to participate in shared activities to promote health and 

wellbeing.  A bespoke care package, suitable to meet the residents’ needs, 

would be delivered by care workers. Staff would be on-site 24/7 to ensure that 

care needs can be met and emergencies responded to. 

 

56. In terms of the proposed use, RBDMP Policy RTC4 allocates the site for 

residential use (approximately 110 homes, including potentially homes for older 

people) and new community uses, potentially including adult social care. As set 

out previously, the site has historically accommodated a variety of community 

uses, many of which have since been relocated to other sites in the area. This 

requirement of Policy RTC4 has therefore been met, and no specific need for 

alternative community uses to be accommodated on the site has been identified 

through consultation on this application.  

 

57. On the basis that the current proposal would provide homes for older people, 

with an element of adult social care, it is considered that it would accord with the 

aims of Policy RTC4. The scheme’s acceptability in relation to the other 

requirements (flood risk, trees, design and relationship with the conservation 

area) will be addressed under relevant subject headings below.  

 

58. In response to Reigate and Banstead BC’s comments in relation to the partial 

redevelopment of the allocated site, the scheme has been designed such that it 

would not sterilise use of the remaining part of the site.  The merits of any 

proposal for that land would be assessed at that time, including in accordance 

with Policy RTC4.   

 

59. The development of this site for up to 120 units would be in accordance with 

national and development plan policy which seeks to boost the supply of housing 

generally, and specialist housing for different groups in the community in particular 

– in this case older people. The proposal would also align with the aims of the 

Page 70

8



AwCS Strategy and make a contribution to closing the identified gap in the supply 

of affordable extra care housing across the County.  The site is also very well 

located in relation to the range of facilities and services in Redhill town centre, 

including public transport links and retail provision.   

 

FLOOD RISK, DRAINAGE AND CONTAMINATION  

Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS)  
Policy CS10 – Sustainable Development  
 
Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) 
Policy CCF2 – Flood Risk  
Policy DES9 – Pollution and Contamination Land 
 
Reigate and Banstead Borough Council Climate Change and Sustainable 
Construction SPD 2021 
 
60. Paragraphs 165-175 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) sets out 

the role the planning system is expected to play in minimising the risk of flooding 

and mitigating its effects. Development should be directed away from areas at 

highest risk, and in determining applications LPAs should ensure that flood risk is 

not increased elsewhere. 

61. Paragraph 173 states that: 

‘When determining any planning applications, local planning authorities 

should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, 

applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment 59 . 

Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the 

light of this assessment (and the sequential and exception tests, as 

applicable) it can be demonstrated that: 

(a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of 

lowest flood risk, unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different 

location; 

(b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient such that, in 

the event of a flood, it could be quickly brought back into use without 

significant refurbishment; 

(c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear 

evidence that this would be inappropriate; 

(d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and 

Page 71

8

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/14-meeting-the-challenge-of-climate-change-flooding-and-coastal-change#footnote59


(e) safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of 

an agreed emergency plan. 

62. In order to minimise flood risk, including surface water flooding, Paragraph 175  

      states that: 

 

‘Major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage systems unless 

there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The systems used 

should: 

 

(a) take account of advice from the lead local flood authority; 

 

(b) have appropriate proposed minimum operational standards; 

 

(c) have maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable 

standard of operation for the lifetime of the development; and 

 

(d) where possible, provide multifunctional benefits.’ 

  

63. RBCS Policy CS10 requires that development is located such that it  

      minimises flood risk, including through the incorporation of SuDS and   

      compensatory measures where development takes place on a floodplain.  

 

64. RBDMP Policy CCF2 seeks to minimise flood risk, including surface water  

      flooding for which sustainable drainage provision should be made as part of  

      development.  

 

65. RBDMP Policy DES9 requires that where a site is known to be contaminated, or  

      where there is a reasonable possibility of contamination, appropriate  

      investigation, and where necessary mitigation and/or remediation will be  

      required. 

 

66. The application site is located close to the Redhill Brook, which runs east- 

      west to the south of Noke Drive. A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (updated  

      October 2024) has been submitted with the application, this concluding that as  

      the proposed development is located in EA Flood Zones 2 and 3 (a) and (b), and  

      that the proposed residential care home use is classified as ‘more vulnerable’ as  

      defined in the NPPF (paragraph 169 and Annex 3), both the Exception Test and  

      Sequential Test are applicable. The site is identified as being at medium risk of  

      surface water flooding (access road and car parking area in the south-east  

      corner of the site). It is also identified as being in an area with the potential for  

      groundwater flooding to occur, however the FRA states that there has not been a  

      specific groundwater flooding event at the site recorded, and the underlying soils  

Page 72

8



      and geology provide good protection from groundwater flooding. The site is not  

      located in a Source Protection Zone.   

 

67. The Sequential Test seeks to direct new development to land with the lowest  

      risk of flooding. Only where there are no reasonably available alternative sites  

      should development take place in areas at high risk of flooding.  

 

68. As this is an allocated site under RBDMP Policy RTC4, the Sequential Test was  

      applied through the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SRFA) carried out as part  

      of the Plan preparation process. An SFRA considers all sources of flooding  

      including fluvial, surface water, groundwater, sewers and reservoirs within the  

      study area, and enables a strategic overview to be taken of possible site options  

      for development. The site was concluded to be suitable for development  

      (residential and community use), as identified through the SRFA carried out in  

      2017. 

 

69. Further analysis of the site carried out as part of the Plan preparation on behalf  

      of Reigate and Banstead BC in January 2018 (updated May 2018) (Development  

      Management Plan (Regulation 19) Sequential Test for Flood Risk (Appendix C.2)  

      concluded that: 

 

‘Given the location of the site, it also represents the only realistic opportunity 

for the delivery of extra care housing in and around the town centre.  

Development on this site could not therefore be accommodated on or 

redirected to land within the FZ1’.  

 

70. This report also highlighted the likely increase in need for extra care provision  

      over the Plan period.  

 

71. To satisfy the Sequential Test, the FRA states that no part of the building footprint  

      would be located in the area at highest risk of flooding (Flood Zone 3b) which  

      covers the south-west corner of the site. Continuing to apply the sequential  

      approach to the design and layout of the building, whilst acknowledging that part    

      of the building would be in Flood Zone 3a, the FRA goes on to state that the  

      higher vulnerability elements (ie. sleeping accommodation units) would not be     

      located in this area of higher risk. It also states that  refuse & plant, staff area and  

      community space have been positioned in a way to reduce vulnerability. The  

      building has been designed such that finished floor levels are to be elevated  

      300mm above the 1% AEP (Annual Exceedance Probability) plus 20% climate  

      change flood level (77.60 mAOD) to enable sleeping accommodation to be  

      located at ground floor level within the lower (medium) risk part of the site.  

 

72. As set out in the FRA, the proposed main access ramp (to the front/south-west  

Page 73

8



      side of the building) would be located within Flood Zone 3b (functional  

      floodplain). The detailed design of this feature would be for consideration at the  

      reserved matters stage, and the FRA states that consideration is being given to  

      whether this ramp could be permeable or raised above flood level to prevent the  

      impediment of overland flows. On the basis that the detailed design of the ramp  

      needs to be such that it both allows for the flow of water in the event of a flood,  

      and meets the accessibility needs of those accessing the site, it is considered  

      appropriate to impose a condition which requires details to be submitted for  

      separate consideration.  

 

73. Turning to the Exception Test, these are that: : (1) development that has to be in  

      a flood risk area will provide wider sustainability benefits to the community that  

      outweigh flood risk; and (2) the development will be safe for its lifetime taking  

      account of the vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere,  

      and, where possible, will reduce flood risk overall.  

 

74. As set out in the FRA, as a brownfield site the proposed development is  

      assessed in reference to the disused buildings and land on site, taking account  

      of its location close to Redhill’s town centre and train station which make it  

      suitable for extra care accommodation. It states that no other more suitable sites  

      were identified as available, and that it delivers a sustainable design that adds  

      120 self-contained extra care apartments, communal and amenity spaces. It  

      states that there will be no adverse impacts to the site or surrounding area as a  

      result of the proposals once mitigated for in the design. Biodiversity net gain is  

      achieved in the proposed design, and that a holistic approach to design was  

      considered for risks and opportunities on site. The proposed residential use of  

      the site would provide additional extra care housing to the local area, and would  

      be in line with the requirement for residential use as outlined in the RBDMP. The  

      FRA concludes that the proposed development passes the exception test as it  

      delivers additional adult extra care housing in Surrey on a disused brownfield  

      site. 

 

75. In terms of the safety of the site for the lifetime of its use, taking into account the  

      ‘more vulnerable’ nature of its users, this has in part been addressed in relation  

      to the design of the building as described above. In addition to this, the FRA  

      contains sections on safe access and egress, and flood warning and emergency  

      planning.  

 

76. Modelling carried out as part of the FRA demonstrates that post development,  

      the parts of the site at risk of flooding would be those to the south of the building.  

      This is because the building itself would prevent the flow of water to the rear,  

      apart from to its eastern end, where the compensatory storage areas would be  

      located. As such, safe access and egress to the site (from St Annes Drive) would    

Page 74

8



      be maintained, and any evacuation of the building could be carried out safely  

      from exit points on the northern side of the building. It is however considered  

      necessary to impose a condition requiring the submission of a flood warning and  

      evacuation plan. This would detail all measures which would be necessary in the  

      event of a flood event, to safely evacuate the building and (if necessary) provide  

      onward transportation to an appropriate location.  

 

77. Compensatory storage areas for floodplain lost as a result of the development  

      would be provided, these totalling 1305 m2 in area and 523 m3 in volume (which  

      achieves the level for level and volume for volume requirements of the  

      Sequential Test and Exceptions Test). This would be provided in locations to the  

      south of the building, and to its north-east side (where the site would be 

      landscaped, shown on the landscape proving plan as traditional orchard and  

      modified grassland). These areas would be achieved through the excavation of  

      higher ground outside the existing flood extent.  

 

78. The FRA cross refers to the Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) Report  

      (December 2023) which sets out how on-site risk would be mitigated and run-off  

      managed, to include management strategies including a range of sustainable  

      features (SuDS) - porous pavements and attenuation storage tanks. These  

      measures collectively would restrict run-off to greenfield rates, and reduce the  

      risk of downstream flooding to the Redhill Brook and the wider Redhill  

      catchment, the report noting that the existing Colebrook site is currently draining  

      surface water runoff unrestricted via two below ground surface water connections  

      to the Redhill Brook.   

 

79. These details have been reviewed by the LLFA who are satisfied that subject to  

      the imposition of conditions the requirements of the NPPF, its accompanying  

      PPG and the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for sustainable drainage  

      systems are met. Thames Water have raised no objection, but have advised of  

      the proximity of the site underground assets (15m) and requested that an  

      informative is added accordingly. Subject to the imposition of conditions, the  

      proposal is considered to meet the requirements of RBCS Policy CS10 and 

      RBDMP Policy CCF2. 

 

80. Land Condition and Ground Investigation Reports have been submitted with the  

      application. These conclude that there are unlikely to be significant land  

      contamination and land stability hazards present on site, and that the proposed  

      residential use and its associated landscaping are achievable. No further site  

      investigation and risk assessment is recommended. The Ground Investigation  

      Report however contain a number of recommendations in relation to landscaping  

      phase of the development, which should be required to be carried out via a  

      condition (RBDMP Policy DES9).  

Page 75

8



 
LAYOUT, DESIGN AND CHARACTER 

Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS)  
Policy CS10 – Sustainable Development  
 
Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) 
Policy DES1 – Design of New Development  
Reigate and Banstead Local Character and Design Guide SPD (2021) 

 

81. Paragraphs 131-141 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) seek  

     to promote the creation of well-designed places. Paragraph 135 states that:  

 

‘Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:  

 

(a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for 

the short term but over the lifetime of the development;  

 

(b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 

appropriate and effective landscaping;  

 

(c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the 

surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while not 

preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as 

increased densities);  

 

(d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 

streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, 

welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;  

 

(e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an 

appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other 

public space) and support local facilities and transport networks; and  

 

(f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which 

promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for 

existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear 

of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion 

and resilience.’  

 

82. Further detailed guidance is set out in the National Design Guide (2019). This  

sets out the Government’s priorities for design in the form of ten 

characteristics, stating that the underlying purpose for design quality and the 

quality of new development at all scales is to create well-designed and well-

Page 76

8



built places that benefit people at all stages of life (including the elderly) and 

communities. 

 

83.  RBCS Policy CS10 requires that development makes efficient use of land and 

is at an appropriate density, taking account of and respecting the character of 

the local area and levels of accessibility and services. It also requires that 

development contributes to the creation of neighbourhoods which are 

supported by effective services, infrastructure and transport options and which 

are designed to be safe, secure and socially inclusive.  

 

84. RBDMP Policy DES1 requires all development proposals to be of a high 

quality design that makes a positive contribution to the character and 

appearance of its surroundings, promotes local distinctiveness and uses high 

quality building materials, landscaping and building detailing. Development is 

also required to have due regard to the layout, density, siting, scale, massing, 

height and roofscapes of the surrounding area, relationship with neighbouring 

buildings and views in and out of the site. It should also provide street 

furniture/trees and public art where this would enhance the public realm 

and/or reinforce a sense of place.  

 

85.  Reigate and Banstead BC’s Local Character and Design Guide SPD (2021) 

encourages new development to reflect local character and distinctiveness, 

including through form and layout, landscaping and boundary treatment the 

appropriate use of materials and design features Development should also 

respect and reflect as appropriate the historic development of an area and its 

prevailing architectural style and character, and its landscape context.  

 

86.  This proposal is in outline, with layout, scale and access for consideration at 

this stage, and appearance and landscaping as ‘reserved matters’ for future 

consideration.  

 

87. ‘Layout’ is defined in the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) as ‘the 

way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 

provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and 

spaces outside the development’. ‘Scale’ is defined as the ‘height, width and 

length of each building proposed within the development in relation to its 

surroundings’. 

 

88.  As such, whilst the layout and overall scale of the development can be 

considered, the building’s external appearance including - for example, the 

position of window openings and balconies, materials and other detailing - is 

not for consideration at this stage. Similarly, details of hard and soft 

Page 77

8



landscaping would be reserved for future consideration, though the spaces 

they would occupy form part of the ‘layout’ and can be assessed accordingly.  

 

89. ‘Access’, defined as ‘the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles 

and pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and 

circulation routes and how these fit into the surrounding access network’, is 

also for consideration at this stage and would include the access routes 

(vehicular and pedestrian) and car parking area. 

 

90.  In terms of layout, the proposed building would replace the previous collection 

of buildings with one single building (comprised of two connected wings) 

which would arc across the site on an east/west axis. No objection is raised in 

this regard, as the site’s previous layout was not designed as a single entity, 

and had instead evolved incrementally over time. Site coverage/density would 

increase considerably, however on the basis that this is highly sustainable 

urban site, it is considered appropriate to optimise the use of the site and 

maximise delivery of housing (height and massing will be considered below). 

Layout has also had to take account of the flood risk to parts of the site.  

 

91.  The building’s footprint has been designed such that it addresses both the 

Noke Drive and St Annes Drive frontages, with the main entrance (pedestrian 

access) located close to the road junction.  It is considered that this layout, 

combined with appropriate hard and soft landscaping to the site’s frontages, 

would enable the building to integrate well with its surroundings. The 

development would also create active frontages to both road frontages, which 

would have a positive impact on the area. Vehicular access and 

parking/turning would be located to the north side of the building, with the 

remainder of the application site landscaped with a mix of planted, grassed 

and hard surfaced areas, trees, and provision of ancillary structures including 

seating. 

 

92. In terms of scale, the building would be a four, five and six storeys in height, 

with one single storey section linking the flanking wings. The tallest sections 

are shown as being located on the outer ‘wings’ of the building, one fronting 

Noke Drive and the other fronting St Annes Drive. The height would then step 

down towards the centre of the building.  The overall height of the building 

incorporates a finished floor level of 77.6 m AOD (300mm above the 1 in 100 

year (1% plus AEP) plus climate change level. 

 

93. It should be noted that whilst illustrative details have been submitted with the 

application, to show how the development might look on completion, they are 

not for consideration at this stage and are subject to change. The assessment 

below will be carried on this basis. 

Page 78

8



 

94. As set out above, the previous buildings on site were a mix of single and two 

storeys in height. They were generally utilitarian and institutional in 

appearance making no contribution to the public realm or street scene. By 

contrast, the proposed building has been designed to be ‘outward facing’, with 

principal elevations fronting and addressing the road frontages.  

 

95. In terms of character, the site is located at a transitional point between the 

town centre and its more peripheral areas to the east/south-east of the station 

and railway line. Redhill town centre, west of the site, has recently been the 

subject of an extensive regeneration programme, which has included the 

provision of a significant amount of new flatted development within buildings of 

up to 13 storeys in height. Although separated from it by the railway line, there 

is clear intervisibility into the town centre from various points within and close 

to the application site, from where the high density nature of the town’s recent 

development is apparent.  Furthermore, immediately adjoining the site to the 

west is the postal sorting office which is a substantial three storey flat roofed 

building with considerable presence in the street scene.  To the far eastern 

side of the application site is Carrington School, which has an extensive 

campus of buildings and outside spaces.  Whilst visually the two sites are not 

closely related, the presence of the school and activity associated with it 

contributes to the mixture of uses in the area, and character accordingly.  

 

96. To the north and south of the site, the principal land use is residential; 

predominantly in flatted form to the north (St Annes Rise, St Annes Way and 

St Annes Mount) and immediately to the south (Knights Place).  These 

buildings have accommodation over three/four storeys. It is noted also that the 

buildings comprising the St Annes development to the north, whilst separated 

from each other by extensive areas of landscaping, are a full four storeys in 

height (plus pitched roofs) and which due to their elevated position, are very 

prominent in views including those at some distance. They also have a close 

visual relationship with the application site, due to their relative proximity and 

their visibility in various views of and from the site. It is considered that there is 

less of a visual link between the application site and the lower density 

residential areas to the south (beyond Knights Place), in part due to 

topography. This will be assessed further below in relation to heritage (see 

paras 193-215).  

 

97. It is recognised that the site’s development with a building of this scale and 

height would result in a significant change to its character and appearance. 

However, as has been noted above, this highly sustainable site is currently 

under-utilised and its relative openness does not positively contribute to the 

character of the area. Topographically it is also located at a low point between 

Page 79

8



the rising land of Redstone Hill to the south and St Annes Drive to the north, 

enabling development at height to be accommodated such that it would not be 

unacceptably prominent, taking into account also the massing and height of 

surrounding buildings, including those within the town centre to the west of the 

railway line. Detailed building design, materials and detailing would be for 

consideration as part of the reserved matters, and its acceptability would be 

assessed at that stage.  

 

98. Furthermore, as set out in national planning guidance and National Design 

Guide, in addition to appearance and detailing, design encapsulates the 

function and connectivity of development, encouraging the provision of well-

designed and well-built places that benefit people at all stages of life, including 

the elderly. The potential of sites should be optimised to accommodate and 

sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development, and should be safe, 

inclusive and accessible places which promote health and well-being.  

 

99. As set out previously, this development seeks to meet an urgent need for 

modern, purpose-built affordable housing for the elderly. Extra care housing 

facilities needs to include both self-contained living accommodation, and 

ancillary and communal facilities for residents and staff. This requires a critical 

mass of development, and a layout which functions for this use. Such 

development should also be well located in relation to local facilities and 

services, with good connectivity to them including on foot, and by bicycle and 

mobility scooter.  

 

100. As set out above, this site is very well located in relation to Redhill town centre 

and its extensive range of services and facilities, including public transport 

links, retail provision and leisure facilities. Its redevelopment would also result 

in an active frontage to Noke Drive, which it is considered would have a 

positive impact on the perception of safety and security in the area (including in 

relation to pupils and staff accessing Carrington School).  There is also scope 

for the inclusion of some form of public art at the entrance, which would be 

prominently located in relation to the public highway. This could draw on the 

history of the site as part of the St Annes school and hospital, and would 

positively contribute to reinforcing a sense of place and local distinctiveness 

(RBDMP Policy DES1(4).  

 

101. The residential amenity of future residents, including through the provision of 

shared and private amenity space, will be addressed in more detail below. 

However, inasmuch as this relates to design, it is considered that this would be 

a well-designed and well-built development which would be fit for purpose, 

providing also an appropriate balance between making efficient use of land and 

safeguarding the character of the area. 

Page 80

8



 

RESIDENTIAL AMENITY  

Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS)  
Policy CS10 – Sustainable Development  
 
Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) 
Policy DES1 – Design of New Development  
Policy DES8 – Construction Management  
Policy DES9 – Pollution and Contaminated Land  
Policy OSR1 – Open Space in New Developments 
 
102. Paragraph 191 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) states  

          that:   

 

‘Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is 

appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 

cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 

environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to 

impacts that could arise from the development. In doing so they should:  

 

(a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from 

noise from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant 

adverse impacts on health and the quality of life ;  

 

(b)  identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed 

by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this 

reason; and  

 

(c) limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, 

intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation.’  

 

103. RBCS Policy CS10 requires that development is designed to minimise pollution,  

     including air, noise and light.  

 

104. RBDMP Policy DES1 requires that development does not adversely impact on     

     the amenity of occupants of nearby buildings including through any overbearing,  

     obtrusive, overshadowing effect, loss of privacy or overlooking. Development  

     should also be accessible and inclusive for all users, and should create a safe  

     environment, maximising opportunities for natural surveillance. Regard should also  

     be had to the impact of access, circulation, turning space and parking provision on  

     residential amenity (to include the visual impact of parked cars). 

 

Page 81

8



105. RBDMP Policy DES9 requires that development will only be permitted where 

it can be demonstrated that it will not result in a significant adverse impact on the 

natural or built environment; amenity; or health and safety (due to fumes, smoke, 

steam, dust, noise, vibration, smell, light or other form of pollution). It is also 

states that development will not normally be permitted where existing forms of 

pollution are such that any unacceptable impact cannot be adequately mitigated.  

 

106. Policy DES8 states that development will be expected to be carried out in a 

safe and considerate manner, and that Construction Management Statements 

should be submitted for certain types of development to ensure that potential 

impacts are identified and mitigated as necessary.  

Impact on Amenity of Neighbouring Occupiers  

 

107. The closest residential properties to the application site are those to the south 

(Clyde Close, Venner Close and Knights Place), and the two residential blocks to 

the south side of St Annes Rise to the north of the site (Bronte Court and Lennox 

Court).  

 

108. Knights Place is located close to the junction of Noke Drive and St Annes 

Drive, with two blocks (Guinevere House and Galahad House) facing towards the 

application site.  These buildings have habitable accommodation over three floors 

(first, second and roofspace); the ground floor accommodates parking. Both 

blocks are set back from (and in a slightly elevated position relative to) the 

highway, behind a parking/turning area, trees and hedging, and the Redhill 

Brook. There would be a minimum separation distance of approximately 65m 

between windows serving these flats and the proposed units, and first floor 

terraced area. It is considered that this separation distance is sufficient to ensure 

that there would be no adverse impact on residential amenity due to any 

overbearing, obtrusive, overshadowing effect, loss of privacy or overlooking, 

taking into account that the proposed units would be provided at four or five 

storeys at this point, with some principal windows and balconies facing towards 

Knights Place.  

 

109. To the east of Knights Place is a terrace of housing (Nos 2-6 Venner Close) 

which has its frontage facing north (towards Cavendish Road) and small rear 

gardens facing north towards the application site. Due to rising land to the south, 

these houses are in a slightly elevated position relative to the application site, and 

have windows serving main living accommodation over three storeys (the upper 

storey served by dormer windows). These properties would be in direct alignment 

with a five storey section of the proposed building, which it is indicated would 

have windows and balconies facing south towards Venner Close. However, the 

separation distance between the end of the rear gardens and the front of the 

Page 82

8



proposed building would be approximately 40m which is considered sufficient to 

adequately safeguard neighbour amenity in accordance with RBDMP Policy 

DES1. In addition, separating the two is an area of scrub and trees (some of 

which are evergreen) on either side of the Redhill Brook which provides dense 

screening to further filter views and intervisibility.  

 

110. To the east of Venner Close is a group of properties in Clyde Close (Nos 3-13 

inclusive), which also front to the north and have their rear elevations and 

gardens facing towards the application site.  Due to the more open nature of the 

land between these properties and the application site, there is greater 

intervisibility at this point, and the rear of these properties and their garden areas 

are clearly visible from vantage points to the north. The proposed building at this 

eastern end would be five and six storeys in height, with windows and balconies 

facing south. It is however considered that residential amenity would be 

adequately safeguarded in accordance with RBDMP Policy DES1, the minimum 

separation distance between proposed gardens/balconies and the ends of rear 

gardens in Clyde Close being approximately 33m (and a greater distance 

between windows of approximately 42m). It is noted also that precise 

relationships would be considered at the reserved matters stage, and that design 

features such as obscure glazing for balcony enclosures could be incorporated if 

required.  

 

111. A similar relationship exists between the site and houses/maisonettes at the 

end of Cavendish Gardens, albeit that these properties are at a slightly greater 

distance away (approximately 57m) and not in direct alignment   

 

112. To the north of the site, the closest residential properties are flats (over four 

storeys) at Bronte Court and Lennox Court.  Both buildings have units with 

principal windows and balconies on this side which due to their elevated position, 

have views down into the site.  

 

113. Bronte Court is located to the north-east side of the site, close to the 

application site boundary.  The closest relationship between the two buildings 

would be approximately 35m, which notwithstanding the proposed height of the 

building at this point (six storeys), is considered sufficient due to the degree of 

separation and lower ground level of the application site to ensure that there 

would be no adverse impact on residential amenity due to any overbearing, 

obtrusive, overshadowing effect. In terms of privacy and overlooking, the main 

elevations would be oriented towards the north-west and as such there would be 

no direct relationship between windows and balconies. Furthermore, although the 

site access (exit) would be located close to the site boundary at this point, all 

parking would be located further to the west with planting proposed for the areas 

north of the access and closest to the site boundary at its eastern side.  

Page 83

8



 

114. Lennox Court is located to the north-west of Bronte Court, further away from 

the application site but more centrally to its northern boundary. As such it is 

located at a greater distance from the proposed building (approximately 80m). 

Notwithstanding the clear views of the site from the upper floor flats in this block, 

it is considered that this distance is sufficient to ensure that residential amenity is 

adequately safeguarded.  

 

115. The current access points to St Annes Drive and Nokes Drive, and these 

would become ingress and egress points respectively (as a result in a one-way 

system).  As set out in the Transport Statement (assessed below) traffic levels 

are anticipated to be relatively low due to the nature of the use and the profile of 

future occupiers, and in the context of the site’s location and existing traffic 

movements, it is considered that there would be no unacceptable loss of amenity 

to neighbouring properties due to noise or other disturbance resulting from 

vehicle movements.  

 

116. To conclude in relation to neighbour amenity, whilst the development would 

result in some impact on neighbouring properties (as set out above), it is 

considered that an acceptable degree of privacy between habitable rooms and 

outdoor private amenity spaces would be maintained. No other significant harm 

to residential amenity has been identified, though as this scheme is currently in 

outline it would be necessary at the reserved matters stage to give careful 

consideration to the exact positioning of windows and balconies including through 

the use (as necessary) of obscure glazing or other design features. Landscaping 

details would also need to ensure that neighbour amenity is safeguarded. 

Conditions are also recommended to control/mitigate disturbance during 

construction (dust, noise and Construction Transport Management Plan). 

 

117. In terms of the amenity of future occupiers, it is considered that each unit has 

been designed such that living conditions would be acceptable.  Each unit would 

have outside living amenity space in the form of a private garden (ground floor) or 

balcony (upper floor), oriented to provide sufficient levels of daylight/sunlight. 

There would also be communal accommodation and amenity space. Amenity has 

also been considered in relation to the retention of trees and new planting (see 

below).  

 

Impact from Noise  

118. An acoustic assessment has been submitted with the application. This 
considers the likely significant environmental effects from noise affecting the 
proposed development and existing receptors in the vicinity. 

  

Page 84

8



119. Based on an assessment of the noise climate (which identifies the main 

sources of noise as being road and rail noise, and plane fly-overs), the report 

concludes that subject to detailed design, noise levels within both internal and 

external (ie. within amenity areas) would be acceptable and in accordance with 

relevant guidance. The Council’s noise consultant has recommended imposition 

of a condition requiring the submission of a further noise assessment which 

should demonstrate that acceptable noise levels would be achieved both 

internally and externally at the detailed design stage. The report also concludes 

that ground borne vibration (from the railway) is not expected to give rise to any 

adverse impacts.  

 

120. The acoustic assessment also assesses noise emissions from the proposed 

development, the main source of which is expected to be mechanical services, 

which the indicative plans show as being located on the roof of the proposed 

building.  The report identifies the closest noise sensitive receptors and 

determines typical background noise levels for these properties. It concludes that 

adverse impact from noise can be avoided with standard equipment and noise 

control measures, in accordance with policy and guidance.  This includes 

guidance within Surrey County Councils Guidelines for Noise and Vibration 

Assessment and Control which states ‘plant installations should be assessed 

following the guidance in BS 4142:2014…. It is recommended that for normal 

working hours (weekdays between 07:00 and 19:00 hours) that the difference 

between the rating level and the background sound level should be no greater 

than +5 dB, depending upon the context. Lower differences may be appropriate 

at other sensitive times of the day, depending upon the context.’  Should 

permission be granted, officers recommend that a planning condition is attached 

to the permission to reduce the risk of adverse noise impacts by stipulating these 

noise levels and requiring the submission of the details of external plant to be 

submitted and approved prior to installation.  

 

121. The construction phase of the development would have implications for noise 

disturbance, but this can be mitigated with conditions restricting hours of 

construction and would only sustain for a short period of time.   

 

122. Subject to conditions as set out in the above paragraphs officers are satisfied  

      that the proposed development would not have an unacceptable impact on 

      residential amenity and therefore accords with development plan policy in this  

      regard. 

 

HIGHWAYS, ACCESS AND PARKING 

Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS)  
Policy CS10 – Sustainable Development  
Policy CS17 – Travel Options and Accessibility  
 
Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) 

Page 85

8



Policy DES1 – Design of New Development  
Policy TAP1 – Access, Parking and Servicing  

123.  Paragraph 114 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) states: 

‘In assessing…..specific applications for development, it should be 

ensured that:(a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable 

transport modes can be – or have been – taken up, given the type of 

development and its location; 

(b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; 

(c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and 

the content of associated standards reflects current national guidance, 

including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design 

Code ; and 

(d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport 

network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, 

can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.’ 

124.  It goes on the state in Paragraph 115 that:  

‘Development should only be prevented or refused on highways 

grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, 

or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 

severe.’ 

125.      And in Paragraph 116 that:  

‘Within this context, applications for development should: 

(a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the 

scheme and with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible 

– to facilitating access to high quality public transport, with layouts that 

maximise the catchment area for bus or other public transport services, 

and appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use; 

(b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility 

in relation to all modes of transport; 

(c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise 

the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, 

avoid unnecessary street clutter, and respond to local character and 

design standards; 

Page 86

8



(d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and 

emergency vehicles; and 

(e) be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low 

emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations.’ 

126. RBCS Policy CS10 requires that development is located such that it 

minimises the need to travel, whilst increasing opportunities to walk, cycle of 

use public transport, including as part of the green infrastructure network.  

127.    RBCS Policy CS17 seeks to manage demand and reduce the need to travel, 

and facilitate sustainable transport choices.   

128.  RBDMP Policy TAP1 requires that all development provides safe and 

convenient access for all road users, including through design and layout, and 

provides parking in accordance with adopted standards unless evidence is 

provided to support lower provision. Development should incorporate 

pedestrian and cycle routes within and through the site, linking to the 

sustainable transport network where possible, especially in town centres. 

Development which has an unacceptable impact on highway safety and 

capacity will be resisted, taking into account any proposed mitigation.  

129.  RBDMP Policy DES1 requires that development makes adequate provision 

for access, servicing, circulation and turning space and parking, taking 

account of the impact on local character and residential amenity, including the 

visual impact of parked cars.  

130.  Existing vehicular access to the site is from St Annes Drive, a single 

carriageway road with a 30mph speed limit and Noke Drive, a single 

carriageway, no-through road that provides access to Carrington School at the 

eastern end. 

 

131. It is proposed to retain vehicular access points on both St Annes Drive and 

Noke Drive; access to the site would be via the St Annes Drive entrance with 

egress to Nokes Drive (slightly realigned from existing position).  Internally the 

access road would run east/west, north of the proposed building and close to 

the northern edge of the site. A total of 38 parking spaces would be provided, 

to include three disabled parking spaces, in additional to which there would be 

a drop-off area. All spaces would be provided with electric charging points.   

132. Separate pedestrian access points to the site would be formed to the Noke 

Drive frontage, these being the main entrance and secondary entrances to 

facilitate direct access to the residential units.  Mobility scooter and bike 

storage would be provided (adjacent to the car park). 

Page 87

8



133  As set out in the application details, eight of the parking spaces would be 

allocated to staff, with the remaining 30 spaces available for residents. It is 

stated that demand would depend on occupancy, which would vary depending 

on the number of residents and their respective carers. It is also stated that as 

a comparison, similar residential (retirement flats) sites have been reviewed 

using the TRICS database to understand typical parking accumulation, and 

that to consider maximum parking accumulation (the maximum number of 

vehicles parked at any one time within the hour), a worse-case scenario has 

been considered which assumes that vehicles arriving and leaving within the 

hour would be parked at the same time. Although not explicitly referenced in 

the Transport Statement (TS), schemes such as car clubs can be appropriate 

for extra care facilities, as they can give additional flexibility in terms of 

providing residents with access to a car.  

134.  In terms of vehicle movements, as set out in the Transport Statement, the 

proposed development would result in a maximum of 19 two-way vehicle trips 

in the AM peak (09:00-10:00), with the peak for trips being outside network 

peak hours. The TS concludes that the development would have a negligible 

impact on the local highway network.  

135. For parking, the overall conclusion of the Transport Statement is that given 

the small scale of the proposed development, the anticipated low scale of 

vehicle trip generation, the highly sustainable location, close proximity of the 

public car parks, and the onsite parking, any increase in parking demand due 

to the development is considered likely to be minimal. As set out above, the 

site is very well located in relation to local services and public transport links.  

 

136.  The Council’s TDP officer has raised some concern over the relatively low 

level of parking provision, the pressure on local on-street parking and the lack 

of information in relation to the allocation of parking to residents.  A condition 

has therefore been recommended requiring the submission of a car park 

management plan which would, amongst other requirements, set out how 

spaces would be allocated to residents.   

 

137. It has been confirmed by the Council’s TDP Officer that subject to the 

imposition of this and a number of other conditions, the application is 

acceptable on safety, capacity and policy grounds, and accords with relevant 

guidance (Surrey’s Local Transport Plan 4, Healthy Streets guidance and 

Surrey Parking Standards).   

TREES AND LANDSCAPING  

Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS)  
Policy CS2 – Valued Landscapes and the Natural Environment  
Policy CS10 – Sustainable Development 

Page 88

8



  
Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) 
Policy DES1- Design of New Development  

Policy NHE3 – Protecting Trees, Woodland Areas and Natural Habitats  

 

Reigate and Banstead Local Character and Design Guide SPD (2021) 

 

138. Paragraphs 131-141 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) seek 

to promote the creation of well-designed places and highlight the importance 

of appropriate and effective landscaping as part of this wider objective. 

  

139. With specific reference to trees, it states in Paragraph 136:  

‘Trees make an important contribution to the character and quality of urban 

environments, and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate change. 

Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new streets are tree-lined, 

that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments 

(such as parks and community orchards), that appropriate measures are in 

place to secure the long-term maintenance of newly-planted trees, and that 

existing trees are retained wherever possible. Applicants and local planning 

authorities should work with highways officers and tree officers to ensure that 

the right trees are planted in the right places, and solutions are found that are 

compatible with highways standards and the needs of different users.’ 

140. RBCS Policies CS2 and CS10 seeks to protect and enhance the Borough’s 

green fabric, including (f) urban green spaces, green corridors and site 

specific features which make a positive contribution to the green fabric and/or 

coherent green infrastructure.  

141. RBDMP Policy NHE3 seeks to protect trees, woodland areas and natural 

habitats, resisting the loss of protected trees (TPOs) and higher quality trees 

(category A and B), unless the need for and benefits of the development in that 

location clearly outweigh the loss. Replacement tree and hedge planting, where 

required, should be of appropriate species and planted such that trees can 

reach optimum size. RBDMP Policy DES1 seeks to support development which 

provides street furniture/trees and public art where it visually enhances the 

public realm and/or reinforces a sense of place. Development should also 

incorporate appropriate landscaping to mitigate its impact and complement its 

design.   

 

142. Reigate and Banstead BC’s Local Character and Design Guide SPD (2021) 

encourages new development to reflect local character and distinctiveness, 

including through the retention of trees and landscape features, and the 

introduction of new features. It also contains an appendix setting out 

Page 89

8



appropriate nature tree and shrub species for the different geological areas of 

the Borough (the site being in the Wealden Greensand area).   

 

143. The site is covered by a Tree Preservation Order RE560 (Land at St Annes, 

Redstone Hill, Redhill - 1988). The Order covers 93 individual trees and seven 

groups, within an area which includes the St Annes development to the north 

of the application site. The majority of these trees are outside the application 

site, the plan forming part of the Order showing seven Lime trees (T76, T77, 

T78, T80, T81, T82, and T83), one Sycamore (T79) and three Prunus (T87, 

T88, T89) on the southern and western boundaries of the application site. The 

only one of these trees shown remaining on the site is a Lime at the junction 

of Noke Drive and St Annes Drive. This tree would be retained as part of the 

development.  

144. Eleven individual trees (three Lime T11, T21 and T50; one Silver Birch T14; 

one Japanese Rowan T15; one Corkscrew Willow T16; one Sycamore T18; 

one Leyland Cypress T20 and one Horse Chestnut T49) and one group of 

Sycamore (G19.1) are proposed to be removed. They are a mix of Category B 

and C trees. All these trees would be removed to facilitate the erection of the 

building, or formation of hard surfacing. The remainder of the trees assessed 

in the AAIA would be retained, some with pruning works to be carried out.  

145. It is recognised that RBDMP Policy NHE3 and its supporting design guidance 

seek the retention of higher quality trees as part of any new development 

proposals, and that this scheme would result in the removal of five individual 

trees and one group which are Category B trees, including trees which are 

prominent in the public realm (on the Noke Drive frontage). However, whilst 

these trees may have some value, including within the street scene, it is not 

considered that they make a significant contribution to the character of the 

area.  Furthermore, as set out in the application details, a total of 28 new 

native trees would be planted as part of the landscaping for the new 

development, including species to form a new ‘orchard’ areas (to be dealt with 

as a reserved matter).  Many of these trees would be located on the Noke 

Drive and St Annes Drive boundaries, and as such would represent a 

significant enhancement to the character and appearance of the site.  

146. As set out in the Arboricultural Appraisal and Impact and Assessment (AAIA) 

submitted with the application, the corner of the proposed building would 

result in some incursion into the root protection area of one retained tree 

(G19.3 Sycamore), for which a bespoke foundation design would be required. 

Some RPA incursion would occur during construction (including demolition 

and groundworks), for which a sensitive methodology under supervision is 

required (as set out in the method statement forming part of the AAIA).  

Where new surfaces are proposed within RPAs, no-dig construction 

Page 90

8



techniques should be used, with a cellular confinement system introduced to 

protect tree roots where existing surfaces have been removed. Tree 

protection measures as shown on tree protection plans (for the demolition 

phase and construction phases), and are set out in the method statement.   

147. Although indicative only at this stage, the illustrative landscape masterplan 

submitted with the application shows the overall strategy which would be 

applied to the landscaping of the site. Boundary hedging (native planting) 

would be formed/supplemented to boundaries, with a number of trees and 

orchard areas, as set out above.  Further into the site planting would be in the 

form of grassed areas and shrub beds, intersected by a network of paths. An 

existing pond would be retained and enhanced. Each ground floor garden 

area would be laid partially to grass (with a patio area), some enclosed with 

hedges. Hard surfaced areas would be a mix of tarmac (access road and 

parking areas), and paving.  

148. The County Council’s arboricultural officer advises that the proposed scheme 

would result in low-medium arboricultural impact, and raises no objection 

provided that a net gain in tree numbers and diversity is achieved and tree 

planting/landscaping plans are submitted.  This advice is also subject to the 

suitable protection during construction of any protected or otherwise retained 

trees, the use of suitably sensitive methodology during construction and an 

appropriately robust planting and aftercare regime being out in place, which 

would be secured by condition.  

 

149. Taking all the above into account, it is considered that both the proposed 

removal of trees and the proposed landscape strategy (the detail of which 

would be agreed at the reserved matters stage) are acceptable for the site, 

striking an appropriate balance between tree retention and providing an 

appropriate environment for future occupiers of the site, including those with 

limited mobility. In addition, it is considered that the proposed landscaping 

strategy has the potential to enhance the site’s appearance and character, at 

this prominent edge of town centre location.  

SUSTAINABLE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION  

Surrey Waste Local Plan 2020 

Policy 4 – Sustainable Construction and Waste Management in New 
Development  
 
Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS)  
Policy CS11 – Sustainable Construction  
 
Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) 
Policy DES1 – Design of New Development  
Policy DES8 – Construction Management  
Policy CCF1 – Climate Change Mitigation  

Page 91

8



 
Reigate and Banstead Borough Council Climate Change and Sustainable 
Construction SPD 2021 
 
150. Paragraphs 158-164 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) sets 

out the role the planning system is expected to play in supporting the 

transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate. As part of this, it states 

in Paragraph 162 that: 

‘In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should expect 

new development to: 

(a) comply with any development plan policies on local requirements 

for decentralised energy supply unless it can be demonstrated by the 

applicant, having regard to the type of development involved and its 

design, that this is not feasible or viable; and 

(b) take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and 

landscaping to minimise energy consumption. 

151. SWLP Policy 4 seeks to minimise waste generated during the construction, 

demolition and excavation phase of development, maximise opportunities for 

re-use and for the recycling of such waste, encourage the provision of on-site 

facilities to manage the waste arising during the operation of the development 

and storage facilities to facilitate the reuse and recycling of waste.  

152. RBCS Policy CS10 requires development to minimise the use of natural 

resources and contribute to a reduction in carbon emissions by re-using 

existing resources, maximising energy efficiency, minimising water use, and 

reducing the production of waste, including through sustainable construction 

methods. RBCS Policy CS11 seeks to encourage sustainable construction.  

153. RBDMP Policy CCF1 requires that new residential development incorporates 

water and energy efficiency measures, states that the design of buildings 

should maximise opportunities for energy saving and encourages the use of 

sustainable construction methods and materials.  

154. A Sustainable Design and Construction Statement has been submitted with 

the application. This states how the various strands of national and local 

policy encompassing sustainability in all its forms are reflected in the 

proposals. These include; operational energy; embodied carbon; biodiversity 

and ecology; adaption and resilience; health and wellbeing; connectivity; 

social value; resource efficiency; and construction waste.  

 

Page 92

8



155. A number of key Surrey County Council documents forming part of its 

Organisation Strategy are cited, including its Community Vision for Surrey in 

2030, which includes the desire for Surrey to be a great place to live, work 

and learn, and a place where communities feel supported and people are able 

to support each other. It also cites the Council’s four key priorities - growing a 

sustainable economy so everyone can benefit; tackling health inequality; 

enabling a greener future; empowering communities, as well as the Council’s 

Environmental Policy and Action Plan, its Climate Change Strategy and Action 

Plan, Local Transport Plan and Sustainable Construction Standing Advice 

Note.  

 

156. Measures proposed in the Statement include those relating to the design of 

the building, to ensure that it is energy efficient, minimising heat loss and 

utilising low carbon energy systems (with an ambition to achieve net zero 

carbon in operation). It is proposed also to incorporate air source heat pumps 

systems and solar PV panels to the roof. Other efficiencies would be sought 

through the use of measures such as the installation of efficient fittings to 

reduce water consumption.  

 

157. A Resource Management Plan (RMP) would be developed, which would set 

out key objectives for achieving efficient use of material resources and to 

reduce the amount of waste produced through construction activities on site, 

in line with the Surrey Waste Local Plan 2020.  In accordance with the 

principles set out in Policy S4 of the SWLP, and in response to the relevant 

regulatory, policy and guidance context, it is stated that the RMP should set 

out several strategies to reuse, recycle or recover at least 90% of construction 

and demolition waste. The submission of these details would be required by 

condition.  

 

158. For the detailed design stage (reserved matters) embodied carbon reduction 

strategies and circular economy principles would be explored and 

implemented to reduce overall waste generation, and that compliance with the 

waste hierarchy is also embedded (ie. through the provision of accessible 

waste storage with containers for different waste streams).  

 

159. Improved health and wellbeing would be achieved through the project as a 

whole, as residents with extra needs would be able to better access support 

to enhance their quality of life, including through communal living and the 

social cohesion that would bring. The building has been designed such that it 

focuses on indoor air quality, and the provision of sufficient daylight, together 

with the provision of shared and private outdoor amenity space.  

 

Page 93

8



160. Enhancing biodiversity would be achieved through landscaping design, the 

planting for which would include a range of species with ecological value and 

measures to create a range of natural habitats. 

 

161. The incorporation of Sustainable Drainage System techniques (SuDS) would 

build in climate change resilience. Various measures would be incorporated to 

encourage active travel, and reduce car use (the site is close to Redhill town 

centre and its services and facilities). 100% provision would also be made for 

electric vehicle charging points.  

 

162. It is considered that subject to the implementation of the range of measures 

set out above, the proposal meets national and local policy objectives in 

relation to sustainable construction.   

 

ECOLOGY AND BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN  

Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS)  
Policy CS10- Sustainable Development  
 
Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) 
Policy NHE2 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Areas of Geological 
Importance  
Policy NHE4 – Green and Blue Infrastructure 
 
Reigate and Banstead Local Character and Design Guide SPD (2021) 
 

163. Paragraphs 180-188 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) seek 

to ensure that planning policies and decision making contribute to and 

enhance the local and natural environment. In particular, they should seek to 

minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity, ensuring that any 

harm to biodiversity is adequately mitigated. If significant harm to biodiversity 

resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on an 

alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last 

resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused 

(Paragraph 186 (a)).  

 

164. RBCS Policy CS2 seeks to protect and enhance the Boroughs valued 

landscapes and natural environment, including the Mole Valley Gap to 

Reigate Escarpment SAC, SSSIs and green infrastructure generally.  

 

165. RBCS Policy CS10 requires that development is designed such that avoids 

adverse effects on wildlife, and reflects the need to adapt to climate change, 

including in relation to ecology.  

 

Page 94

8



166. RBDMP Policies NHE2 and NHE4 seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity 

and promote the provision of (and access to) green and blue infrastructure. In 

particular, Policy NHE2 states that internationally designated sites including the 

Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SAC will be provided the highest level of 

protection, and that development proposals which are likely to have a significant 

effect on these sites, either individually or in combination with other 

development, must be accompanied by an Appropriate Assessment and will 

only be permitted where the proposed development will not have an adverse 

effect on the integrity of the site.  Proposals for major developments should also 

have regard to the possibility of Bechstein’s Bat using the site.  

 

167. Reigate and Banstead BC’s Local Character and Design Guide SPD (2021) 

encourages new development to reflect local character and distinctiveness, 

and development that contributes to and enhances the natural and local 

environment, and providing net gains for biodiversity. 

 

168. Although this is an outline application and landscaping is a reserved matter, to 

accord with policy an assessment needs to be made of the impact of the 

development on biodiversity including any protected species.  

 

169. A Preliminary Ecological and Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment (PEA and 

BNG) has been submitted. This sets out the ecological constraints of the site, 

whether any mitigation measures are likely to be required, any additional 

surveys which may be required, and opportunities for ecological 

enhancement. It also sets out the baseline BNG unit score for the area 

surveyed. An Ecology Report (August 2024) has also been submitted, which 

updates and expands on the PEA.   

 

170. Three statutory designated sites were recorded within 2 km of the site, including 

one Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and one Local Nature Reserve 

(LNR).  Eight non-statutory designated sites, comprising Sites of Nature 

Conservation Importance (SNCI) were recorded within 2 km of the survey area, 

the closest being the Holmethorpe Sandpits Complex SNCI (approximately 

200m to the east).  The site is not within a Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA), 

however four BOAs are located within 2km of the survey area (WG11 

Holmesdale being located 210m from the survey area).  

 

171.     The site is also located 1.8km from, and within the Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) of, 

 the Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SSSI. It is also located 2.6km from the 

 Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment Special Area of Conservation SAC.  

 

172. Eleven UK habitat classification types were recorded on site during the field 

survey (neutral grassland; modified grassland; other hedgerow; buildings; 

Page 95

8



developed land/sealed surface; artificial unvegetated/unsealed surface; built 

linear feature – fence;  bramble scrub; mixed scrub; scattered scrub; lines of 

trees; standing open water). These habitats have the potential to support the 

following protected species or species of conservation concern: invertebrates, 

reptiles, badgers, amphibians (including Great Crested Newt), nesting birds, 

other mammals and foraging bats.  

 

173. The ecology report screens the development for impacts on the SAC and 

SSSI, concluding that (1) it would not result in a habitat loss within the SAC or 

SSSI as the survey area is not directly or indirectly connected to the SSSI or 

SAC; and (2) it would not adversely impact Annex I or Annex II species, 

directly or indirectly, as there are unlikely to be recreational impacts due to the 

distance from the site; no Bechstein’s bats were recorded on site (and due to 

the requirement for dark woodlands do not provide appropriate habitat for 

commuting, foraging or roosting); and there is a lack of connectivity for Great 

Crested Newt populations. On this basis, the report concludes that the SAC 

and SSSI will not be adversely affected by the development, and an 

appropriate assessment under the Habitat Regulations is not required. It is 

also noted that an assessment under the Habitats Regulations would have 

been carried out as part of the preparation of the RBDMP, which allocated this 

site for residential development.  

 

174. In terms of protected species and species of conservation concern, there is 

one waterbody (pond) on the application site which have been assessed for 

its suitability for supporting Great Crested Newt (there is another site on the 

wider Colebrook site, but outside the application site). Habitat suitability 

surveys were carried out at both ponds in 2022, and with updated survey work 

carried out on the pond within the application site in April 2024.  Both were 

concluded to be of below average suitability for GCN.   

 

175. The site does have suitability for reptiles and mammals (including badger and 

bats) and without mitigation the proposed development could result in 

generalised impacts if mitigation is not considered (these are set out in 

paragraph 6.1.3 of the PEA).  

 

176. Reptile survey work was carried out in May 2024, and none were recorded. 

The survey area supports suitable badger habitat (including setts) within 

mixed scrub and hedgerows, although no activity was recorded during survey 

work carried out in 2021, and again during a walkover in April 2024. 

 

177. Two buildings were initially identified in 2021 as having suitability for roosting 

bats, although no bat species were identified at that time.  Updated survey work 

was carried out in May 2024, which included an assessment of building B1 (no 

Page 96

8



roosting bats were recorded).  A ground level roost assessment was carried out 

for a number of trees, with further aerial inspection carried out as necessary, it 

being concluded that there was low suitability for roosting bats.  It is 

recommended that mitigation is for potential loss of habitat is provided through 

the provision of bat boxes.  Lighting should also be designed to ensure minimal 

impact on bats.  

 

178. A number of non-native and invasive plant species were recorded on site, and 

it is recommended that these are removed to prevent them from escaping into 

the wider countryside. No rare/notable plant species were recorded on site.  

 

179. As set out above, RBDMP Policy NHE2 expects development to be designed, 

where possible, to achieve a net gain in biodiversity. Although the submission 

of this application predates the introduction of mandatory Biodiversity Net 

Gain (BNG) in February 2024 as enacted by Schedule 14 of the Environment 

Act 2021 (which inserted Section 90A into the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990), weight is given to this provision which seeks all new development to 

achieve a net gain of 10%.   

 

180. As set out in the application details (Updated BNG Assessment Letter 

February 2024), an assessment has been carried out which evaluates the 

baseline biodiversity units and identifies possible scenarios for habitat 

enhancement and creation, and the potential net gain in biodiversity units that 

this would achieve (based on the submitted landscape plan). Biodiversity net 

gain, including assessment and habitat classification, is calculated and 

interpreted following eight accepted principles and rules and supported by 

good practice principles and code of practice that detail, among other things, 

how to implement biodiversity net gain good practice principles within each 

stage of a development project’s life cycle.  

 

181. The broad habitat types in the survey area have been set out above. Habitat 

retention, enhancement, and creation opportunities (as detailed in the 

landscape plan) comprise: 

 

• Creation of modified grassland  

• Creation of other neutral grassland 

• Creation of species rich hedgerows 

• Creation of bioswale (to south side of site) 

• Creation of new tree planting (native and orchard trees) 

• Retention and enhancement of pond 

• Creation of vegetated gardens and shrubs   

 

Page 97

8



182. Applying the BNG metric 4.0, a habitat based approach used to assess an 

area’s value to wildlife, (updated calculations August 2024), it is calculated 

that the development would result in a 40.88% increase in habitat units and 

302.92% increase in hedgerow units. On this basis it is considered that 

sufficient information has been submitted to conclude that the proposal would 

meet policy requirements in relation to ecology and BNG. 

 

183. The County Ecologist has confirmed that the application is acceptable, 

including in relation to BNG, subject to the imposition of conditions.  

 

AIR QUALITY  

Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS)  
Policy CS10 – Sustainable Development  
 
Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) 
Policy DES9 – Pollution and Contaminated Land  

184. Paragraph 191 of the NPPF (2023) requires that planning policies and 

decisions ensure new development is appropriate for its location taking into 

account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, 

living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential 

sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the 

development.  

185. Paragraph 192 states that planning policies and decisions should sustain and 

contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives 

for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management 

Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites 

in local areas. Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in 

Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the 

local air quality action plan. 

186. RBCS Policy CS10 requires that development is designed to minimise 

pollution, including air, noise and light, and to safeguard water quality. 

187. RBDMP Policy DES9 requires that development will only be permitted where 

it can be demonstrated that it will not result in a significant adverse impact on 

the natural or built environment; amenity; or health and safety (due to fumes, 

smoke, steam, dust, noise, vibration, smell, light or other form of pollution). It 

is also states that development will not normally be permitted where existing 

forms of pollution are such that any unacceptable impact cannot be 

adequately mitigated.  

Page 98

8



188. The applicant has submitted an Air Quality Assessment, which presents a 

review of baseline air quality conditions in the vicinity of the application site 

and provides an assessment of the potential local air quality effects 

associated with its construction and operation. 

 

189. The report correctly identifies that the application site is not in an Air Quality 

Management Area (AQMA). Reigate and Banstead Borough Council has 

declared nine Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs), the closest to the site 

being 60m to the south-west of the site, encompassing roads and properties 

within Redhill town centre.  

 

190. The key air pollutants addressed in this report are nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and 

fine particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5), as these pollutants are the most 

likely to be present at concentrations close to or above national air quality 

criteria in an urbanised environment.  

 

191. A detailed air quality assessment for the operational phase of the 

development was carried out using a dispersion model, and it was concluded 

that it is not expected to have a significant effect on local air quality, with 

concentrations of NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 being below AQS targets (based on 

an operational date of 2028).  

 

192. The report highlights that the construction phase of the development has the 

potential to generate dust and PM10 emissions, which may have a short-term 

adverse impact at nearby human health receptors. Suitable best practice 

mitigation measures, proportionate to the highest risk of dust impacts 

(MEDIUM), should be applied during the construction phase by the appointed 

contractor. Officers recommend that a condition is applied if planning 

permission is granted requiring the submission of a Dust Management Plan.   

 

HERITAGE ASSETS  

Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 (RBCS)  
Policy CS4- Valued Townscapes and the Historic Environment  

 

Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019 (RBDMP) 
Policy NHE9 – Heritage Assets  
 
Redstone Hill Conservation Area Appraisal draft December 2013 
Reigate and Banstead Local Character and Design Guide SPD (2021) 
 

193. Paragraph 200 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) states that:   

 

Page 99

8



‘In determining applications, Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) should require 

an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, 

including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be 

proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to 

understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a 

minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been 

consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise 

where necessary. Where a site on which development is proposed includes, 

or has the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, 

local planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate 

desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.’ 

 

194.  It goes on to advise that in determining applications, LPAs should identify and 

assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected 

by the development, taking account of any available evidence and any 

necessary expertise.   

 

195. Paragraph 205 states: 

 

‘When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance 

of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 

conservation.’ 

 

196. Paragraph 208 goes on to state: 

 

‘Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 

securing its optimum viable use.’ 

 

197.  And paragraph 209 states:  

 

‘The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage 

asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing 

applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a 

balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or 

loss and the significance of the heritage asset.  

 

198. RBCS Policy CS4 requires that development is sensitively designed to 

respect, conserve and enhance the historic environment, including heritage 

assets and their settings.  

 

Page 100

8



199. RBCLP Policy NHE8 requires development to protect, preserve and, where 

possible, enhance the Borough’s designated and non-designated heritage 

assets and sets out a number of criteria accordingly. Proposals affecting 

Conservation Areas must pay particular attention to those elements that make 

a positive contribution to the character, and setting, and special architectural 

or historic interest of the area.  For sites over 0.4ha, an archaeological 

assessment, and where appropriate a field evaluation, will be required to 

inform the determination of a planning application.  

 

200. Reigate and Banstead BC’s Local Character and Design Guide SPD (2021) 

encourages new development to reflect local character and distinctiveness, 

including through form and layout, landscaping and boundary treatment the 

appropriate use of materials and design features. Development should also 

respect and reflect as appropriate the historic development of an area and its 

prevailing architectural style and character, and its landscape context.  

 

201. The only designated heritage asset within the 250m study area identified in 

the Heritage Assessment submitted with the application are Copyhold 

Cottages (Grade II listed), which are located 80m to the east of the application 

site. The cottages, now a single dwelling, derive their significance from their 

age and construction (timber framed cottages dating from the early 17th 

century), and relatively open setting on the edge of the urban area, having 

been located in open countryside before the development of Redhill in the 19th 

century.  

 

202. As set out in the Heritage Assessment, there is some intervisibility between 

the application site and Copyhold Cottages, which has the potential to impact 

their setting. Due to the degree of separation between the two, and the 

existence of intervening vegetation, the HA concludes that there would be 

negligible impact on the significance of Copyhold Cottages. The Council’s 

Historic Buildings Officer (HBO) concurs with this conclusion, advising that 

much of the open landscape around the cottages has been replaced with 

suburban housing and that its setting reveals little about its significance. On 

that basis he concludes that there will not be any impact on the listed 

buildings.  

 

203. The HA also identifies that there are eleven non-designated heritage assets 

located within 250m of the application site. These have been identified 

through the HER, three being of particular interest due to their proximity to the 

site; (1) a section of wall at Knights Place; (2) a former gas works 40m west of 

the applications and (3) the former St Annes Hospital to the north (demolished 

in 1987). The HA concludes that as all three have been replaced by modern 

housing, no impact is identified. 

Page 101

8



 

204. In addition to these non-designated heritage assets, there are a number of 

locally listed buildings close to the application site, as identified in the List of 

Buildings of Architectural and Historic Interest produced by Reigate and 

Banstead Borough Council (Sixth Edition dated May 2014). To the west (75m) 

and south west (185m) respectively are the central platform at Redhill Station 

(75m) (mid 19th century, with cast iron columns) and the former railway hotel 

(more latterly the Lakers Hotel, and now Toby Carvery) (built C1844 of local 

sandstone). Both assets have significance in relation to the 19th century 

development of Redhill town centre and the railway, but in neither case is it 

considered that their setting will be impacted by the development.   

 

205. Approximately 80m to the south are Nos 10 and 12 Cavendish Road; No. 10 

dates from C1900 and is tile hung in the Arts and Crafts style, and No. 12 

dates from the mid 19th century, one of the earliest houses in this part of 

Redhill.  Both have their frontages to the south, facing away from the 

application site, and are separated from it by later housing, minimising the 

impact of the proposed development on them. As they form part of the 

Redstone Hill Conservation Area, this impact is addressed in more detail 

below in the context of the wider area.   

 

206. As set out in the HA, the site is located 65m north of the Redstone Hill 

Conservation Area, which comprises a number of residential roads on rising 

land leading off Redstone Hill, primarily to its eastern side.  The Conservation 

Area is described in the Redstone Hill Conservation Area Appraisal 

(December 2013) as being a ‘cohesive grouping of Arts and Craft houses by 

the Architect Albert Venner, complimented by a number of prominent buildings 

such as the Lakers Hotel and a rising topography.’ Albert Venner was a local 

architect who lived at No. 37 Redstone Hill and was an influential figure in the 

development of the area. The houses were designed in the ‘faux vernacular’, 

typical of the late 19th and early 20th centuries area, from which the area 

derives its strong significance, and the Appraisal states that ‘there is a need to 

ensure the cohesiveness of the Venner development is not eroded by 

insensitive development’. 

 

207. The Council’s HBO describes the Venner development as having good quality 

houses from the period defined by their use of pitched roofs, tiles, boundary 

walls, brick and faux timber. Key buildings identified in the Appraisal are the 

former Lakers Hotel, the Home Cottage PH, the Oak in Fenton Road and 12 

Cavendish Road (which pre-dates the Venner-phase development of the 

area).  

 

Page 102

8



208. The setting of the Conservation Area is described by the Council’s HBO as 

being mixed, in part dominated by views of the recent, modern development 

of Redhill town centre (to the west).  This is particularly the case for parts of 

Cavendish Road, including at its junction with Redstone Hill, from which the 

high-rise development to the west, and the postal sorting office building, are 

clearly visible. However in other parts of the Conservation Area, there is little 

indication of the town centre, including from Crossland Road and Hillfield 

Road which – due to their elevated position - have distant views to the North 

Downs, over and beyond the application site. The view north from Crossland 

Road is identified in the Appraisal as a key view. 

 

209. The Council’s HBO raises no objection to the demolition of the existing 

buildings on site, or its redevelopment at scale to provide extra care housing. 

However, he identifies some harm due to the height of the building, the 

proposed flat roof (in contrast to traditional flat roofs), and the loss of views of 

the surrounding hills. He advises that the impact of the building would be 

particularly evident from views down Crossland Road (decreasing towards its 

northern end), and also through gaps along Cavendish Road. Existing tree 

cover and other buildings would limit views to the top storey, lift towers and 

plant, and as such the building would not be ‘omnipresent’, however he 

considers that there would be an intrusion into this ‘significant Victorian and 

Edwardian sanctuary’ from modern day Redhill.  

 

210. These comments are noted, and it is recognised (as set out previously in this 

report) that the proposed building would be of significantly different scale to 

that currently on site and therefore with the potential to be more visible from 

the Conservation Area to the south. However, as shown in a series of 

indicative views submitted as part of the Heritage Assessment, views of the 

site would be relatively limited due to existing buildings and topography. Views 

are further screened by tree cover (including evergreen varieties), although it 

is acknowledged that tree cover should not be relied on in the longer term to 

screen development.  

 

211. In terms of views from Cavendish Road, it is considered that the virtually 

continuous line of development to its north side largely precludes views apart 

from very sporadically. It is noted on this point that the development of Venner 

Close (partially in a backland location behind the frontage development on 

Cavendish Road) post-dates the designation of the Conservation Area and its 

Appraisal. This group of buildings has impacted significantly on the previously 

open nature of this land between the application site and the Conservation 

Area, limiting intervisibility and further divorcing the two areas in a visual 

sense.  

 

Page 103

8



212. In terms of more distant views from the higher part of Cavendish Road, it is 

recognised that upper sections of the building are likely to be visible from 

certain vantage points. However, these would again be glimpsed between 

buildings and seen against views of the wider landscape north of the town (to 

the North Downs), which would be unaffected by development on low-lying 

land in its foreground. This view includes Gatton Hall (Grade II) and its 

parkland (Gatton Park – Grade II).   Furthermore, as set out previously, the 

four storey residential blocks comprising the St Annes development – which 

are located on higher ground above the application site – are highly visible in 

views from this direction and it is in this context that the proposed 

development would be viewed. Comments relating to the flat roofed design of 

the proposed building (which would be in contrast with the St Annes 

development) are noted, however as has been set out previously, flat roofed 

development forms part of the character of the area, including within the town 

centre and the postal sorting office.   

 

213. The Council’s historic buildings officer concludes that the development would 

result in a low level of substantial harm to the Redstone Hill Conservation 

Area (a designated heritage asset). The NPPF requires that great weight is 

given to any harm to such assets, and states in paragraph 208 that where a 

development proposal leads to less than substantial harm to the significance 

of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 

public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its 

optimum viable use. The Council’s HBO advises that in this case, he 

considers the provision of extra care housing to weigh in favour of the scheme 

as it will significantly benefit the community and it is not considered that the 

harm to the conservation area is sufficient to justify refusal. It is further noted 

that no specific objection has been raised in this regard by Reigate and 

Banstead’s Conservation Officer. 

 

214. In line with the policy requirement set out in RBDMP Policy NHE8, an 

Archaeological Desk Based Assessment has been carried out. Further field 

evaluation was then undertaken, with five trial trenches excavated in the 

northern part of the site.  This revealed a small assemblage of unstratified 

worked flint, but there was no trace of any significant archaeological features. 

Evidence from the evaluation suggests that the area to the south may be less 

disturbed than first thought due to soil build up and hill wash. However, the 

County Council’s Archaeological Officer advises that as the proposed new 

build in this area largely corresponds with the footprint of the current buildings, 

which are likely to have disturbed any archaeological features that may have 

been present, no further work is required in this area. On this basis, he has 

confirmed that no further archaeological work will be required and as the 

evaluation has demonstrated that significant archaeological remains will not 

Page 104

8



be impacted upon by the new development, and there is no need for any 

archaeological condition to be imposed on any permission.  

 

215. Further research has been undertaken in relation to the reference made in 

Reigate and Banstead BC’s response to the possible existence of a historic 

watermill in the vicinity of the site. The origin of this query is that there is a 

record in the Surrey History Centre showing a recently demolished watermill 

(postcard), described as being of The Mill House in Salfords (south of 

Redhill). The Reigate and Banstead BC Conservation Officer queried whether 

this could relate to the former pumping station which is shown on historic 

maps on the site adjacent to the current application site, as such sites often 

evolved from earlier watermills. In the absence of any evidence to support the 

suggestion that there was a watermill on this site, and that the site has since 

been redeveloped, it is concluded that there is a very low likelihood of 

archaeological remains being evident on the application site. 

 

Human Rights and Equalities Implications 

 

216. The Human Rights Act Guidance for Interpretation, contained in the Preamble 

to the Agenda is expressly incorporated into this report and must be read in 

conjunction with the following paragraph. 

 

217. In this case, it is the Officer’s view that the scale of such impact is not 

considered sufficient to engage Article 6 or Article A of Protocol 1 and any 

impacts can be mitigated by conditions, taking into account representations 

made in relation to the impact of the development on their residential 

amenities. The proposal is not considered to interfere with any Convention 

rights. 

 

218. The Council is required by section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 to have due 

regard to the need to eliminate conduct prohibited by the act, advance 

equality of opportunity and foster good relations between people with 

protected characteristics and people who do not. The level of “due regard” 

considered sufficient in any particular context depends on the facts. 

219.  In this instance, the Council has considered its duty under the Equality Act 

2010 and has concluded that this application does not give rise to any 

equalities considerations.   

 

Conclusion 

 

220.     This is an outline application, seeking approval for layout, scale and means  

Page 105

8



            of access (with appearance and landscaping reserved for future  

            consideration).  

 

221.    The proposal accords with national and local planning policy regarding the  

           provision of housing for boosting the supply of housing generally, and  

           specialist housing for different groups in the community in particular.  The site  

           is allocated in the development plan for residential and community uses,  

           which this development would deliver. It is also very well located in relation to  

           Redhill town centre, and the services and facilities located there, with  

           good inter-connectivity between the site and its surroundings. 

 

222.   It is recognised that part of the site is located in Flood Zones 3b  

          and 3a, and that the proposed development (for extra care  

          housing) is also classed as ‘More Vulnerable’ as defined by the NPPF.  

          However, it is considered that it has been demonstrated that the Sequential  

          Test and Exceptions Test have been met, this having also been assessed in  

          light of the site’s local plan allocation for residential and community use. The  

          site is previously developed and the proposed development would through its  

          design provide compensatory storage capacity for flood water and minimise  

          risk from flooding for future occupiers.  

 

223.   It is also recognised that a low level of substantial harm has been identified to  

          the Redstone Hill Conservation area (a designated heritage asset) to which  

          great weight must be afforded in the planning balance.   

 

224.   Comments raised in representations, including those raised by Reigate and  

          Banstead Borough Council, are acknowledged and have been afforded due  

          weight.  

 

225.   Weighing in its favour, and attributed significant weight, the proposal would  

          deliver up to 120 modern, extra care units on an existing, unused brownfield  

          site in a highly sustainable location. It would also accord with the Borough’s  

          aspirations as set out in the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 for  

          prioritising the use of sustainably located previously developed sites and the  

          delivery of housing for all sections of the community, including the elderly, and  

          affordable housing. It is also considered that the redevelopment of this  

          prominent site at one of the key approaches to the town centre would have a  

          positive impact on the area, and re-introduce activity to the street frontage, at  

          Noke Drive in particular. The proposal would not sterilise or otherwise  

          compromise use of land to the north, which forms part of land allocated for  

          residential and community use in Policy RTC4 of the RBDMP.  It would also  

          result in a positive benefit in terms of biodiversity, delivering a net gain in this  

          regard. It is considered that the low level of significant harm to the Redstone  

Page 106

8



          Hill Conservation Area is outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme, in  

          accordance with paragraph 208 of the NPPF. 

 
Recommendation 

That, subject to Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning Regulations 1992, 

outline planning consent is granted for application reference: RE24/00028/CON, 

subject to the following conditions: 

 

IMPORTANT - CONDITION NOS. 5, 9, 18, 20, 22, 26 and 28 MUST BE 
DISCHARGED PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE DEVELOPMENT. 
 

Conditions: 

 

Commencement  

 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration 

of five years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two 

years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 

approved, whichever is the later. 

 

Approved Plans 

 

2. The means of access, siting, layout and scale of the development hereby 

approved is as shown on the following approved plans/drawings: 

  

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-00-DR-A-02100 Rev P02 – Existing 

Location Plan dated 15 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-00-DR-A-02102 Rev P02 – Existing Site 

Plan dated 15 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-00-DR-A-02103 Rev P02 – Proposed 

Site Plan dated 15 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-00-DR-A-90111 Rev P02 – Indicative 

General Arrangements – Proposed Plans – Ground Floor dated 13 December 

2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-01-DR-A-90112 Rev P02 – Indicative 

General Arrangements – Proposed Plans – First Floor dated 13 December 

2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-02-DR-A-90113 Rev P02 – Indicative 

General Arrangements – Proposed Plans – Second Floor dated 13 December 

2023 

Page 107

8



 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-03-DR-A-90114 Rev P02 – Indicative 

General Arrangements – Proposed Plans – Third Floor dated 13 December 

2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-04-DR-A-90115 Rev P02 – Indicative 

General Arrangements – Proposed Plans – Fourth Floor dated 13 December 

2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-05-DR-A-90116 Rev P02 – Indicative 

General Arrangements – Proposed Plans – Fifth Floor dated 13 December 

2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-06-DR-A-90117 Rev P02 – Indicative 

General Arrangements – Proposed Plans – Roof Plan dated 13 December 

2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L-00001 Rev P03 – Landscape 

Proving Plan dated 14 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-02300 Rev P02 – Existing Site 

Section dated 13 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-02301 Rev P02 – Indicative 

Proposed Site Section dated 13 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-90200 Rev P02 – Existing Site 

Elevations 1 of 2 dated 13 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-90201 Rev P02 – Existing Site 

Elevations 2 of 2 dated 13 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-90202 Rev P02 – Indicative 

Proposed Site Elevations 1 of 2 dated 15 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-90203 Rev P02 – Indicative 

Proposed Site Elevations 2 of 2 dated 15 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: SCC23642-01A Rev A -Tree Survey Plan dated 27 March 

2023 

 • Drawing Number: SCC23642-03 Rev A -Tree Protection Plan – Sheet 1 of 3 

(Demolition Phase) dated 20 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: SCC23642-03 Rev A – Tree Protection Plan – Sheet 2 of 3 

(Construction Phase) dated 20 December 2023 

 • Drawing Number: SCC23642-03 Rev A – Tree Protection Plan – Sheet 3 of 3 

(Combined Phase) dated 20 December 2023 

 

Reserved Matters  

 

3. Approval of the details of the design and external appearance of the building, 

and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") 

shall be obtained from the County Planning Authority in writing before any 

development is commenced and carried out as approved. Plans and 

particulars of the reserved matters referred to above, shall be submitted in 

Page 108

8



writing to the County Planning Authority before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 

 

Flood Risk and Drainage  

 

4. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood 

Risk Assessment ref: Colebrook Day Centre Flood Risk Assessment, dated: 

04/04/2024, job number: 5210471 and the following mitigation measure it 

details: 

  

 • Compensatory storage shall be provided of total volume of 523m3 at 

NGR location: TQ283506 

  

This mitigation measure shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 

subsequently in accordance with the scheme’s timing/phasing arrangements. 

The measure detailed above shall be retained and maintained thereafter 

throughout the lifetime of the development.  

 

5. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until details of the 

design of a surface water drainage scheme have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The design must satisfy 

the SuDS Hierarchy and be compliant with the national Non-Statutory 

Technical Standards for SuDS, NPPF and Ministerial Statement on SuDS. 

The required drainage details shall include: 

  

 a) Evidence that the proposed final solution will effectively manage the 1 

in 30 (+35% allowance for climate change) & 1 in 100 (+40% allowance for 

climate change) storm events and 10% allowance for urban creep during all 

stages of the development. Associated discharge rates and storage volumes 

shall be provided using a maximum discharge rate equivalent to the pre-

development Greenfield run-off including multifunctional sustainable drainage 

systems. 

  

 b) Detailed drainage design drawings and calculations to include: a 

finalised drainage layout detailing the location of drainage elements, pipe 

diameters, levels, and long and cross sections of each element including 

details of any flow restrictions and maintenance/risk reducing features (silt 

traps, inspection chambers etc.). 

  

 c) A plan showing exceedance flows (i.e. during rainfall greater than 

design events or during blockage) and how property on and off site will be 

protected from increased flood risk. 

  

Page 109

8



 d) Evidence that the existing drainage to be retained is fit for its purpose. 

  

 e) Details of drainage management responsibilities and maintenance 

regimes for the drainage system. 

  

 f) Details of how the drainage system will be protected during 

construction and how runoff (including any pollutants) from the development 

site will be managed before the drainage system is operational. 

  

 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 

details.  

 

6. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until a 

verification report carried out by a qualified drainage engineer has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. This 

must demonstrate that the surface water drainage system has been 

constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail any minor variations), provide 

the details of any management company and state the national grid reference 

of any key drainage elements (surface water attenuation devices/areas, flow 

restriction devices and outfalls), and confirm any defects have been rectified. 

 

7. Details of a Flood Warning and Evacuation Plan shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of the 

building and thereafter implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

 

8. The Reserved Matters shall include the detailed design of the access ramp to 

the main/south entrance to the building hereby permitted including details of 

how the ramp will be designed to reduce flood risk.  

 

Highways, Traffic and Access 

 

9. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted a 

Construction Transport Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the County Planning Authority, to include: 

  

 a) Details of parking for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors.  

 b) Details of loading and unloading of plant and materials. 

 c) Details of storage of plant and materials. 

 d) A programme of works (including measures for traffic management). 

 e) Details of boundary hoarding to be provided behind any visibility zones 

 f) Details of vehicle routing. 

 g) Measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway. 

Page 110

8



 h) Details of how ‘before and after’ condition surveys of the highway are to be 

submitted, and a commitment to fund the repair of any damage caused 

 i) Details of turning for construction vehicles so that they may enter and leave 

the site in forward gear. 

  

 Only the approved details shall be implemented during the construction of the 

development hereby permitted.  

 

10. During the construction phase of the development hereby permitted, no HGVs 

shall enter or leave the site before 08.30; between the hours of 15.00 and 

16.00 or after 18.00 Monday to Friday; and before 08.00 and after 13.00 on a 

Saturday; nor shall the contractor to permit any HGV vehicles associated with 

the development at the site to wait in Nokes Drive or St Annes Drive at any 

time.  

 

11. No part of the development shall be first occupied unless and until the 

proposed vehicular access to St Annes’s Drive and Noke Drive as shown on 

Drawing Number: 5210471-ATK-XX-00-DR-A-02103 rev P02 – Proposed Site 

Plan dated 15 December 2023 have been constructed and provided with 

visibility zones in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the County Planning Authority and thereafter the visibility zones 

shall be kept permanently clear of any obstruction over 1.05m high. 

 

12. The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied unless and until 

existing unutilised accesses from the site to Noke Drive have been 

permanently closed and any kerbs, verge, footway, and parking restriction 

markings, fully reinstated. 

 

13. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until the 

proposed Electric Vehicle charging points have been provided for all parking 

spaces, 20% of which must be fast charge sockets (current minimum 

requirements - 7kw Mode 3 with Type 2 connector - 230v AC 32 Amp single 

phase dedicated supply) in accordance with a scheme to be submitted and 

approved in writing by the County Planning Authority and thereafter retained 

and maintained.  

 

14. The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied unless and until 

the following facilities have been provided in accordance with a scheme to be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority for: 

  

 (a)The secure, covered parking of bicycles within the development site, 

including charging facilities for electric cycles 

 (b)Charging facilities for mobility scooters 

Page 111

8



 (c)The provision of a car club space within the development, or other shared 

transport service 

 (d)Information to be provided to residents / staff / visitors regarding the 

availability of and whereabouts of local public transport and car clubs and 

thereafter the said approved facilities shall be provided, retained, and 

maintained to the satisfaction of the County Planning Authority.  

 

15. The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied unless and until 

space has been laid out within the site in accordance with the approved plans 

for vehicles to be parked and for vehicles to turn so that they may enter and 

leave the site in forward gear. Thereafter the parking and turning areas shall 

be retained and maintained for their designated purposes.  

 

16 The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied unless and until 

a Car Parking Management Plan, to include details of: 

  

 (a) Allocation parking for vehicles of site personnel, residents, and visitors 

 (b) The reallocation of residents parking spaces once the allocated resident 

no longer keeps a car 

 (c) Allocation of parking bay(s) for car club space/shared transport vehicles 

and details of how this facility will be offered access by residents of the 

development and local residents 

 (d) Allocation of spaces provided with electric vehicle charging facilities 

  

 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 

Authority and thereafter the said approved plan shall be retained and 

maintained to satisfaction of the County Planning Authority.  

 

Limitations 

 

17. The height and scale of the proposed building shall not exceed that shown on 

Drawing Numbers 5210471-ATK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-02301 Rev P02 – Indicative 

Proposed Site Section dated 13 December 2023, 5210471-ATK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-

90202 Rev P02 – Indicative Proposed Site Elevations 1 of 2 dated 15 

December 2023 and 5210471-ATK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-90203 Rev P02 – Indicative 

Proposed Site Elevations 2 of 2 dated 15 December 2023 hereby approved.  

 

Dust Management  

 

18. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Dust 

Management Plan for the construction phase of the development shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The 

development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

Page 112

8



 

Construction Working Hours 

 

19. No construction activities shall take place on the site except between the 

hours of 08.00 and 18.00 Mondays to Fridays and 08.00 to 13.00 Saturdays. 

There shall be no working on Sundays, Bank, National or Public Holidays. 

 

Noise 

  

20. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted a 

Construction Noise Management Plan (CNMP) shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the County Planning Authority (CPA), taking into 

account the construction working hours set out in Condition 17. The CNMP 

should include (but not be limited to) noise limits at noise sensitive receptors, 

noise impact assessments, mitigation measures, monitoring procedures and 

complaints procedures.  

 

21. The Rating Level, Lar,Tr, of the noise emitted from all plant, equipment and 

machinery (including any kitchen extract etc), associated with the application 

site shall not exceed the existing representation background sound level at 

any time by more than +5dB(A) at the nearest noise sensitive receptors 

(residential or noise sensitive building). The assessment shall be conducted in 

accordance with the current version of British Standard (BS) 

4142:2014:A1:2019 ‘Methods for rating and assessing industrial and 

commercial sound’ 

  

 The existing representative LA90 background sound level shall be determined 

by measurement that shall be sufficient to characterise the environment. The 

representative level should be justified following guidance contained within the 

current version of BS 4142:2014:A1+2019 and agreed with the County 

Planning Authority (CPA).  

  

22. Prior to the commencement of the development, a noise assessment shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority (CPA), 

to show that noise levels within the proposed residential units and communal 

spaces achieve the following noise levels in line with BS8233. 

  

 •There should be at least one common external amenity area which is suitable 

for resting and relaxation, with a noise level of 55dB(A) 

 •The noise level in living rooms to not exceed 35dB(A) during the daytime 

 •The noise level in bedrooms to not exceed 30dB(A) during the daytime 

 •The noise level in bedrooms to not exceed 45dB(A) more than 10 times per 

night 

Page 113

8



  

 If it is necessary to keep windows closed to achieve the above sound levels 

then an appropriate ventilation system must be installed to provide adequate 

ventilation, and to avoid overheating.  

 

Trees 

  

23. No trees shall be removed except for those identified within the Arboricultural 

Appraisal and Impact Assessment and Method Statement Ref: 

SCC23642aia_ams Rev A dated 20 December 2023.  

 

24. The development shall proceed in accordance with the details, including tree 

protection fencing and construction exclusion zone, contained within the 

Arboricultural Appraisal and Impact Assessment and Method Statement Ref: 

SCC23642aia_ams Rev A dated 20 December 2023 and Drawing Numbered 

SCC23642-03 Rev A -Tree Protection Plan – Sheet 1 of 3 (Demolition Phase) 

dated 20 December 2023, Drawing Numbered SCC23642-03 Rev A -Tree 

Protection Plan - Sheet 2 of 3 (Construction Phase) dated 20 December 2023 

and Drawing Numbered SCC23642-03 Rev A -Tree Protection Plan - Sheet 3 

of 3 dated 20 December 2023.  

 

Ground Conditions 

 

25. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations set out in paragraph 6.4 of the Ground Investigation Report 

dated September 2023 (Report Reference: 5210471-ATK-XX-XX-RP-Y-

00012).  

 

Biodiversity and Habitat Management 

 

26. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a 

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. This Plan shall be 

prepared in accordance with the recommendations set out in the Updated 

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment dated 

March 2022, as supplemented/updated by the  Ecology Report dated 18 

August 2024 and include the following: 

  

 •Details of how retained habitats will be protected 

 •Details of mitigation measures for protected species during active works 

 •Details of a wildlife-sensitive lighting strategy for the proposals, including 

during the construction phase of the development 

  

Page 114

8



 The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 

construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

 

27. Within 6 months from the date of the approval of the landscaping ‘Reserved 

Matter’ application, a landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) 

shall be submitted to the County Planning Authority for approval in writing and 

thereafter implemented in accordance with the approved details.  The LEMP 

shall include:- 

  

  (a) detailed planting schedules for the habitats to be created within the site 

  (b) updated biodiversity net gain score based on the final landscaping and 

planting scheme  

  (c) management recommendations for the retention, enhanced and created 

hedgerows 

  (d) details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the 

monitoring plan 

  (e)specification and locations of bird, bat and invertebrate boxes (and other 

biodiversity features of relevance) 

  (f) detailed 30 year habitat creation and monitoring plan to ensure the delivery 

of biodiversity net gain on site 

  (g) annual maintenance scheme for trees and hedgerows 

    

 The approved details shall be incorporated into the development prior to the 

first occupation of any part of the development and permanently maintained 

thereafter.    

 

Resource Management Plan 

 

28. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted a Resource 

Management Plan (RMP)/details of measures to demonstrate the following 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 

Authority: 

  

 a. That waste generated during the construction of development is limited to 

the minimum quantity necessary. 

 b. Opportunities for re-use and for the recycling of construction residues and 

waste on site are maximised. 

 c. On-site facilities to manage the waste arising during the operation of the 

development of an appropriate type and scale have been considered as part 

of the development. 

 d. Integrated storage to facilitate reuse and recycling of waste is incorporated 

in the development. 

  

Page 115

8



 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 

details. 

  

Use Classes Restriction 

 

29. The extra care accommodation hereby permitted shall remain within Use 

Class C2 Residential Institutions in accordance with The Town and Country 

Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or any subsequent Order amending or 

replacing this Order, and shall remain as affordable housing for rent in 

accordance with the definition within the National Planning Policy Framework 

2023 Annex 2: Glossary, or any subsequent Government guidance. 

 

Reasons: 

 

1. To comply with Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 

amended by Section 51(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004. 

 

2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

3. To comply with Article 5 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Development Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-

enacting that Order) and Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 as amended by Section 51(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2004. 

 

4. To ensure that the development is carried out such that the risk of flooding is 

minimised, both in relation to the site and future occupiers and through the 

provision of compensatory storage of flood water, satisfactory 

storage/disposal of surface water and measures to prevent blockages to the 

existing culvert, the occurrence of flooding elsewhere, in accordance with 

National Planning Policy Framework 2023 paragraphs 173, 175 and 180; 

Policy CS10 of the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policy 

CCF2 of the Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019. 

 

5. Compliance with this Condition is required to ensure the design meets the 

national Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS and the final drainage 

design does not increase flood risk on or off site in accordance with National 

Planning Policy Framework 2023 paragraphs 173, 175 and 180; Policy CS10 

of the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policy CCF2 of the 

Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019. 

 

Page 116

8



6. To ensure the design meets the national Non-Statutory Technical Standards 

for SuDS and the final drainage design does not increase flood risk on or off 

site in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework 2023 paragraphs 

173, 175 and 180; Policy CS10 of the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 

2014 and Policy CCF2 of the Reigate and Banstead Development 

Management Plan 2019. 

 

7. To ensure the safety of people in the event of a flood event in accordance with 
National Planning Policy Framework Paragraph 173, Policy CS10 of the 
Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policy CCF2 of the Reigate 
and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019.  

 
8. To ensure that the design of this feature ensures that this route into the 

building is fully accessible to all users and is designed such that it does not 
unacceptably impede the flow of water in a flood event, in accordance with 
National Planning Policy Framework Paragraph 173, Policy CS10 of the 
Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policies DES1 and CCF2 of 
the Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019. 

 

9. Compliance with this Condition is required prior to the commencement of the 

development hereby permitted to ensure the public highway can continue to 

be used safely and without any unnecessary inconvenience during the 

construction phase of the development to ensure the development does not 

prejudice highway safety nor cause inconvenience to other highway users in 

accordance with National Planning Policy Framework 2023 paragraphs 108, 

114, 115, 116 and 194; Policy CS17 of the Reigate and Banstead Core 

Strategy 2014 and Policies DES1 and TAP1 of the Reigate and Banstead 

Development Management Plan 2019.  

 

10. To ensure the development does not prejudice highway safety, including in 

association with the nearby Carrington School, nor cause inconvenience to 

other highway users in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework 

2023 paragraphs 108, 114, 115, 116 and 194; Policy CS17 of the Reigate and 

Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policies DES1 and TAP1 of the Reigate 

and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019.  

 

11. To ensure the development does not prejudice highway safety nor cause 

inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with National Planning 

Policy Framework 2023 paragraphs 108, 114, 115, 116 and 194; Policy CS17 

of the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policies DES1 and 

TAP1 of the Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019.  

 

12. To ensure satisfactory completion of the development and to ensure that it 

does not prejudice highway safety nor cause inconvenience to other highway 

users in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework 2023 

Page 117

8



paragraphs 108, 114, 115, 116 and 194; Policy CS17 of the Reigate and 

Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policies DES1 and TAP1 of the Reigate 

and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019.  

 

13. To comply with the terms of the application, the Surrey County Council Local 

Transport Plan 4, Healthy Streets for Surrey design guidance, and Surrey 

County Council Parking Standards by ensuring that electric vehicle charging 

points are available to all users at the earliest opportunity in accordance with 

National Planning Policy Framework 2023 paragraphs 108, 112, 114, 116 and 

135; Policy CS17 of the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and 

Policies DES1 and TAP1 of the Reigate and Banstead Development 

Management Plan 2019.  

 

14. To comply with the terms of the Surrey County Council Local Transport Plan 4, 

Healthy Streets for Surrey design guidance, and Surrey County Council 

Parking Standards by ensuring that safe and secure parking for sustainable 

transport modes, with appropriate charging facilities, is made available to all 

users at the earliest opportunity in accordance with National Planning Policy 

Framework 2023 paragraphs 108, 112, 114, 116 and 135; Policy CS17 of the 

Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policies DES1 and TAP1 of 

the Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019.  

 

15. To ensure that the development does not prejudice highway safety or cause 

inconvenience to other highway users, in accordance with National Planning 

Policy Framework 2023 paragraphs 108, 112, 114, 116 and 135; Policy CS17 

of the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policies DES1 and 

TAP1 of the Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019.  

 

16. To ensure that the development does not prejudice highway safety or cause 

inconvenience to other highway users, in accordance with National Planning 

Policy Framework 2023 paragraphs 108, 112, 114, 116 and 135; Policy CS17 

of the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policies DES1 and 

TAP1 of the Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019.  

 

17. To ensure that the scale of the development respects the character and 

appearance of the area within which it is located, in accordance with Policy 

CS10 of the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 2014 and Policy DES1 of 

the Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 2019.  

 

18. Compliance with this Condition is required prior to the commencement of the 

development hereby permitted as the potential impact from dust arises during 

the construction of the development. In the interests of the residential amenity 

of neighbouring dwellings, suitable dust management measures need to be in 

Page 118

8



place at that time to ensure that the proposed development accords with 

Policies DES1 and DES8 of the Reigate and Banstead Development 

Management Plan 2019.  

 

19. In the interests of the residential amenities of neighbouring dwellings, in 

accordance with Policies DES1 and DES8 of the Reigate and Banstead 

Development Management Plan 2019. 

 

20. Compliance with this Condition is required prior to the commencement of the 

development hereby permitted as the potential impact from noise arises 

during the construction of the development. In the interests of the residential 

amenity of neighbouring dwellings, suitable noise management and mitigation 

measures need to be in place at that time to ensure that the proposed 

development accords with Policies DES1 and DES8 of the Reigate and 

Banstead Development Management Plan 2019.  

 

21. In the interests of the residential amenities of neighbouring dwellings, in 

accordance with Policy DES1 of the Reigate and Banstead Development 

Management Plan 2019.  

 

22. In the interests of the residential amenities of future occupiers of the 

development, in accordance with Policy DES1 of the Reigate and Banstead 

Development Management Plan 2019. The submission of these details for 

approval prior to commencement is required as noise mitigation measures will 

need to be incorporated into the design and construction of the development.  

 

23. To safeguard existing trees and landscape features and to ensure their 

contribution to the character of development and the character of the local 

area in accordance with Policy CS2 of the Reigate and Banstead Core 

Strategy 2014 and Policies DES1 and NHE3 of the Reigate and Banstead 

Development Management Plan 2019.  

 

24. To safeguard existing trees and landscape features and to ensure their 

contribution to the character of development and the character of the local 

area in accordance with Policy CS2 of the Reigate and Banstead Core 

Strategy 2014 and Policies DES1 and NHE3 of the Reigate and Banstead 

Development Management Plan 2019. 

 

25. To ensure satisfactory completion of the development, in accordance with 

Policy DES9 of the Reigate and Banstead Development Management Plan 

2019.  

 

Page 119

8



26. To enhance and protect habitats and biodiversity and in accordance with the 

National Planning Framework, Policy CS10 of the Reigate and Banstead Core 

Strategy 2014 and Policy NHE2 of the Reigate and Banstead Development 

Management Plan 2019. The submission of these details is required prior to 

the commencement of the development as details of the landscaping of the 

site are a reserved matter. The indicative landscaping information provided 

with the outline application has not been approved as it needs to be assessed 

in respect of the delivery of biodiversity requirements in connection with the 

development plan.  

 

27. To enhance and protect habitats and biodiversity and in accordance with the 

National Planning Framework, Policy CS10 of the Reigate and Banstead Core 

Strategy 2014 and Policy NHE2 of the Reigate and Banstead Development 

Management Plan 2019. 

 

28. To ensure the minimisation of waste and maximisation of recycling in 

accordance with Policy S4 of the Surrey Waste Local Plan 2020. This 

Condition is required prior to the commencement of the development as it 

relates to information required during the construction phase of the 

development. 

 

29. To ensure that the proposed development remains solely for the use intended 

and meets the definition of affordable housing in order to contribute to the 

Reigate and Banstead Borough and wider Surrey affordable housing need in 

accordance with National Planning Policy Framework 2023 paragraphs 66 

and 124; Policies CS14 and CS15 of the Reigate and Banstead Core Strategy 

Policies; and Policies DES6 and DES7 of the Reigate and Banstead 

Development Management Plan 2019. 

 

Informatives: 

 

1. In determining this application the County Planning Authority has worked 

positively and proactively with the applicant by: entering into pre-application 

discussions; assessing the proposals against relevant Development Plan 

policies and the National Planning Policy Framework including its associated 

planning practice guidance and European Regulations, providing feedback to 

the applicant where appropriate. Further, the County Planning Authority has: 

identified all material considerations; forwarded consultation responses to the 

applicant; considered representations from interested parties; liaised with 

consultees and the applicant to resolve identified issues and determined the 

application within the timeframe agreed with the applicant. Issues of concern 

have been raised with the applicant including flood risk mitigation and 

ecological issues and addressed through negotiation and acceptable 

Page 120

8



amendments to the proposals. The applicant has also been given advance 

sight of the draft planning conditions.This approach has been in accordance 

with the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2023. 

 

2. Attention is drawn to the requirements of Sections 7 and 8A of the Chronically 

Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 and to the Code of Practice for Access of 

the Disabled to Buildings (British Standards Institution Code of Practice BS 

8300:2009) or any prescribed document replacing that code. 

 

3. This approval relates only to the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 and must not be taken to imply or be construed as an approval 

under the Building Regulations 2000 or for the purposes of any other statutory 

provision whatsoever. 

 

4. The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, 

as amended (Section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the 

nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use or is being built. Planning 

consent for a development does not provide a defence against prosecution 

under this Act. Trees and scrub are likely to contain nesting birds between 1 

March and 31 August inclusive. Trees and scrub are present on the 

application site and are assumed to contain nesting birds between the above 

dates, unless a recent survey has been undertaken by a competent ecologist 

to assess the nesting bird activity during this period and shown it is absolutely 

certain that nesting birds are not present. 

 

5. The applicants are advised that badgers may be present on site. Badgers and 

their setts are protected under the Protection of Badgers Act 1992. It is a 

criminal offence to kill, injure or take badgers or to interfere with a badger sett. 

Should a sett be found on site during construction, work should stop 

immediately and Natural England should be contacted. During site preparation 

works, all open trenches, pits and excavations shall be covered outside 

working hours so that any transiting fauna that falls into the earthworks can 

escape. 

 

6. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the advice as set out in comments 

received from Thames Water dated 5 July 2024 including those regarding the 

proximity of the site to a strategic sewer.  

 

7. If proposed works affect an Ordinary Watercourse, Surrey County Council as 

the Lead Local Flood Authority should be contacted to obtain prior written 

Consent. More details are available on the Council’s website.  

 

Page 121

8



8. If proposed works result in infiltration of surface water to ground within a 

Source Protection Zone the Environment Agency will require proof of surface 

water treatment to achieve water quality standards. Sub ground structures 

should be designed so they do not have an adverse effect on groundwater. 

 

9. It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure that the electricity supply is 

sufficient to meet future demands and that any power balancing technology is 

in place if required. Electric Vehicle Charging Points shall be provided in 

accordance with the Surrey County Council Vehicular, Cycle and Electric 

Vehicle Parking Guidance for New Development 2023.  

 

10. The applicant is expected to ensure the safe operation of all construction 

traffic to prevent unnecessary disturbance, obstruction and inconvenience to 

other highway users. Care should be taken to ensure that the waiting, parking, 

loading and unloading of construction vehicles does not hinder the free flow of 

any carriageway, footway, bridleway, footpath, cycle route, right of way or 

private driveway or entrance. The developer is also expected to require their 

contractors to sign up to the ‘Considerate Constructors Scheme’ Code of 

Practice (www.ccscheme.org.uk) and to follow this throughout the period of 

construction within the site, and within adjacent areas such as on the 

adjoining public highway and other areas of public realm.  

 

11. It is the responsibility of the developer to provide e-bike charging points with 

socket timers to prevent them constantly drawing a current over night or for 

longer than required. Signage should be considered regarding damaged or 

shock impacted batteries, indicating that these should not be used/charged. 

The design of communal bike areas should consider fire spread and there 

should be detection in areas where charging takes place. With regard to an e-

bike socket in a domestic dwelling, the residence should have detection, and 

an official e-bike charger should be used. Guidance on detection can be found 

in BS 5839-6 for fire detection and fire alarm systems in both new and existing 

domestic premises and BS 5839-1 the code of practice for designing, 

installing, commissioning and maintaining fire detection and alarm systems in 

non-domestic buildings.  

 

12. The developer is reminded that it is an offence to allow materials to be carried 

from the site and deposited on the highway from uncleaned wheels or badly 

loaded vehicles. The Highway Authority will seek, wherever possible, to 

recover any expenses incurred in clearing, cleaning or repairing highway 

surfaces and prosecutes persistent offenders (Highways Act Sections 131, 

148, 149).  

 

Page 122

8



13. Section 59 of the Highways Act permits the Highway Authority to charge 

developers for damage caused by excessive weight and movements of 

vehicles to and from a site. The Highway Authority will pass on the cost of any 

excess repairs compared to normal maintenance costs to the 

applicant/organisation responsible for the damage.  

 

14. Details submitted pursuant to Condition 24 should include details of how 

lighting will be installed to minimize impacts to nocturnal wildlife within 

retained habitats with value for commuting and foraging bats. This should 

include any woodland and tree lines, with particular attention to the retained 

trees with bat suitability, in order to minimise disturbance to bats (see Table 28 

of the Ecology Report dated 19 August 2024).   These details should be 

accordance with the Institution of Lighting Engineers and Bat Conservation 

Trust Bats and Artificial Lighting at Night Guidance Note 08/23 2023. 

 

15. The Reserved Matters required to be submitted pursuant to Condition 3 on 

this permission shall include details of all external lighting.   

 

16. The applicant is requested when considering the finished design to give 

careful consideration to the siting of windows and balconies on the southern 

elevation of the building (fronting Noke Drive), to include the incorporation of 

design features such as obscure glazing to balcony screens, to ensure that 

maximum levels of privacy are afforded to occupiers of neighbouring 

properties and to future occupiers of the development.  

  

 

Contact Charlotte Parker 

Tel. no. 020 8541 9897 

Background papers 

The deposited application documents and plans, including those amending or 

clarifying the proposal, and responses to consultations and representations received, 

as referred to in the report and included in the application file.   

For this application, the deposited application documents and plans, are available to 

view on our online register. The representations received are publicly available to 

view on the district/borough planning register.  

The Reigate & Banstead Borough Council planning register entry for this application 

can be found under application reference RE24/00028/CON. 

The following were also referred to in the preparation of this report:  

Page 123

8

http://planning.surreycc.gov.uk/Planning/Display/


Government Guidance  

National Planning Policy Framework  

Planning Practice Guidance 

The Development Plan  

Surrey Waste Local Plan 2020 

Surrey Minerals Plan Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD) 2011 

Surrey Minerals Plan Primary Aggregates Development Plan Document (DPD) 2011 

Surrey Minerals Plan Site Restoration Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

2011 

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-

waste/minerals-core-strategy-development-plan/aggregates-recycling-joint-

development-plan 

Reigate and Banstead Local Plan: Core Strategy 2014  
 
Reigate and Banstead Local Plan: Development Management Plan 2019  

 

Other Documents 

Local Character and Distinctiveness Design Guide SPD 2021  

Affordable Housing SPD 2020  

Climate Change and Sustainable Construction SPD 2021   

 

 

Page 124

8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/waste-plan
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/81439/Adopted-Core-Strategy-Development-Plan-Document.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/minerals-core-strategy-development-plan/adopted-primary-aggregates-development-plan
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/mineral-site-restoration/mineral-site/restoration-guidance
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/mineral-site-restoration/mineral-site/restoration-guidance
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/minerals-core-strategy-development-plan/aggregates-recycling-joint-development-plan
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/minerals-core-strategy-development-plan/aggregates-recycling-joint-development-plan
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/minerals-core-strategy-development-plan/aggregates-recycling-joint-development-plan
https://www.reigate-banstead.gov.uk/info/20271/local_plan/1101/current_local_plan_development_plan/2
https://www.reigate-banstead.gov.uk/info/20271/local_plan/1101/current_local_plan_development_plan/3
https://www.reigate-banstead.gov.uk/info/20088/planning_policy/1103/supplementary_planning_documents_and_supplementary_planning_guidance/2
https://www.reigate-banstead.gov.uk/info/20088/planning_policy/1103/supplementary_planning_documents_and_supplementary_planning_guidance/2
https://www.reigate-banstead.gov.uk/info/20088/planning_policy/1103/supplementary_planning_documents_and_supplementary_planning_guidance/2


 

 

Page 125

8



This page is intentionally left blank



Noke

Drive

Noke Drive

Greensand Road

Cavendish GardensVenner Close

Knights Place

St A
nne

s Drive

Knights PlaceRedstone Hill

Clyde Close

St Annes Rise
Clyde Close

Caxton Rise

St
An

ne
s D

r iv e

Ca
ve

nd
ish

Ro
ad

Noke Drive

Application
site

Created: 02/07/2024

Ref No:  SCC_Ref_2023-0227

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 OS AC0000813791. Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions.

Scale: 1:1,860¯ 0 1,300650 Metres

Note: This plan is for guidance only

Proposal

Redhill East

Application ref:

Location: Site of Former Colebrook and Spectrum Noke Day Centres, Noke Drive, Redhill,
Surrey RH1 1PT

Electoral divisions:
RE24/00028/CON

Demolition of existing buildings and outline
application for the erection of part 1, 4, 5 and
6 storey building for extra care
accommodation, comprising self-contained
apartments, staff and communal facilities,
and associated parking with access from St
Annes Drive and Noke Drive.  Appearance
and landscaping reserved.

Page 127

8



This page is intentionally left blank



2024 Aerial Photos
Application Number : RE24/00028/CON

Aerial 1: Surrounding area

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 129

8



2024 Aerial Photos
Application Number : RE24/00028/CON

Aerial 2: Application site

All boundaries are approximate

Application Site Area

P
age 130

8



2024 Aerial Photos
Application Number : RE24/00028/CON

Aerial 2: Application site

All boundaries are approximate

Application Site Area

Colebrook Day 
Centre

Colebrook Centre

P
age 131

8



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING
	7 Surrey County Council Proposal GU24/CON/00010 - Land at St Paul's C of E Infant School, The Cardinals, Tongham, Surrey GU10 1EF
	StPaulsCofE-Plan1
	StPaulsCofE-Aerials

	8 Surrey County Council Proposal RE24/00028/CON - Site of Former Colebrook and Spectrum Noke Day Centres, Noke Drive, Redhill, Surrey RH1 1PT
	FormerColebrook-Plan1
	FormerColebrook-Aerials


